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Ancestors appreciating healthcare in ancient times recognised
“Jing, Shen and Qi” as the three treasures of human body,
and regarded them as important indicators of health or
disease.

“Jing, Shen and Qi” are interrelated and interdependent.
Sufficient amount of Jing, Shen and Qi is the guarantee of
human health, while deficiency of the same is the cause of
physical weakness of human. Replenishment of Qi,
consolidation of Jing and repose for Shen are the foundation
of healthcare, when healthcare focuses on nurturing these
three things regardless of the methods.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
KR

In 1669, Beijing Tong Ren Tang was founded HREICER2ETETEZENEFE
during the eighth year of Emperor Kangxi’'s &2 1669 &£ (FHERNE) B 1723
reign during the Qing Dynasty. Starting in 1723,  &pgeait=mzE » BFE K2 188 &F o &
Beijing Tong Ren Tang exclusively provided 355 EWEAFAERT  BRECE ABKER
pears, spanming the reigns of sight perors, | AESUERSTREAT - ARMRT
}I/'hrou,ghpout hiztory, Bzijing To?]g Re: Tang E\&;ﬁ#@j” E’QE%/JII :igt}jz ‘D?é'@;A\E Dﬁ
has always been nationally renowned in the ’“‘ﬁf?qj EIJE ég‘ﬁi; ZE’T’*“‘T REBRET
Chinese medicinal industry. Over 355 years of BMmAEE - REREOBRERD  HEML
dedication to quality medicinal products, we | R B4 - BRESR - TEIFHE - BYE
have continuously upheld our longstanding & J ME&EAS - WEAEAELE -
commitment to “Never cut corners on labour

and quality, no matter how complex the B 2 T & &2

process or how costly the materials”. Our I [HEmzE | EXEH
self-discipline is also seen from our motto: A EE A o BB ERER B T

“Dedication comes from the heart in the steps BB EHEIRS

.that no one else c:?m see”. We are metl.culous LA [BEEE )
in our manufacturing process and strive for

excellence, using superior crude materials BB EHBLI AT -
’ = — ks, R £ =]
and meticulous technical skill. Only the most :Z{_E 1R AE R R 1% R IR A T
effective, unique formulas are passed down - [
KRB EEEENRE -

and refined into our famed products.

“Established as the sole Chinese medicine  Ei#E BR 7 ([E1-ZE : BERMEERE)
provider to royal families, Tong Ren Tang
is an enduring national brand that has
overcome various vicissitudes — from
recessions to enemy invasions to the
establishment of the People’s Republic of
China. Tong Ren Tang is a truly a historical
symbol of quality and credibility.”

Quote from “Tong Ren Tang: Inheritance and
Development” by Bian Dong Zi
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TONG REN TANG AT A GLANCE IN 2023 .

20234 M=% — 58

MARCH =H

¢ Held the 30th anniversary of Beijing Tong Ren
Tang’s international development and
conference for 10th listing anniversary of
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine
Company Limited in 2023
BRI FARCEHRCER=TBFEILREC
EFZEGRAA LT HAFHE2023

APRILMH

e Opened one retail outlet in Tseung Kwan O,
Hong Kong

REBEERER -—KETELKR

JUNE #H

e Participated in “hometown market in
celebration of the 26th anniversary of the
establishment of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region”, showing cultural
heritage of Beijing Tong Ren Tang’s royal
medicine, intangible cultural assets and
high-quality product

SHEHEREIEQNIERE -—BERNEEEEAE
B2 AFRBIMEZFE|EFSH NZBER
TEREERETNELCEME - FEEHERK
BHOREmENER

e Awarded “Quam IR Awards 2022 —
Sustainable Development Category — Gold”

REEEIUREERBERR2022TFEERRE
— &R KA

AUGUST \H

e As part of the “Tong Ren Tang’s King of
Medicine Festival” event, community
exhibitions were arranged to showcase the
history spanning over 350 years and corporate
development of Tong Ren Tang, which spread
the brand to reach various communities and
introduce the history and culture of royal
medicine to the public, raising awareness of
the brand of Tong Ren Tang
RIBCEEIH | FHZHLERE RHT
EI-E3B0ZFREENCELRE  EnEEE
BB UHEERLR I CBEBABRIAELCE
i e

e |n order to support the “2023 Redox Biology
and Medicine Meeting” organized by Xiamen
University, Tong Ren Tang showcased a wide
range of prodtlcts, including the first Chinese
anti-aging products, Baoling and Xianling
series
REBEEPIRBEBEH 2023 FEALERE
VSBRBEXRE | A CERRTAREER
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SEPTEMBER LA

¢ Participated in the 12th World Congress of
Microcirculation and set up an exhibition
for Tong Ren Tang

RE

OCTOBER t H

e Opening ceremony of “tdhe 8th Show Love
and Care to Stroke Prevention” and set up
a TCM and wellness culture exhibition at
Ngong Ping Village
[ENERCHEERTE|MER  E5TH
SREPBEBLEE

e Tong Ren Tang as the title sponsor to
support the Daxing marathon in Beijing

E{-E 8 A BB R RH K EE R AER

e Coorganized with Sik Sik Yuen, a century-
old charity in Hong Kong, and launched
“the 8th Show Love and Care to Stroke
Prevention”

Eﬁﬁlﬁﬁiﬂil?Fm@@LAfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%
NERCEZRHREL | .

NOVEMBER 1““73 i
e For the first time part|0|pat|ng as an |
exporter at “the 6th China Internatlonal

SHRET - EHAMBRATAURIECE

Import Expo”, Tong Ren Tang showcased "

its star-products manufactured in Hong
Kong and.its first Chinese anti- aglng

.
’

product; and demonstrated its 7 * 4 5

determlnatlon and‘continuous explorathn
in areas such as technolog,lcal mnovgtlon
R&D, and TCM culture :
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
A 5 ik 22

GRIGEGEIGEGEIGRGEIGREGEIGRIGEIGRIGEIGRIGEIGRIGEGRIGRGEIGRGEIGRIGRIGRIGEIGRIGEIGRIGEIGRIGEIGRIGEGRIGEIGRIGREGRIGEGRIGRGERIGRIGEIGRIGE
Profit Attributable To

Revenue Gross Profit Profit for the Year Owners of the Company
WA B AR B . /NGE: 2PN Sy R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FHT FHT
1,800,000 1,731,005 1,200,000 1,110,623 1150140 700,000 ’ 691,293 700,000

1,078,421

1,600,000 1,513,873
1,000,000 Lo 600,000 600,000
1,400,000 1,524,945 590,587
500,000 500,000
1,200,000 1,084,280 800,000
1,000,000 oot &J 400,000 400,000
761,051 *] 600,000
800,000 43081 300,000 AR 300,000
400,000 ¥ 294,698 287,124
600,000 .’/ 200,000 200,000
400,000 =
200,000 100,000 100,000 ‘.
200000 = y -
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
The following is a summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for UTHEAEEBEITTEMREENE AHESUREEHREERE -

the past ten financial years.
For the years ended 31 December EZ 12 B 31 HIEFE

2023 HK$'000 2022 HK$’000 2021 HK$’000 2020 HK$’'000 2019 HK$'000 2018 HK$'000 2017 HK$'000 2016 HK$'000 2015 HK$’000 2014 HK$’000
2023F THxT 2022F FiET 202145 T8 2020F T 20195 Tz 2018F T 20174 F#x 20165F T 2015%F T8 2014F TR
Revenue WA 1,524,945 1,731,095 1,556,158 1,315,346 1,432,632 1,513,873 1,265,994 1,084,280 970,477 761,051
Gross profit X 1,047,243 1,150,140 1,119,623 952,903 1,012,796 1,078,421 916,433 795,087 680,877 543,031
Profit before income tax B A5 A1 K8 687,790 825,962 778,391 685,895 689,222 720,898 610,966 532,270 456,614 355,219
Profit for the year FEFH 590,587 691,293 651,543 567,881 576,852 601,323 505,512 439,880 374,578 294,698
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 7~ A B)#H A FE(LFE 540,393 645,875 607,838 542,456 556,118 580,720 489,967 420,315 354,249 287,124
Earnings per share (HK$) B8R ZF (B7) 0.65 0.77 0.73 0.65 0.66 0.69 0.59 0.50 0.42 0.35
Dividend per share (HK$) SRR E (&)
Final KA 0.33 0.33 0.28 0.24 0.23 0.23 0.19 0.16 0.13 0.10
Special interim 455 A - 0.25 - - 0.72 - - - = =
2023 HK$’000 2022 HK$'000 2021 HK$'000 2020 HK$'000 2019 HK$’000 2018 HK$'000 2017 HK$°000 2016 HK$'000 2015 HK$’000 2014 HK$000
2023F T 20226 FHT 20214 FiBr 20206 T8 2019F T8 2018%F T8 20176 T8 20165 T8 20155 T8 20145 TiBxn
Non-current assets I RBEE 590,123 542,208 558,171 484,022 494,506 424,621 405,768 398,176 372,795 312,890
Current assets RBENEE 3,844,322 3,683,071 3,276,811 2,932,947 2,643,815 2,746,464 2,354,887 1,956,646 1,654,190 1,319,651
Total assets &= 4,434,445 4,225,279 3,834,982 3,416,969 3,138,321 3,171,085 2,760,655 2,354,822 2,026,985 1,632,541
Non-current liabilities JERENE & 83,837 67,912 82,421 70,843 65,604 5,927 5,024 4,694 5,352 4,675
Current liabilities ;R E1& & 329,918 418,574 213,057 216,616 307,081 140,931 147,454 122,891 112,718 91,005
Total liabilities & & 413,755 486,486 295,478 287,459 372,685 146,858 152,478 127,585 118,070 95,680
Net assets EEFE 4,020,690 3,738,793 3,539,504 3,129,510 2,765,636 3,024,227 2,608,177 2,227,237 1,908,915 1,536,861
Financial Metrics B {512
Gross profit margin £ % 68.7% 66.4% 71.9% 72.4% 70.7% 71.2% 72.4% 73.3% 70.2% 71.4%
Net profit margin #iF|= 38.7% 39.9% 41.9% 43.2% 40.3% 39.7% 39.9% 40.6% 38.6% 38.7%
Current ratio 8Lt Z 11.7 8.8 15.4 13.5 8.6 19.5 16.0 15.9 14.7 14.5
Return on equity B&7<[E 3k 3 14.7% 18.5% 18.4% 18.1% 20.9% 19.9% 19.4% 19.8% 19.6% 19.2%
Return on assets EEE#H=E 13.3% 16.4% 17.0% 16.6% 18.4% 19.0% 18.3% 18.7% 18.5% 18.1%
Dividend payout ratio™ JJk 2 kb 20 51.1% 42.8% 38.6% 37.0% 34.6% 33.2% 32.5% 31.9% 30.7% 29.2%
Note: There are changes in accounting policies in 2019 which the Group has elected to apply without restating comparative figures as Misk : REBR2019FEHTEHBEREE W IRBAHABYBRELBAF TREFZTHRLLE
permitted by the relevant financial reporting standards. i o
Ul Exclude special interim dividend “) TEEFRFHRE

6 Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023 TtRECEREERLAT —SE=ZFFFK 7



“Jing” is the basic substance for physical growth, development and fertility of human, and is attributed to

kidneys, from the perspective of Chinese herbalists, as kidneys control water, receive and store Jing from all X »

the internal organs, as stated in The Yellow Emperor’s Classic of Medicine (75 AL ). It is also said in the
book that kidneys, with storage as their key function, are the base for storage where Jing resides. Besides, Jing

is the fundamental element of life, as “humans were Jing before their birth”, and then bodily tissues such as
brain, marrow, bones, tendons, veins, skin, flesh and hair gradually grow. Therefore, kidneys are called “the
foundation of innate health”. After birth, humans rely on food and beverage for nutrients. This depends on
the effects of spleen and stomach, so spleen and stomach are called “the foundation of acquired health”.
Clinically, it is believed that humans may recuperate by means of acquired health if they are innate deficient.

Since the main function of kidneys is storing Jing, the above symptoms of innate deficiencies are generally >v >>v<< NV >>v<(
referred to as kidney deficiency, which is mainly treated by way of replenishing kidney. N //\ N
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g E:JT %’%‘ m R ﬁaﬁ “Qi” is the most elementary substance of human
BA f(' &2 A E body composed of the essential Qi from kidneys, the
= o 5 B gas generated from absorption and transformation of
= - fF R A
w m & A water and food by spleen and stomach and the fresh
£ bR | air inhaled into the lungs. The use of Qi can be
K] %% ] E = divided into five major aspects: promoting, warming,
% 'T\T ;ﬁﬁ ZE Eifl defending, controlling and Qi transformation inside
= b human body. It involves life activities such as
5] ® oL 7 & breathing, metabolism, blood circulation, discharge
-&, i% Ejié i%é E% of body fluids and resistance.
;—Jf TEE % Eﬁg 7'_?“ A scientific and reasonable diet is an important part
& i_é_g , o B of replenishing Qi, when herbal tonics can also be
p:} a8 3 g OB applied like supplements on the basis of tailor-made
% ik éﬁc ?}’J'E ﬂq% health diet.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Slipping through the frost,

you may see spring blossoms at dawn.
Spring will not be far away,

after chilly winter days.
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In 2023, we were staggering forwards amid difficulties arising from the turbulent, diverging and ever-changing world
economy. The intertwining of various factors such as the prolongation of local geopolitical conflicts, sustainably high
inflation, the emergence of residual defects from interest rate hikes under a background with high interest rate, increasing
financial fragility and intensified extreme weather has given rise to the huge challenges faced by the countries on economic
recovery and growth, where global investment, consumption as well as import and export trades are significantly
weakened.

In face of the severe pressure on global economic recovery and on the continued downward economy, the global desire
for unity and cooperation has not yet changed, hope for peaceful development has not changed, confidence of humans in
escaping from the dread together for development has not changed. These have acted as stabilizers and ballasts for the
Group to resolutely counter with emergencies of all kinds and to maintain the overall stability of the Group.

SETTING SAIL ON NEW JOURNEY TO EXPLORE NEW FUTURE

During the Year, the Group actively identified market opportunities and anchored new strategic directions of implementing
strategies focusing on specific targets and their demands. By integrating internal and external advantages and resources,
we continue to explore the market demand from Chinese ethnic groups overseas for Chinese medicine products and
services, changing its direction from looking for efficiency from scale to seeking improvement in targets. Meanwhile, the
Group deeply understands the overall situation of the Southeast Asian markets and has regularly innovated its application
scenarios in Asia, in order to constantly accumulate new momentum for future growth. Besides, the Group is eager to
materialize the strategy for major product varieties and is searching for a new starting point from the supply side. Through
the upgrade and new generations of products and the constant increase in investment on research and development, our
product line has been further enriched for satisfying and developing demands. While providing more options for
consumers, it has greatly enhanced the ability of the Group to withstand economic risks and created more possibilities for
future growth.

12 Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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ADHERING TO FIRST DREAM UNDER STEADY AND SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

No matter how the external environment has changed, Tong Ren Tang always embraces its first dream. Upholding our
principals of preserving tranquility and wellness as well as being benevolent and virtuous, we demonstrate our hearts and
abilities in terms of integrity, compliance and charity to solidly strengthen the foundation of the Group’s high-quality
development. In maintaining steady growth, the continuous uplift of governance level and the creation of a wonderful
image of social charity by the Group have allowed us to enlist additional support, care and encouragement in the Chinese
medicine industry. Such positive energies derived from the society will definitely safeguard Tong Ren Tang, a time-honored
brand, enabling the Group to further progress steadily under international market competition.

PROSPECT

In the medium to long term, the global demand for Chinese medicine continues to increase due to factors such as
population aging, changes in lifestyle, and environmental pollution, which have contributed to the growing prevalence of
issues such as chronic diseases and suboptimal health conditions. This trend is further fuelled by the rising awareness of
health and improvement in living standards. Meanwhile, the Chinese government has shown strong support and
implemented a series of policies and measures to promote the development of the Chinese medicine industry, creating a
favourable foundation for sustained growth in the Chinese medicine sector. Under this background and as a leading
enterprise in the industry, Tong Ren Tang is well-positioned to capitalize on these broad development opportunities.

Moving forward, the Group will actively adjust its business model and implement a dual-driven strategy. It will
enthusiastically establish new retail outlets in Hong Kong and other market, while expanding its product registration and
sales channels internationally. The Group will also focus on revitalizing the owned product sales in Mainland China and
diversifying its sales channels to achieve sustainable and substantial transformative growth. Meanwhile, the Group will
pursue external growth through measures such as strategic investments, mergers, acquisitions, and attracting partnerships
with high-quality collaborators. Furthermore, the Group will continue to explore new opportunities beyond its current
business scope, and pave the way for the creation of innovative engines for business growth by creating a diversified
business model. With a strong emphasis on market feedback and the trust of investors, Tong Ren Tang is committed to
introducing Chinese healthcare solutions to the world. The Group endeavours to constantly expand the horizons of human
health, with the goal of establishing itself as a worldwide frontrunner in the realm of Chinese medicine and macro-health.
By undertaking these initiatives, it aims to make valuable contributions to the overall welfare of individuals worldwide as
well as to the global healthcare.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my highest respect to all employees for their loyalty,
selflessness, passion, dedication and hard work, and to all the fellowmen who have been working hard on the front line of
Tong Ren Tang’s Chinese medicine innovation and development. | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, business partners and local governments who have stood by Tong Ren Tang’s
internationalization progress.

GU HAI OU
Chairman
Hong Kong, 14 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B BRI v S g e

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

Since its establishment in 1669, Tong Ren Tang has upheld the corporate spirit of “Nurturing kindness and virtue,
Preserving tranquility and wellness”. With a history of 355 years, it embraces the vision of “Creating health and sharing with
the world”. The Group has gained entry into the international market, aiming to promote and elevate the distinctive field of
Chinese Medicine and the wellness principles in China. Throughout its long history, the Group has been dedicated to
pursuit of global health sharing. With a focus on innovation, the Group embraces new opportunities and establishes novel
platforms to actively contribute to the global health-sharing initiative by harnessing the strength of Chinese Medicine for
the global health community and advancing the world’s research in the life sciences for the internationalization of Chinese
medicine, a promising prospect.

In 2023, the macroeconomic environment worldwide remains complex. Amidst the challenges posed by factors like high
interest rates and geopolitical tensions, all economies have been subject to varying degrees of impact. China confronts
challenges head-on and demonstrates resilience as it actively pursues high-quality development, leading to a noticeable
improvement in the overall performance of the national economy. In the face of this complex international situation and
economic environment, the Group has surmounted the adverse effects resulting from a range of unfavourable
circumstances. The Group adheres to a steady and progressive business strategy and remains committed to prioritizing
the interests of shareholders. The Group strictly controls product quality, optimizes business distribution, and reinforces
risk management and brand protection, thereby fortify the development foundation with resolute strength.

This Year, the Group achieved revenues of HK$1,524.9 million (2022: HK$1,731.1 million), a year-on-year decrease of
11.9%; achieved net profit of HK$590.6 million (2022: HK$691.3 million), a year-on-year decrease of 14.6%; owner’s
profits reached HK$540.4 million (2022: HK$645.9 million), a year-on-year decrease of 16.3%; and earnings per share were
HK$0.65 (2022: HK$0.77), an decrease of HK$0.12. The Board recommends a final dividend of HK$0.33 per share (2022:
HK$0.33).

75 [l g
LA

E{—EH1669FAIN » RIFIEMBE  BEBEINDERLY  FELIG5FHER LA
ERE 2RAZIRBEES  WREBTSHAMN  BTEBENTEESNELED
BBAK  REUR  AEEEBREE2REREAZTNEEER LA ERNHE 58
TEHTE  THEEERAHESRBNHAR U HPBEERLCEFNSHER - St
RELEREHEREMTEPE I HE -

2023F HRARBLKBHLBMAERE  EoBRE HMEBARBERERZREZT &
BERYZITEARENSZL - EEEKS  DEML BREELABEARNG S48
REEHE M LNE BEHERNBERIEF2ELERE  AEERREERMRZE
BHEEFE REBREENEERE  BEURRNAEEZS  BEEREGE B
(¥¥mE RRABEENRERAE  RREERSAFTHIZEE-

AE AEBMEBRKRA1,5249FE BT (2022F 11,7311 BEBT) » AL THE11.9% ;
B FFME590.6 BEBIT (20224 : 691.3FE BT ' FALL T 14.6% ; HEH AEIEFE
BIR5404 5B ET (2022F 1 645.9F BB ) AL TH16.3% ; ERABFA0.658TT
(2022%F : 0.77870) > EILLTKO0.12B T ESTEEBRSKREARESR0.338 T (2022
£ :0.33%7) °

SEEEEEHEFEEFREFREFESESEEFREFRFEFGREESESEFRERFREFREEFGEGREEREFREFRFGEREEGEEREFREFRFREEGEGEEREREREREEEEEEE R EE

RETAIL NETWORK®
FHEMAKO

a Australia A FI 52

© 5runei s

0 Cambodia I3

e Canada fIEX

@ Hong Kong &8

e Macao £

e Malaysia 55 3R 4 28

e New Zealand 3774 3
o Singapore 7N

a Sweden ¥ £

© Thailand =&

@ The Netherlands #
© The United Arab Emirates FIB# 2
o United States Bl

™ Represents number of retail outlets in
each country/region

) RENEBERR HENT

ERmBE

16 Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023

REVENUE BY COUNTRY/REGION IN 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HONG KONG MARKET

In 2023, Hong Kong gradually overcame the impact of the pandemic, but high interest rates in the U.S. suppressed market
liquidity, combined with geopolitical issues as well as other factors, making it difficult for Hong Kong, as a small external
economy, to thrive independently. As a result, the overall economic recovery in Hong Kong was slow. However, with the
introduction of different policies by the Hong Kong government and the aspiration on gradual effects from various
measures, the economic development has gained momentum, and leveraging the advantage of “Backed by the
Motherland, Connecting the World”, coupled with the global high-interest environment beginning to stabilize, the business
environment in Hong Kong is gradually improving. The advance estimates released by the Census and Statistics
Department of the HKSAR reveal a year-on-year growth of 3.2% in Hong Kong’s gross domestic product for 2023 as a
whole, which demonstrates the magnificent resilience and substantial potential of Hong Kong’s economy. While the overall
economic recovery in Hong Kong was slow this Year, the Group has steadily promoted its major variety strategy, achieving
a certain level of sales growth in sales in the Hong Kong market. This Year, the revenue in the Hong Kong market was
HK$915.3 million (2022: HK$826.0 million), a year-on-year growth of 10.8%, with same-store revenue growth reaching
127.1%. This Year, there were 27 retail outlets in Hong Kong, with a net increase of 2 outlets from the previous year.

NON-HONG KONG MARKETS

The Group’s business network covers major countries and regions in Asia, Oceania, North America, and Europe. This Year,
the global distribution is undergoing transformation and reorganization, with some emerging markets facing challenges of low
growth and high-interest rates. The continued interest rate hikes in the past have had an impact on related economic
activities, coupled with frequent geopolitical conflicts, resulting in some uncertainties in the business environment. Against
this backdrop, the Group actively explores new ways to modernize Chinese medicine services. Through taking the “culture-
first approach in introducing medicine through treatments” model of Tong Ren Tang, the Group expands its presence
outward. In the ever-changing economic environment, with high-quality products, the Group has expanded its markets
worldwide to achieve stable development in Overseas markets. This Year, the Group maintains 48 retail outlets Overseas. The
revenue from Overseas markets for the Group was HK$480.3 million (2022: HK$471.6 million), a year-on-year increase of
1.8%, with same-store revenue growth reaching 4.1%.

In terms of the Mainland China market, with the comprehensive adjustment on pandemic prevention and control measures in
Mainland China in 2023, the market was full of aspirations for its economy. Yet, despite the general improvement in the
economy, the external environment has become increasingly complex, severe, and uncertain. This has presented some
difficulties and challenges for economic development, as consumer willingness to spend remained cautious. As a result, the
economy has not experienced a significant rebound. As the actual market situation and demand after the pandemic was
different from expectation to a certain extent, some distributors in Mainland China were still digesting their inventories of the
Sporoderm-broken Ganoderma Lucidum Spores Powder of the Group during the Year, which had affected the Group’s sales
revenue in Mainland China. This Year’s revenue in the Mainland China market reached HK$129.3 million (2022: HK$433.5
million), a decrease of 70.2% compared to the previous year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRODUCTION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

This Year, the Group continued to focus on its core business, placing emphasis on production quality management and
technological innovation, strengthening variety development and coordinated planning, enhancing talent cultivation, and
improved production efficiency to reinforce a solid foundation for further optimization of the Group’s reserves on variety
resources and industrial capacity.

The Group’s production and R&D base in Tai Po, Hong Kong, holds Hong Kong Chinese patent medicine GMP (Good
Manufacturing Practice) certification, international standard 1ISO22000 certification, and HACCP (Hazard Analysis and
Critical Control Points) certification. It is committed to establishing a quality control system throughout the entire process
from project initiation, R&D, raw material procurement to production and supply to provide comprehensive assurance for
producing high-quality products.

This Year, the production capacity of varieties such as Angong Niuhuang Wan (ZE4 &%), GLSPC (HEEX HFHEE),
Ultra Fine Pearl Powder (141 Bk4%), and Lingzhi Vitality Capsules (& = 44E B %) has been significantly increased, fully
meeting market demand. In terms of technological innovation, Jinshui Liujun Jian granules (& 7k /<& RIZA) and Lingzhi
turmeric compound blood-supplementing and nerve-calming capsules (82 Z &8 7775 M % 1#B %) have been approved
for registration as proprietary Chinese medicine, further enriching the Company’s variety resources.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to align with the evolving trends in the field of macro-health and actively pursue
new product development to cater to the widespread market demand for regulating human body functions and preventing
diseases. Additionally, the Group will continue to strengthen the development of independent intellectual property rights,
including invention patents, new utility model designs, copyrights, and publications, with a particular emphasis on the core
product lines. While expanding Tong Ren Tang’s presence in overseas markets, the Group will concurrently build a robust
portfolio of independent intellectual property rights and explore global patent registration, utilizing international intellectual
property rules to protect and enrich the core value of Tong Ren Tang products. As of 31 December 2023, the cumulative
number of authorized patents reached 61 (including Mainland China and Hong Kong patents), with 6 PCT international
applications submitted, setting up a good protective barrier for Tong Ren Tang’s advantageous varieties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRAND PROMOTION AND MARKETING

This Year, the Group consistently upholds the corporate spirit of “Nurturing kindness and virtue, Preserving tranquility and
wellness”, to make a profound commitment to the concept of macro-health services, wholeheartedly immersing itself in the
field of Chinese medicine and the macro-health industry. The Group actively engages in a series of brand promotion and
marketing activities. It is dedicated to enhancing the brand strength and influence of Tong Ren Tang in both the Hong
Kong and Overseas markets and fostering global awareness of Chinese Medicine and brand’s culture.

To achieve three core competitive advantages in terms of “brand, variety, and quality”, the Group initiated the “Three
Advantages” activities, in conjunction with the “Tong Ren Tang 300th Anniversary of Royal Medicine Event” and the “Tong
Ren Tang’s King of Medicine Festival” celebrating events in 2023. Marketing activities were conducted under the concept
of “heritage of royal medicines and the centuries-old formulas”.

In January and May of this Year, in conjunction with World Hypertension Day, the Group has distributed the scientific
research result from the Angong Niuhuang Wan research report published by the Faculty of Medicine of the University of
Hong Kong via different media, which has attracted a total of approximately 1 million views. Additionally, during the Year,
the Group adapted promotional strategies in different periods. In January, under the theme of “Tong Ren Health: Joining
Hands Against the Pandemic”, the Group actively engaged in daily health posts and product introductions. As borders
gradually reopened in February and the tourism industry began to recover, outdoor mobile advertisements were prioritized.
For instance, advertisements were placed on buses traversing main streets, railway train carriages on routes to and from
border crossing, high-definition outdoor large screens outside shopping malls in tourist areas and trams to promote the
Angong Niuhuang Wan and the series of Lingzhi product of “Tong Ren Tang”.

Additionally, the Group participated in local media tours, showcasing milestones from the establishment to the current
development of the brand for the 300th anniversary of royal medicine. Outdoor exhibitions were held in different
communities, attracting special reports from various media. During the activities of the Tong Ren Tang’s King of Medicine
Festival (E1=E %&£ ), an online video platform was used to introduce several forms of 13 formulas of the King of
Medicine with scenarios in everyday life. A “Bronze Boy (#i.A17)” was added thereto to provide commentary and thus
introduce related products of Tong Ren Tang. Meanwhile, the Group has participated in large-scaled events such as the
hometown market in celebration of the 26th anniversary of the establishment of the HKSAR, the Shanghai Import Expo (Lt
JB#EEE), the 2023 Redox Biology and Medicine Meeting (2023 B E{tL &R EEE2 K E), and the 12th World Congress of
Microcirculation (58 + = gttt R4 fEIR A ). The Group set up booths in the Beijing Daxing Yongding River Marathon (£
K ELKESA B HIAR), where Tong Ren Tang Holdings was the title sponsor, to showcase the products and create a soft
promotional effect. Various small community exhibitions were also organized. During the events, a series of activities such
as free Chinese medicine consultations, free blood pressure measurement and Chinese medicine seminars were provided.
Simultaneously, posts regarding “Tong Ren Tang 300th Anniversary of Royal Medicine” was also given through Tong Ren
Little Encyclopedia (B1=/ & #}) on online platform. The Group actively conducted themed marketing campaigns to
coincide with specific holidays and events. For example, posts were published and prize games were held to celebrate
International Women’s Day. There were also activities for Mother’s Gift Day (B3 47 #)§f) and the Father’s Day in June,
aiming to promote vigorously and to raise public awareness of our products.

This Year, the Group continued to uphold “public welfare” as the underlying principle and cornerstone of the brand culture,
and placed even greater emphasis on addressing the generally increasing demand for health in society after the pandemic.
The successful hosting of “the 8th Show Love and Care to Stroke Prevention” series of events marked a departure towards
health, advancing together with the needs of the community. The Group joined hands with society and showcased the
brand culture at Ngong Ping 360. The series of events combined Chinese kung fu and TCM, complementing each other
and yielding mutual benefits. It not only successfully ignited market enthusiasm and captured consumer interest, but also
possessed international, interactive, and grassroots marketing characteristics, and showcasing extraordinary significance.

This Year, the Group continued to cooperate closely with mainstream popular media, launching a series of Vlogs to explore
new forms of brand marketing. Using hot topics such as “Belt and Road Initiative” and “Chinese Medicine Goes Global”,
paths and routes of overseas expansion for brand culture were presented via short stories that are more appealing to
young followers. These stories depict the journey of the famous Chinese Medicine brand from Hong Kong to Asia and then
to the world for development. In the current attraction economy, this approach helps the Group gradually establish a clear
positioning and accurate understanding of the future consumer market.

With its diversified product portfolio and outstanding operational efficiency, the Group has earned a multitude of
prestigious accolades. This Year, the Group once again won the “01 Gold Medal Awards — Excellence Award of the TCM
Brand” in Hong Kong and the “Most Influential Brand Award in Asia: Most Trusted Traditional Chinese Medicine Brand” in
Singapore consecutively, maintaining the advantageous position of its brands in Overseas markets and demonstrating
recognition and trust from Overseas markets and consumer groups in the Group’s brand, products, services, and
exceptional quality.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 798 employees (2022: 762 employees).
The staff costs of the Group for the Year were HK$245.7 million (2022: HK$219.1 million), representing an increase of
12.1% from last year. To ensure that the Group is able to attract and retain talents, remuneration policies are reviewed on a

regular basis. In addition, the discretionary bonus is offered to employees with outstanding performance with reference to
the Group’s results and individual performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

This Year, the Group’s revenue amounted to HK$1,524.9 million (2022: HK$1,731.1 million), representing a decrease of
11.9% from last year. The decline in revenue is primarily attributed to the decrease in sales of Sporoderm-broken
Ganoderma Lucidum Spores Powder in Mainland China. While there was a steady recovery in Hong Kong from the
pandemic, reflected in an increase of 10.8% in revenue from last year, the Mainland China consumer market has yet to
recover. Pairing with cautious consumer sentiment, resulting a discrepancy between actual market conditions and
anticipated post-pandemic demand. Some distributors in Mainland China were still working through inventory of
Sporoderm-broken Ganoderma Lucidum Spores Powder, which has affected the sales revenue in Mainland China with a
decrease of 70.2% from last year.

Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit for this year amounted to HK$1,047.2 million (2022: HK$1,150.1 million), representing a decrease
of 8.9% from last year. However, the gross profit margin increased from 66.4% in the previous year to 68.7% this Year.
The growth is primarily driven by relaxation of pandemic prevention and control policies this Year, coupled with an increase
in visitor arrival, leading to economic recovery in Hong Kong and Macau region and overall positive trend in the retail
sector, thereby an increase in the proportion of retail revenue with higher gross profit margin in consolidated revenue
year-on-year. Despite certain cost pressures related to raw materials and manufacturing, the Group has implemented
measures to reduce costs and enhance efficiency, as well as ensuring a steady supply of high-quality raw materials. These
strategies have helped maintain a similar gross profit margin for the proprietary products compared to the previous year.

Other Gains, net

The Group’s other gains, net was HK$8.4 million (2022: HK$9.6 million), which was decreased by HK$1.2 million from last
year. The decrease is primarily due to a reduction in government subsidies for the COVID-19 pandemic received by the
Group during this Year.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses were HK$231.3 million (2022: HK$187.2 million), representing an increase of
23.6% from last year. The Group expanded its retail presence, leading to heightened costs associated with property
leases, employee expenses, and retail-related expenditures. Moreover, the Group implemented intensified marketing and
promotional campaigns for its major products and brands post-pandemic, resulting in a notable upswing in advertising and
publicity costs. Distribution and selling expenses as a percentage to revenue increased from 10.8% last year to 15.2% this
Year.

General and Administrative Expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses were HK$179.0 million (2022: HK$154.5 million), representing an
increase of 15.9% from last year. These expenses primarily consist of employee costs and rental fees. The rise in general
and administrative expenses can be primarily attributed to the employment of additional staff members to meet the group’s
business growth requirements and the implementation of suitable adjustments in annual employee compensation to retain
talents. General and administrative expenses as a percentage to revenue increased from 8.9% from last year to 11.7% this
Year.

Finance Income, net

The Group’s net finance income was HK$66.9 million (2022: HK$15.9 million), which included the finance income of
HK$72.9 million (2022: HK$20.6 million). The increase in finance income of HK$52.3 million was mainly due to the increase
in both the average short-term bank deposit interest rate and the average bank deposit balance from last year.

Income Tax Expense

The Group’s income tax expense was HK$97.2 million (2022: HK$134.7 million), representing a decrease of 27.8% from
last year. The decrease in income tax expenses is mainly attributed to the reduction in revenue from the Mainland China
market, resulting in a decrease in taxable profits subject to higher tax rates in Mainland China. The effective tax rate for the
Year maintains at 14.1% (2022: 16.3%).

Profit for the Year, Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company, Basic Earnings
Per Share and Dividend

The Group’s profit for the Year decreased by 14.6% to HK$590.6 million (2022: HK$691.3 million) with a net profit margin
of 38.7% (2022: 39.9%). Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$540.4 million (2022: HK$645.9

million), representing a decrease of 16.3% from last year. The basic earnings per share for the Year were HK$0.65 (2022:
HK$0.77). The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.33 per share for the Year (2022: HK$0.33).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Resources and Liquidity

During the Year, the Group funded its liquidity by internal resources. Based on the Group’s steady cash inflow from
operations, coupled with sufficient cash and bank balances, the Group has adequate liquidity and financial resources to
meet the daily operations and working capital requirements as well as to fund its expansion plans.

The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position with cash and bank balances of HK$2,378.7 million (2022:
HK$2,244.0 million) as at 31 December 2023. Most of the Group’s cash and bank balances were denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and Renminbi, and were deposited in reputable financial institutions with maturity dates falling within one year.
The table below sets out the information regarding cash and bank balances, working capital, total equity, current ratio and
gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 and net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities, investing
activities and financing activities for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023:

B B vk e B A

A0 B UR LB

A% AKBURBERRAADES - ARAEEEBERERSHA - NEXRRER
RIS AEEEARADASRYBAR THZAXEEREEALERRXFAR
sa

R2023F 12831 B NEERERSERMBENRR  RERBRTHEKRREE2378.7HE
BIT (2022F 122440 HERET - RERRITEBRIEABARARE  EXEERRAE
ERFVERMEBER—FRNEH - TRHEFHIN2022F K 2023F 12831 BN RESRIBRIT
Hh HEES REEZEE RBLERAGLEREFHZFE2022FK2023F12A31HLESF
ENKETEE  RETHRMETHHNEEFTHA WESFENER

As at 31 December
M12H31H

2023 2022
HK$’000F /& T HK$’000F /& T

Cash and bank balances 3 & & $R1T 4564
Working Capital &E& &0

Total Equity =258

Current Ratio® i Bkt @

Gearing Ratio® & f&tk =@

2,378,693 2,243,963
3,514,404 3,264,497
4,020,690 3,738,793
11.7 8.8
3.30% 2.8%

For the year ended 31 December

Net cash generated from operating activities A% & B Fr & 4 (VIR & 7558
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities R &5E8) G A, FiE4ENRE&FEHE
Net cash used in financing activities Bl & & B Fr F VIR €558

™ Being net current assets
@ Being current assets divided by current liabilities
@ Being borrowings and lease liabilities divided by total equity

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, the Group’s capital expenditure amounted to HK$21.9 million (2022: HK$38.5 million), which was mainly
used in renovation of retail outlets, and purchase of machinery and equipment for production and operation purposes.

Major Investment, Acquisitions and Disposals

During the Year, the Group did not have any major investment, acquisitions and disposals.

Charges over Assets of the Group

As at 31 December 2023, the Group does not have any charges over assets of the Group. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group’s net property value of AUD1.8 million (equivalent to HK$9.5 million) has been pledged as securities for bank
borrowings. Such bank borrowings in Australian dollars bore interest at 1.5% plus the bank bill rate in Australia per annum
as at 31 December 2022 and was wholly repaid in 2023.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s main business operations are conducted in Hong Kong and other Overseas countries/regions. The
transactions, monetary assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi and US

dollar. During the Year, the fluctuation in the exchange rates of these currencies did not have material impact on the Group.

The Group did not engage in any derivatives activities and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign
exchange exposure during the Year.
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BZE12A31BLEE
2023 2022
HK$’000F /& 7T HK$’000F 7T
547,444
335,412
(535,416)
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OWNED PRODUCTS
H A i

ZEFHN
Angong Niuhuang Wan

Functions: To clear heat, remove toxin, settle fright,
open the orifices. Febrile disease caused by pathogenic
factors entering the pericardium, high fever and fright
syncope, loss of consciousness, delirious speech;
Wind-stroke coma, encephalitis, meningitis, toxic
encephalopathy, cerebral hemorrhage and septicemia
with the pattern mentioned above.

Thak EaRS  EEEHE - BRER BALE SRER.
MEEE PRABSRRIEL  BEEL - PSR B &
IMfE R EMERE o

Active ingredients: Bovis Calculus, Moschus,
Margarita, Cinnabaris, Realgar, Coptidis Rhizoma,
Scutellariae Radix, Gardeniae Fructus, Curcumae Radix,
Borneolum Syntheticum, Powdered Buffalo Horn Extract

BRRG : £85 B D% 40 =5 FE -
W’ - B kR - KEERED

il

B .

B
¥y 12 5E
Sporoderm-broken
Ganoderma Lucidum
Spores Powder Capsules

Functions: To enhance immunity. For
the elderly and the frail or the people
with low immune function, and for
patients after surgery or medication to
enhance health and improve symptoms.

R gmeRh AREEEE BHS
BESERRENRETAL ARFMHRE
SRR ENSE  BRRE FEM-
Active ingredient: Ganoderma
lucidum spores

BRAGD B2

Chinese anti-aging

B EZ M

uun'l!‘

il B E . 4H0 3 IR

PRECIBEE 7R

F *Hl\hw' oara

L
B
Tong Ren Tang
Lingzhi Vitality
Capsules
Functions: To

enhance immunity
and improve sleep.

IhE - 38 sk
DU REAR o
Active ingredient:

Ganoderma spores and
Ganoderma Extract

BHEG B2
BEZIREY

.

PRECIBIE iR

Prebiotics

i A JT

To R i AR
Cranberry
Collagen Prebiotics

R A A
Reviving Prebiotics

This product contains This product contains high-quality
high-quality fructo- fructo-oligosaccharide
oligosaccharide as major as major ingredient, formulated
ingredient, formulated with  with Astragalus extract,

cranberry powder and Scrophulariaceae extract and
marine collagen peptides  Angelica Sinensis Extract, and is
and is manufactured by a  manufactured by a modern

modern technology. technology. It is suitable for

2 people who suffer from both Qi
ﬁ””gigigigﬁgi deficiency and poor blood

4 eI circulation and people with poor
BEEAMK RARARIE itine activity in their daily

FRRMA ° health care.
ARERABERBRBERARR B
FEREIY 22BN ERRER
Y KARKIEBRME - BARN
RIWEEE S B IFEThAEE S5 A B
Rhodia 2
m }f{ 3{
AR KRB

RERAFRIBEE
Rhodiola Rosea Capsule
Blueberry & Rhodiola
Rosea Capsule

Rhodiola generally grows in high and cold areas. It helps
enhance immunity, anti-hypoxic, anti-fatigue, radiation resistance
and delaying of aging in the body.

ASRA—RERESRMT - AFERAK - URE - RS
RS REERKERESER o

The Korean Red Ginseng products
come from Geumsan County in
South Chungcheong Province, a
place known as the home of
ginseng, and are manufactured by
traditional preparation method of
Korean Red Ginseng. Korean Red
Ginseng can strengthen the immune
system, increase blood circulation,
antioxidant, improve memory and
fight fatigue.

BEAZERREREAZZHEE
EIRILE - RASBASERMIIE
RRMmMK - BBASAFREBRESD
MRERE - &t - TR HIRE - RE
BEZIN -

Others

I fth 3

_T AR
R -8
Wl e

J.:_. w\,

Concentrated Korean ginseng
essence that invigorates qi and
blood is matched with different
natural fruit flavors, including mango,
peach, passion fruit, omija and
bellflower, and added prebiotics
(fructo-oligosaccharides), marine
collagen or Chinese herbal
medicines respectively, helping to
maintain intestinal health and
increase skin elasticity.
LREMNEESESRBREE
BUAFRBRAKRAK: BETH
E - BER ERFREEOK
WEBEMARE T (EBRRE) - BF
BREARPEES  FEERKBE
BERIZIMLEEE -

MR Z M55

— B Sporoderm-broken

Ganoderma Lucidum

Antrodia camphorata plays an
important role in protecting
liver and improving
metabolism, reducing the rate
of acute liver injury caused by
alcohol, anti-oxidation,
maintaining cardiovascular
health and regulating blood
glucose level, as well as
regulating immune function.

182 EBREEBREMEE « RER
B BB &t #RLOME
RERAHMFEER o

The Youth Prime Capsule —
The Active Advance

Expertly chosen from the
premium Chinese herbal
selection, this product contains
wild Trametes Versicolor and
Cordyceps, which contribute
to the well-being of the kidneys
and lungs, fortify the spleen,
and enriched with NMN for
bolstered immune response,
heightened functionality,
increased vitality, and
enhanced physical vigor.

BEMEWNERNFLELREE
RELEES  BmERl B
E  RIINMNR S @ 238 A B8
B E S - BFHEE - ERE
- R

The Age-detying Capsule —
The Tonifying

Featuring Mongolian Dandelion,
renowned for its detoxifying
properties, this product effectively
addresses liver heat, improves
appetite, alleviates digestive
discomfort, and reduces bloating.
Enriched with NMN, it promotes
balanced organ function,
eliminates excess dampness, and
provides a sense of lightness and
well-being for optimal daily
health.

ERBHMSOBEAR - AR -
DEPDRERETR - BETE - Ik
K% AMNMNER D » 3288 P i A
EIARF  HBRRRE - BEKRET
BER - BRESF K-
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The Age-detying Capsule —
The Brightening

Ma-yuen Jobstears Seed nourishes
the spleen, improves stomach health,
and enhances lung function. Its high
fiber content aids in eliminating
excess fluids and toxins. By
incorporating advanced
biotechnological ingredients like NMN,
Coenzyme Q10, and Selenium Yeast,
it boosts metabolism, rejuvenates the
skin’s self-repair mechanisms, and
promotes a healthy complexion.

BECEAREE - 55w BB AR
AR KD IDREBRRAIIR - (RHEHL I -
SENEE=SEFHEASHRKIRE
= o MARKENBERD (NMN - Eff
Q10 EMERF) - EFAAMEE - 188
HUS BE&RIEE - AES - ZHEN -

\——;_-T_' B R 4R IR Spores Chocolate
Marine Collagen Peptide R 40132 B
Ultra Fine Pearl The swec\R)
g e The product is made of marine collagen Powd delectable
Cervas Elaohitlh peptides imported from Japan. These owder “Sporoderm-broken
IVUS D peptides are got by enzymatic degradation The product helps Ganoderma Lucidum

Collagen Capsule

The product contains collagen peptides
that are produced by hydrolysis of the
scales of Ocean Lutjanus Sanguineus
via an unigue Japanese developed
enzymatic technology, formulated with
Milk Mineral Salt and Cervus Elaphus
Linnaeus, and is manufactured by a
modern technology.

FmEARFRRBASRANAR B
B ED BEITRA K EFRREBAK -
BB - SEEHAEM - RARK
TEBRMA ©

of scales of Lutjanus Sanguineus by the

specific technology. It is easily digested and

absorbed by human body due to its
properties of small molecular weight and
high water-solubility. This product is
prepared as oral tablets with grape seed

extracts and jujube extracts by the advanced
modern process which is convenient to take.

A@REANBAEDSFBRREQRK - RUAH
HANABSRE  BBBERINETERRS B
Bk D TR BRARK BEWARRY -
BAHEHEENAEREE  RAKENTER

BRARS - BRASE -

settle spirit and
convulsion, clear
the liver and
improve vision. It is
used for treating
fright palpitation
and fearful
throbbing, vexation
and insomnia, etc..

AREAERBEE
BFEENDX B
FAREBEIEM . 0E
REREREAR o

tRECERZEERAA

Spores Chocolate” is
crafted with the finest
Belgian dark chocolate
in high purity, which
seamlessly blends the
essence of Sporoderm-
broken Ganoderma
Lucidum Spores
powder, resulting in a
velvety smooth texture
that melts effortlessly
upon the palate.
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When all the tissues of human body are tangible, there is a high-class invisible ability presiding over the activities,

/
L

which is called “Shen”. If Shen is strong and active, internal organs and the body will be vigorous. On the contrary, «« —
if it is weak and sluggish, nothing will work. For the activities of Shen inside internal organs, it is pointed out in the

Book of Further Diagnosis ( ## ) that internal organs are where Shen and Qi of a person reside, when Hun rests

in the liver, Po in the lungs, Shen in the heart, Yi and Wisdom in the spleen, and Jing and Zhi in the kidneys.

According to The Yellow Emperor’s Classic of Medicine (27 £ ), what comes with birth is called Jing and the -

competition in between and the merge of Jing from the parents are called Shen, when Hun is the awareness A

existing alongside Shen and Po is the exercise existing alongside Jing. Besides, it is stated in the book that what E’

controls external things is called Xin, the memory of Xin is called Yi and the awareness derived from accumulated < o < o < g a0 < 2

Yi is called Zhi, when studying changes based on Zhi means Si, further developing ideas with Si means Lu and ".’7 ‘\i “"."‘I“\i “"."‘I‘ ‘\i. g’_ .’? é.
action after Lu means Wisdom. This set of activities on consciousness and thinking is all the effect of Shen. (3 ‘4» N L’ 0 SN S\ < g é.z'é
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE & % i

In 2023, the gradually lenient policies on epidemic prevention and control in Hong Kong revitalized the economic
development therein. Meanwhile, issues such as technological development, climate change and low-carbon economic
transformation have brought about varying degrees of risks and opportunities to the world. The Group actively responds to
challenges, adapts to policy changes and trends, and cherishes opportunities under the new trends by adhering to
compliance and sustainable operating model in all aspects.

In terms of production and quality management as well as technological innovation, the Group continues to perfect its
product supply chain by strengthening its development on and enriching its resources for variety with customer orientation,
improving its sales management capabilities at the retail stores and maintaining the quality and professionalism of the
services provided. The setup of a professional talent pool is particularly important for the industry and enterprise development
of the Chinese medicine. Therefore, the Group is committed to creating a suitable employment system and working
environment for employees, to retain the performance of its own employees and to provide continuous training for experts.

L] L]
EnVlronmental, SOClal and With international and national long-term goals for climate change, the Group actively implements various environmental
management measures so as to reduce the burden of business operations on the environment. In addition, the Group is
Governance Report identifying climate-related risks and opportunities, and shall analyze their relevance and impact step by step, so as to

construct a mechanism in response and to maintain operational stability.

o

wI?

O\

Looking forward to the future, the Group shall contribute to the globalization of the supply chain of raw materials of
Chinese medicines and proprietary Chinese medicines by striving to build a comprehensive enterprise with integrated
development of pharmaceutical research and development, production and sales, so as to set a new benchmark for the
industry and to achieve sustainable development and low-carbon transformation with all walks of life.

R AR Y VAR T VAREE Y RAeZR/e A
Seieteneteetatetatital
(\.I,g' (\"44‘(\44\(\0¢d‘(0~l,-‘(\.l~ Ifl- /\.I,g\(\.l,d\(\gl,d\(\.l,d\(\
AN BN B/ SN BN/ BN, SN/ B/EN/ B
TRESS VAR A
) 7 i\ ey w"‘“\w

: IQ/,G\I\QI.;:\

AR
4 ~" o
@ttt

20235  EREBEHERRETRE  AEBKBERBEINED - BERK  REHE REMRERSEERESEE
RERTRIEDEENEBREE - AEEEGRYLE  BEERESLBE AR EEREEHSARTBENLEERN &
BT HIHE

EEEREEEERMRAFIH  FARESAEERMEER  DUEBERTRA/ER  NERERR  SEREER B
RAZERREETERD  RERENEEEEX KT -BUEEASTEHHBETERCEBRAREZ Bt - A5
BOREIHECENERHERTHFRE  #FESETRE  FTEEIEEAS -

BEEABRREZARGELTLRAESR AXERGEBAERSEREEELR  BREXBEEHRENERE - i £&
BEERBRIZERRRNESE  UWKBESONMEBBEREE ST EERE  AFEBNEEM -

REARR  REBMBEFNTEERMR LERBE-—BLBENGSMLE  BOBPPERHMRIREERHEE2IR
b BTEBLHET  YEXAARERUTFEXRAERER -

Gu Hai Ou
B
Chairman % J&

TRECERAEERLEN —T-=FFH 33



ESG REPORT

ABOUT THE REPORT

BREE - A LB R
B P A e o5

This report is the 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report (referred as the “Report” in the section headed “ESG
Report”) published by Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We”) for the purpose of disclosure of the Group’s policies, measures and performances
related to corporate social responsibility and sustainable development and performance during the period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

REPORTING SCOPE

The Report covers the Group’s core businesses of the Year which include manufacturing, retail and wholesale of Chinese
medicine products and healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments on the business
operations of the Group located in Asia, Oceania, the Americas and Europe. The scope covers the operational sites of the

REE HEBEREARS WMRE HERERRE] —FPBAEERE) AL REACEEAEERLAA (K27 ERM
BAABAANEE] R [HKM)2023FRE - HEREERRE EEHEAEEH2023F1A1HE2023F 128318 (K
FNRGCEMSEANTHERREENECK - BRERRE -
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FHEFEFAERERAFMRDEN - XOFH - EMUARBNEAREXBRBE EBENROEY BRI EERRRERNE
E ZERBRBEL URDPEIERBEER - FEHERARRAREFHRF 2422240 BMFI QA 2 AEEEH -

Company and the companies listed on pages 242 to 249 of this annual report.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set
out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules and follows the four reporting principles (materiality, consistency, balance and

quantitative) for disclosure.

Reporting Principles Definitions

Materiality A report should include ESG
issues that have significant
impacts on the Group and its
stakeholders.

Consistency A report should use consistent
methodologies on statistics to
allow for meaningful
comparisons of data over time.

Balance A report should provide an
unbiased picture of the
performance in respect of ESG
issues and avoid any possible
inappropriate influence on a
decision or judgement to be
made by report readers.

Quantitative KPIs relating to historical data
should be measurable and,
where appropriate, comparable
in order to evaluate and validate
the effectiveness of ESG policies
and management systems.

Responses of the Group

During the Year, the Group invited internal and external
stakeholders to participate in online surveys for materiality
assessment to identify material ESG issues and determine
the key disclosure content of the Report.

Unless otherwise stated, the statistical approach used in
the Report is consistent with those used previously to
ensure comparable data.

The Group complies with the principles of impartiality in
the preparation of the Report.

The Group continuously recorded KPIs and made
disclosure in a quantitative manner, where practicable. In
addition, the Group engaged an independent
professional consultant to conduct carbon assessments
in accordance with international and local standards to
ensure the accuracy of the data of KPIs in respect of the
environment.

The section headed “Content Index” on the last chapter of the Report is available for quick reference.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

All the qualitative and quantitative information cited in the Report is sourced from the Group’s public information, official
documents and related statistical data. The Report was confirmed and approved by the Board of the Group on 14 March

2024.

FEEDBACK AND OPINIONS

We believe that the opinions of different stakeholders will help strengthen the corporate sustainability performance and
lead the Group to continuous improvement. If you have any questions or suggestions about the Group’s sustainability-
related matters, the content of this Report or the form of reporting, please contact the Group by email

(ir@tongrentangcm.com).
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ESG REPORT
RESPONSIBLE GOVERNANCE
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MANAGEMENT ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Governance System

The Group has always adhered to the ideology of “stable development and cultural inheritance”, and has established a
clear and effective governance system to foster a stable and sustainable corporate development. The Board recognizes
the importance of balanced development in the three major aspects of environment, society and governance, and is
responsible for formulating and supervising the direction and strategy of sustainability of the Group and overseeing the
ESG and climate-related matters in operations to maintain its sustainability governance standards. In addition to monitoring
and confirming this report, the Board is also responsible for overseeing the risk management and internal control systems,
reviewing their effectiveness regularly, determining the Group’s risk factors, reviewing existing and potential risks and
countermeasures, and reviewing risk management reports. The Group will continue to understand its own performance
and look for improvement solutions to strengthen its regulatory system and stability.

The Group has been operating in a progressive manner, so as to maintain its current stability while improving its corporate
management performance and sustainability governance standards. We are reviewing to establish an ESG structure that
incorporate the Board, the management and major departments, with an aim to identify and respond to relevant
opportunities and risks through regular reviews and formulation of sustainable development strategies and policies. To this
end, the Group will continue to review the existing governance structure, to support the Board, the management and all
functional departments to work together to achieve long-term and sustainable development.

Risk Management

Globalisation, technological development and climate change, etc. have brought different levels of risks and opportunities
to the global environmental and social development. In order to achieve effective risk management and ensure timely
response, the Group has established a risk management and internal control system, and the Board is responsible for
continuously monitoring and reviewing its effectiveness. The Board also determines the acceptable risk factors under the
changing environment, monitors the risk management framework, and reviews the existing and potential risks and the
relevant countermeasures. At the same time, the Group has set up a risk management team to monitor the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems, and monitor any changes in risks, and reports and submits risk
management reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on a half-yearly basis.

To identify, evaluate and manage the significant risks, the Group implements the 5 major components of risk management
and internal control framework and the “Three lines of defense” model. Details of the related risk management and internal
control system, please refer to pages 138 to 145 of the Annual Report.
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MEHTE  AEECEVEAREERANEZRAS  YAESSEERELERRNHANE ESETSARRENE
g BEEUEIHEEANEREER EREREEER UREHREEELEAMREREHER -BE  AEERIARE
B ERRREERABEZRAGNRY  UREREAREE  USFFAELZEEREZTEBREXABEERS -

AEEEBREREERADELRELTNRAEFTEAZR [ZEHEIBRX > Z5 FTHEREEEANAR EHAREER
AMEERGNFE  F2HAFHRE1B8E145H

Day-to-day
operational
Control management
T and control Risk and
aE(ZtIVEtIeS o AEgE compliance
EEEE Monitoring SRR EE oversight
activities BB RERER
Risk BT

assessment

B A
Control
environment Information and
BRI communication
EREEE
Independent
assurance

B RE

Five Components “Three Lines of Defense” Model
hIERTE [=ERsR] 83X

In addition, the Group has established clear risk monitoring procedures so as to identify and respond to relevant risks
and opportunities.

o REBEER L EWNEREERF - UBRBI R EEARENER RS -

0 2
¢ "7.

Risk Risk Risk Risk Risk
Identification Assessment Response Monitoring Reporting

[ e 8k R\ B 5 Ak R B P B B B 42 [ B 3R

Major Risks

Related to ESG

HERE - HER

ERHEEZ Impact(s) Major Measure(s)

TEEE ®e TERYIEE

Policy Risk The Group’s Chinese medicine The Group prevents risks by collecting and mastering the

BUR 2 B products, Chinese medicine laws, regulations and policies of the country/region where
service, healthcare consultation, the project is located, improving the management system
and food or health products are of Overseas companies, strengthening the construction of
subject to regulatory supervision. If overseas product quality control systems, regular auditing
the Group fails to meet the and monitoring, enhancing compliance awareness,
requirements of laws and introducing talents, and treating contract terms carefully.
regulations, it may cause regulatory ZKE%E%@H&%%?EIE BB Rt @R R AR REUR
risks in the Chinese medicine TEBHIRRERHE MERREIERRESHER -
industry or food and health ;Eﬁﬁ§“l'ﬁ"§ HREHREME - AASIE BEHFERK
products. REHFXFERR ©

AEBWHEER  PERE  RE
BHARERARERZT EREE
REFEERERER  FUHEL
MERBTXEIAERBRIARARER
ERER
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Major Risks

Related to ESG

HEEE - HEBR

EEHEEZ Impact(s)

TERR g

Quality Risk Quality Risk can be divided into
BEE2EK four main areas, namely

procurement, production, testing
and sales: 1) Relevant laws and
regulations on areas such as the
quality, inspection methods, import
and export restrictions on Chinese
medicine herb procurement may
increase the difficulties on the
quality control for purchased
Chinese medicine herbs, of if the
quality of raw materials, proprietary
Chinese medicine and herbal
pieces provided by suppliers does
not meet the requirements, risk on
quality of procurement may occur;
2) If there is inadequate control over
the production process, risk on
quality of production may occur; 3)
If there is lack of testing procedures
or if the procedures are not
stringent, it may result in products
in poor quality, and mixed with
other prohibited ingredients, and
risks on quality of product testing
may occur; 4) If there are quality
problems on the sale of Group’s
Owned Products and Non-Owned
Products, the manufacturers and
distributors of the products will
bear the responsibility. If the
products are not put off-shelf and
recalled in time, there may be a risk
on quality liability for product sales.
EERRUTASARE £E B
B SEEHMATE : 1) R EAMIERE
EERERHPENRBNES - BN
FR OEHORBNETHENER 7
BEERRBNhEN SRR ER
Ko R MERREARNERY - Pais
RS mETHEER  $HEEE
ERBEERR ) ELEERRER
B BEAEREELEEEERR;
3) HIRZMOBIRAZ « AR BRARE B
mERS  BRHMEZNS K8
ARELERBUIESER 45X
EEHEEREERRFBEERLER
BEEME BHERNEEEMEH
EREEE  MARBHERETE
E Bl BETEREELEHEERE
BEERAR -

Major Measure(s)
TERYHER

e Major measures to address the Risk on Quality of
Procurement: Through materials testing, the Group
prohibits unqualified raw materials and auxiliary
materials from flowing into the production process; The
Group enforces the suppliers on proprietary Chinese
medicine to strictly implement product quality standards
in various countries and regions, evaluates and reviews
export suppliers on herbal pieces to ensure quality;
Retail outlets in each regions gradually improve
procurement and supplier management procedures to
strengthen compliance procedures.
REEERRNTIZREER  BHYRETRE . A
EERETERNEMBREERALERS  A5EES
ERPHEHEFBREITSERREENERRER
o HHRAFHOREBETTIEER  BRRE SHE
ZEARBSTERBRHEEFEERE  BILERRE -

* Major measures to address the Risk on Quality of
Production: The production management of the Group
strictly follows relevant regulations, workers in the
production workshop shall undergo training on
production techniques and pass the corresponding
examination. Production team leaders are thereof held
accountable for the production quality. Each production
process is recorded in details to ensure that it is
operated in accordance with established procedures.
TEEERBNIZRYER  AEELEESEEREANT
HBRE £EEEE I XN AKLBEERMZIMZR
HEEENMAEARAEEERESE  EEBBRPIFH
BRMTE  BREREENIFRREZRE-

* Major measures to address the Risk on Quality of
Product Testing: The quality standards for products of
the Group are in strict accordance with the laws and
regulations of the relevant countries or regions.
Processes of product inspection are refined while
standard operating procedures for each inspection
methods are in place and details records are made. The
Group regularly calibrates measuring instruments to
ensure the accuracy and credibility of test results.
EnRiEERBNEIEREER  AEENEREER
#47 RARRIE R h it B A R E R RIS R EE | BRI
FEUHERERFERARFMCE U ERF[ETEN
RE » AR ERERAE -

e Major measures to address the Risk on Liability from
Quality of Marketed Products: The Group keeps abreast
of the changes in regulations on the external packaging
and labelling of products in and outside the PRC; Retail
outlets in some regions have drafted management
procedures for quality risk reporting, pharmacovigilance
and product recall and destruction to safeguard the
quality of marketed products.
HEEREEEERARBNTIZREIER  ASEEREKR
TEEANIERPEEEBENER S BOBETEL
iy 16l E o B B P R Je BE B A I E v MK [ B 6 SR AR R
EERE  REHEERME -
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Major Risks

Related to ESG
HEBE  HER

ERERZ
TEREB

Business
Partner Risk
EBEIEBH
= Bz

External
Consignment
Business Risk
SMERZEFENN T
E 30

Price Risk
(Procurement
Price)
B E B
(BREBE )

Impact(s)

£

The Group may experience weak
cooperation due to improper
selection of partners, poor
management coordination ability,
incomplete information
communication, or non-compliance
with cooperation contracts, which
may affect the Group’s business
development and adversely affect
its operating results and financial
position.
FEETRRGEBHNEETE -
EEMAELE BRMBEETEHR -
FFEFEERNERR  #351HE
EEF  HEAEEBRENXE
REXBERVBRTBERFFNZE -

The external consignment business
risk can be subdivided into the
selection risk, the supervision risk
and the discarding risk of external
consignment organisations. Due to
the production needs, the Group
has the opportunity to engage
external manufacturers for
consignment tasks. The procedures
and products may fluctuate due to
equipment or other factors of
various manufacturers.

SMERZRHE N T 3RS R B v 4 5 B S ED
ZREMIKBER EEREAR
B HREREENRE  AEEEH
EEANNEERETNIIR - &
PHNEFRERREERFTEEEETH
REFHMEE > MEHRKE -

The prices of Chinese medicine
herbs may fluctuate significantly
due to factors such as production
volume and demand for Chinese
medicine herbs, environmental
protection and contingencies
(climate disasters) and affect the
entire industry chain and
accordingly the procurement prices
of raw materials, auxiliary materials
and proprietary Chinese medicine,
thereby increasing the Group’s
uncertainty in cost control.
HAPEMNESE TR -BRARR
BEH RBREB)EZERRE I
REMNEEREERABENRS &
EREEFRE REH @ISR
ENRBERGUIRBTE  EMAK
ERYHAZENTREN -

B g RBRRE

HIEER

Major Measure(s)
TERYHIER

In strict accordance with the various requirements, and
according to a supplier audit system, the Group conducts
audits on suppliers, updates supplier qualifications, and
also ensures that suppliers meet the Group’s relevant
requirements. In addition, the Group strictly implements the
review system for the new suppliers who cooperated for
the first time, carries out bulk purchases when conditions
permit, operates in accordance with the normal
procurement process, and explores operations such as
import and export procedures, taxation, customs clearance,
and transportation.

AEBBREZEREEIEER  REBEEHEHIE - Hit
EEETET I EFHENEE  BRUBEEIFSEAE
EHEER - B/ HREXSENHESD  AEEREH
THHERNEZHE  EREATT BT PERERE
REESRBABERAE RRELOTFHE B BH - E
WERE-

The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the
Consignment Production Management Measures (Trial) (¢&
FEEEEEM A G217))) and the Product and Service and
Process Control Quality Management System (Trial) ({Z f
R K IBREEHEEEEFIE) G 1T)) to consign and
regulate the products and performance of relevant external
manufacturers, so as to ensure the stability of the whole
process.

TEEBRERBEREETEIE EMINERERSER
BREEHEEEEHE GEMBER  ZXREEHEANSD
LEBNERRRR BREAEBNBEM -

¢ In the process of procurement, the Group controls the
cost for procurement by identifying new suppliers,
diversifying supply channels and comparing prices via
quotations. The Group pays close attention to the
market conditions and policies of Chinese medicine
herbs so as to provide timely communication with
end-users on procurement status, the Group can thus
have quotations from suppliers in advance and ensure
the most appropriate price for procurement can be
obtained.
AEBERBHERT  SEBEENEES  HEMHE
EE - ZHAMGMLE  BEHRBEE BUOBEHEMT
B PEMBEBRL REEKHEREFHEBELSRER
RAMHEEHAE  BRUABRSENERETRE -

® In order to cope with the increase in the procurement
price of certain scarce Chinese medicine herbs, the
Group actively purchases such herbs in the international
market as inventory.
RAEHENEHREMNRBER LA AEEBEREER
TSEREEBEYRER RS o

TRECERAEERLEN —T-=FFH 39
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Major Risks
Related to ESG
HER  HER
ERMEEZ
TERE

Intellectual
Property Risk
S8 7 R B

Impact(s)
-2

Risk on Intellectual Property Rights
can be divided into three main
areas, namely Overseas registration
of intellectual property rights,
trademark licensing agreements
and intellectual property rights. In
the event that the trademark “Tong
Ren Tang” is registered by any
other entity or individual or a patent
application is filed Overseas, there
will be risks of Overseas intellectual
property registration; If the Parent
Group terminates or amends the
“Tong Ren Tang” trademark license
agreement and authorization letter
entered into with the Group, there
may be risks on trademark license
agreement; If competitors copy the
Group’s research and development
results, there may be intellectual
property risks occurring.
SRR B T M 0 A B I IR A
=i AREFTHE - AEEERL=
AFHE: HZBAC-E] BREEIE
HAh B o8 A M EFI RS
BEAREEEBMIBERZIME
B EEEEA LB EALEESE
A2 ECE BERESNRERE
B BERAREEESETAHER
B ERBFHFERLIEEMER
RoBBUREEMBERRR -

Major Measure(s)
FTEEHIEE

Major measures to address the Risk on Overseas
Registration of Intellectual Property Rights. Through the
agent appointed by the Parent Group, the Group
monitors the use of trademark of “Tong Ren Tang”
Overseas and sees if the trademark has been registered
by any other entity or individual or if any patents have
been filed Overseas.
BOANBERIMARNEIZREIEE A5EEBEE
EZENREBERESINRCEI BE  BEIEEIRE
BRAMECREATMREFIRAFHNER -

Major measures to address the Risk on Trademark
Licensing Agreements: The Group closely
communicates with the Parent Group, and promptly
updates and formulates contingency measures where
there is any change to trademark licensing agreements
made by the Parent Group.
BEFAUHERRNEIEREER  AEEETESEE
BE NBEEHEERESAEEETEE  E-KER
B E I RIS

Major measures to address the Risk on Intellectual
Property Rights: The Group cooperates with
professional institutions and commissions them to apply
for various intellectual property rights and patents for
the Group’s achievement in research and development.
MBEERREBRNEIEZEREER  AEEEEEKBESHE -
ZRERLFEEMBRRAFRHABERE - 2F -

MANAGEMENT ON COMPLIANCE

It is fundamental for the Group to operate in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Group understands
that non-compliance with laws and regulations will have an impact on the Group at different levels, ranging from business
operations and reputation to penalties and litigations. As various national laws, regulations and policies in the Chinese
medicine industry continue to be refined and implemented, the Group will put utmost importance on ensuring operational
compliance as it always does, as well as formulate and implement a series of internal policies and systems so as to
strengthen the compliance management. Our Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s policies and
practices formulated as required by legal and regulatory requirements, while the Board reviews the Group’s compliance on

an annual basis.

During the Year, the Group had found no non-compliance in relation to each area in ESG.

aREH

BIRMEERANERERFARAEEARLEETNELRER - A EERAEREERAPSAAEEATRTIAEANTE 1
EBRE B8 MARFAS BEPBETEXSEEEZELABRRTEMCER  FAEEREERRREESRAER
B YUEHERBRE -—RINPHRRIE  BLEREE BRZEESEEEEASATHETEIEREEERNWEEK
RES ESSRSFRMAEESRER -

RE - AEEREERE HEREATHBHBNELIERESR -

Aspects Issue(s)
ks EE

Environmental SIS e]g

R B

The Group’s policies
AEBEHE

e Measures on the Administration of
Environmental Protection of
Production Bases
EEEMRBRESEID

e The Medical Waste Treatment
Methods
(BREVEERD

* Rules on Management of
Laboratory Waste

Principal Laws and Regulations in
Hong Kong (including but not

limited to)
EEBEEEMER BEETFRRY

Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(ZER 5 LRE BIMEBD

Ozone Layer Protection Ordinance
RELEEFHD

Water Pollution Control Ordinance
Gk 35 & Bl B

Waste Disposal Ordinance

<= ¥ iz 22 5% f5i)

Codes of Practice for the
Management of Clinical Waste
(BEEYEE IS
Hazardous Chemicals Control
Ordinance

ESLEREHERDD

Use of resources
EREA

e Measures on the Administration of
Environmental Protection of
Production Bases

GEEEMRERETERD

Not applicable
TiE A

Environment and
natural resources
BRERXAER

e Measures on the Administration of
Environmental Protection of
Production Bases

GEEEMRERETERD

Product Eco-responsibility
Ordinance

(ERBREEHLD

Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance

CRE B IRHD
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Aspects Issue(s)
] &E

Employee Employment

BT (=

The Group’s policies
AEEBE

Staff Manual

(BT Fm

Rules on Management of
Implementation of Employment
Contracts

(BEEHNEREERSD

Principal Laws and Regulations in
Hong Kong (including but not

limited to)
ERTEEMER BEETRRY

e Employment Ordinance
S

e Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance
(R EBERLD

e Minimum Wage Ordinance
EAE T E %A

e Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
and various discrimination
ordinances
BN E R LB 1R R B IR
37

Health and safety
REEZE

Rules on Management of Retailing
Safety

(BREZ2EERD

Rules on Management of Training

GEIEERD

e QOccupational Safety and Health
Ordinance
Gl 2= 2 R R BRI

Development and
training
R BE

Staff Manual

EIFMm

Rules on Management of Training
GEINEBRE)

Not applicable
TER

Labour standard
L TR

Operation Supply chain
gE management
e EE

Staff Manual
EIFm

Material Procurement
Management Rules
WRHRBEERD

Suppliers Management Rules
(HEBEERE

Good Manufacturing Practise
(GMP)

CEEEEEEREHGMP)
International Standard 1ISO22000:
2018 Food Safety Management
System
(BIB1Z#1S022000:2018 M EZ &
EERR

Hazard Analysis and Critical
Control Points (HACCP)
(BEDMEZEE B (HACCP))
Measures for the Procurement
Management of Advisory Services
Projects

GEHARKEE B RBEEID
Measures for the Supervision and
Management of Material
Procurement

IR R B B B B IR i)
Management Guidelines for
Material Procurement Compliance

WIRHRBE AR EEIESD

e Employment Ordinance
S

e Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
and various discrimination
ordinances

BB FARR) R B R & B ARAF

Bl

Not applicable
TER

Aspects
]

Business
ethics
BMEER

Issue(s)
£
Product

responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption
RES

Principal Laws and Regulations in
Hong Kong (including but not

The Group’s policies limited to)

AEEBR BRIEEMER BEETRER

e Product Quality Standards e Chinese Medicines Regulation
(EREERE) &R B

¢ Rules on Management of Retailing e Chinese Medicine Ordinance
Safety Fp B8 B 1R B
(BEZ2EERD ¢ Regulation of Registered

e Staff Manual Proprietary Chinese Medicines
(EITFM R B IE R

e After-sales Product Consultation e Food Adulteration (Metallic
and Complaint Handling Contamination) Regulations
Management Rule (BRYEBEXE GEEESE) R
(EmERHARRFEEER * Pesticide Residues in Food
R Regulation

* Product Return Management Rule CR YA RS T 72 82 55 )
(EmEEEERBD e Food Safety Ordinance

e Rules for Management on the CBY = 2 ARHD
Quality of Retail Services e Undesirable Medical
(ZERBEEEERD Advertisements Ordinance

* Adverse Drug Reaction Report and FRES B RAED
Monitoring Procedures e Trade Descriptions Ordinance
ERTRRERSMERERE <@ A 5 BE R 1)
RiD e Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

e Good Manufacturing Practise E A E R FLBE) R 5
(GMP)
(EEBEEEEREGMP)

¢ |International Standard 1ISO22000:
2018 Food Safety Management
System
(EIBRIZ X 1SO022000:2018 BT &
EEEZR)

e Hazard Analysis and Critical
Control Points (HACCP)

EED M EZEHE (HACCP))

e Management Procedures for
Product Market Sampling
(Emm S HREERE

e Management Procedures for
Product Recall
(EmEREERE)

e |mplementation Suggestions on
Publicity Management and
Information Release
(EfEEREEFEEMERIZR)

e Work Management System for
“Immediate Handling of Received
Complaints”

(HEREM TEEEHE

e Staff Manual °
(EIFM

e Execution Plan for General
Supervision
(REBITHRHTHH

* Regulations on the Behaviour
Management of Senior
Management and Employees
(HHBITTREERTD

* Measures for Strengthening the
Integrity Supervision and
Management over Newly
Appointed Leaders and Senior
Management
GnEH T EBESHRRAEEE
B TR

e Measures for Supervision and
Coordination such as Discipline
Monitoring and Inspection,
Auditing, Finance and Organization
OmERRERKIR - /AT - B - 4
BEEEEEHRTERD

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

Bh L BE B AR )
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS #51n % %8

We believe the participation of
stakeholders is an important part in the
business development. The stakeholders’
opinion helps the Group to establish

a more comprehensive sustainability
development strategy.

Opinions from different stakeholders" are essential to the Group’s
business development and management, and it allows the Group to
review potential risks and opportunities so that the business practices
can be more in line with their needs and expectations.

The Group is dedicated to establishing an open and transparent
communication mechanism. During the Year, the Group
communicated and maintained good relationship with its stakeholders
and responded effectively to its stakeholders through various targeted
channels. The specific types of stakeholders, communication focus
and communication channels are shown below:

Stakeholders Communication Focus

FAH A5 5 00 & 2 B 3K B
BRW—MEEID
R R A B A 4 M L
i 2 Y VT A 0 R SR o

TEAFHHEONRRAAKRENEBERRERE
EREE AUAKEFREENEAMEKS
STEBEREMAMMNFTENHRE -

AEBYNRBAMEANBEELSY - ~FEB
EEHHUENRERBNEEE  HEBHER
BFREWER XFEHEREE - ARENEA
FMRBBEHNRENT

Communication Channels

BHE BEEXN BEERR

The Board, senior The Group understands the needs of its employees e Questionnaires
management and through various channels, such as performance appraisals BEHRE

employees and questionnaires, and encourages communication e Suggestion boxes for
EEE SHREEA  among employees and their supervisors to support employees

BRET employees’ career development and create a workplace BIfER

facilitating advancement, health and safety.

e Training programs

AEFEBTARETHREIER  WERTERBEER BIIRRE
T HBMETHIEEE  UXFETIMWERR  UAE o Staff activities

—ERERR RENZZNWIFESH -

EIEE
e Corporate communication
B

M “Stakeholders”, also known as “interested parties” or “interest holders”, refer to groups and individuals who have significant impact on
the business of an enterprise, or those who are affected by the business, including the internal Board, senior management and
employees, external customers and consumers, shareholders, suppliers and business partners, trade associations, government and
regulators, community organisations, potential investors and banks.

O [FEEpE XBIASEES] S ERA EH - ACXNEBEEALE S EBFENHENEAA  EEABNESS  SREE
ABRET BN EFRHEE KRR  HEPMEERMH TXHS BAKEEHRE HBEAM  BEREERBITS -

Stakeholders

&

Shareholders and
Investors

RERKREE

Suppliers and
Business Partners
MERRSEBHE

Customers and
Consumers

EEREEE

Government and
Regulators

B REEHE

Trade Associations
TEGE

Community
#HE

Communication Focus
BEEY

The Group holds regular general meetings and discloses
important information by means of annual reports, interim
reports, financial reports, ESG reports, corporate websites
and other disclosure documents to keep investors and
shareholders updated on the Group’s position, results and
ESG performance.
AEEEHBTRRAS  WEBBFR - PHRE - BBER
HEORIR B REARWME - AR E MR E M
EZEM BREENRRTBAEENEHER - XEM
BIE  HEREREN -

Communication Channels
BRER

Questionnaires

BERE

Regular release of financial
report and data

EM BB RE R HIE MG
Shareholders’ meetings and
activities

RRAEREE

Corporate communications
B

Press releases

HE R

Investor relations
communication
REEBFREBEB

The Group ensures that its suppliers understand and meet
the Group’s expectations and requirements through
screening, auditing and evaluation process, and
communicates regularly with its suppliers and business
partners to strengthen partnerships.

AEBBBHE BEURALERE BREEDTHRNF
EREENBERER U EREHERRSEREBEN
DGR R R o

Questionnaires

BERAE

Regular communication
Assessment and evaluation
B2

Information sharing
ERHAE

The Group has access to feedback from its customers and
consumers through various channels, such as staff at retail
outlets, customer service hotlines, facsimiles, emails and
social media, and has a mechanism in place to handle
customers’ feedback and complaints appropriately.
FEEEBTRARBNEELRKET FTFREAR £
HE EBLUREXER WREFRHEEENRE  XRI
BHUZZREEF REMIRR

Customer services hotlines
B RS H#E

Product labelling

BRER

Mails

B

Social media communication

HREEBE

The Group liaises with relevant government departments
and regulatory authorities to keep abreast of the latest
legal and regulatory requirements and to ensure
compliance of its operations. Any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations will be reported to competent
authorities immediately.
AEFHEBFEENBMREERBRERE  UEREHE
BRERERREREESHR WHERMBBEEEELRNE
o AREE LB @A BEIFIRE o

Regular communication
EHER

Compliance records
AR

Policy documents

B X

Response to consultation

[l fE 55

The Group communicates with trade associations on a
regular basis for exchange of any industry information in
order to ensure that its operations comply with industry
standards.
AEBEHERTEGEEE  IRTEEN  BREEER
TEEE-

Regular exchange

EHIR R

Participation in the affairs of
trade associations
SHETEBESH

To better understand and respond to the needs from the
community, the Group organises community activities and
services from time to time and encourages its staff to
support voluntary services.
AEFTHANBNELENER  AEEFEHRITHET
BRRY  IHEE T XIFE TR -

Fostering community culture
HEX(LER

Support to underprivileged
groups

KB EEE

Community services
HER®
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Materiality Assessment

To ensure the ESG Report reflects the issues of concern to stakeholders and the Group’s environmental and social impacts
regarding those issues, the Group conducted stakeholder communication and materiality assessment with the assistance
from an independent consultant, to identify the important environmental and social issues. The Group also understands
and responds to the expectations and requirements of its stakeholders through the below procedures on identification of
material issues.

HRPEREAG

RERAES HEREARSHERVFGEMINEE URAEEREHAELHRANUBIANNE FAEEEARY
BEETSHEBBREEMTEUANETNRAREAUE - BAUTEZURBERAINES - AEMAUKED TRE
UEEHENHLRER -

Identification of Key Stakeholders
BARAESDE

Step 1 Determine the Issues
STR1BEEESE
Review the past results of stakeholders’ participation and the Guide on the
Stock Exchange, reporting trends and industry practices to formulate the list of ESG issues.
REBINFENESHERREIMUES) REBR2REZEEN -

LU IR - HERERBEEE -

The Group has reviewed and adjusted its lists of topics and identified 22 issues,
covering three major areas, namely “environmental”, “social” and “governance”.
AEERBREHZEBEEL 7HE
W22 HERE  RE RIR] - [ & [ER] = K&$ -

\/

Step 2 Collect Stakeholders’ Opinion
STH2KRERFHEER

Conduct questionnaires through online platform to enable
stakeholders to score the issues.
ZRALFARBESLSHEE  BEHENSERETD

The Group requests internal and external stakeholders to rate each topic for its impact on
the corporate value (financial materiality) of the Group and the Group for its impact on the
ESG (impact materiality) to determine the overall level of importance of each topic.
AEEBREADRMSFHERSEZELHAEECEEENTE GIEEE NAEEHLZ
B RENTENFE FEEEZWNETTY  UEERERENEREEZMHKTE -

\

Step 3 Identify Material Issues
SRIHBEERE
In the materiality assessment, independent consultants have developed a

materiality matrix and a priority list for ESG issues.
CEEEUTMEFT  BYEBHEEEHEMR
UREE HERELRFENBRIIE -

There are a total of 5 material issues during the Year.
Please refer to the materiality matrix below for detail.
ANELBSHEERS  FBFESRTIEEMAER -

\4

Senior Management Confirmation and
Continuous Improvement

EREEARARSHETE

Topics (in descending order Topics (in descending order
of importance) Level Materiality of importance) Materiality
S REEMEFHS) &5 EEH S REEMREFHS) EEH

Quality and safety of product and Training and development
service EHRER
[=] =
ErNBHEERZ S Privacy and data security
Responsible marketing and labelling HhENZER2 Levelll  Secondary
ARENEHNER Levell  Important Risk management RAI= RE
Protection of intellectual property rights %;}‘uj’ue_ mggan BERER
“ & Community enéagement and investment

Occupational health and safety HBZHER
BXRRER2 .

Materials
Labour standards L)
BITER

Water resources
Employment practices KER
{ERER Energy
gomgiance management B
aREE Waste Levelll  Other
Busipegé ethics and integrity BEN FH= Hitr
EREREHE Level Il Secondary Climate change and resilience
Diversity angé qul opportunity RAI= RE KRR LR
RN EHE Greenhouse gas emissions
Customers’ engagement BRERBHER
EFSR Air emissions
Responsible supply chain management BRER
BEENHEESE

Corresponding Chapter
HEEEH
1 Quality and safety of product and service ~ OPERATING IN GOOD FAITH: BEING DEDICATED AND STRIVE FOR EXCELLENCE
ERfREEEEZ2 — WHOLE-PROCESS QUALITY MANAGEMENT
HOEE  BmEE BRRE - 2RREEEE
2 Responsible marketing and labelling OPERATING IN GOOD FAITH: BEING DEDICATED AND STRIVE FOR EXCELLENCE
BEENEHNEE — REGULATE PRODUCT INFORMATION
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A business and working environment with 2 °F ~ J& 8 & & H 19 & p 5
equality, ethics and compliance is the T BR B8 = A 55 T R 5

foundation for the healthy development of I % -
the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group adheres to the three principles of “Virtue”, “Honesty” and “Integrity”, manages its daily operation performance
in a strict and prudent manner, and strictly prohibits any illegal acts such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Also, the expectations to and responsibilities of employees are detailed on the “Staff Manual” and relevant rules to provide
guidelines to their daily work, which set out the Group does not allow any disclosure of trade secrets, abuse of power for
personal gains, abuse or infringement of the Company’s property or acceptance of advantages in the name of the
Company under any circumstances. In addition, the Group has set up a supervision office and has an anti-corruption
officer in place, which both are fully responsible for the disciplinary and inspection work of the Group through assessment
and spot checks. To strengthen the regulatory capacity and scope, any suspected corruption cases can also be reported
by employees or outsiders to the supervision office by phone calls, email or in person. The Group will formulate
corresponding treatment in accordance with the “six-in-one” supervision system and the “one post with two
responsibilities” responsibility mechanism to achieve all-round compliance operation.

During the Year, the ratios of anti-corruption training received by the directors and senior management and manager-
employees of the Group are 100% and 97.4% with average training hours for anti-corruption of 6.0 hours and 4.9 hours
respectively, to remind and ensure compliance with the requirements of relevant laws and regulations as well as internal
policies by internal personnel, hence creating a clean working environment. The training covers anti-corruption and anti-
bribery laws and regulations, as well as case studies of past violations, in which proper ways to handle potential and actual
violations were discussed in particular. During the Year, the Group did not have any corruption lawsuits against the Group
or its employees.

X #1{5

AEBRTE MM ZXREA - UBEKEZENEE  EEAELERR  REFTAHE DR RFREBRETRE
75

EMTREIFMRABRETIAHSTIWHNEURAEME  REAFIFEREMES  ETFREJIBEIAEMBERTHT
HRBEEEKE  REANZEABREIFIAAREE - EARNKIARNMWIWZFE - I FEERBEERLERE
HRE  EBRIERHE  *EAESELRERIF BIRIPAETTEBER EBIRIAETERLZTRRRRE
BERE UMBREEIREE ARESR[U-B AEBRAN-HEE SEMHFERNEE  UEI2HUH

BREE -

RE AEENESRSRERAS  KEFETEIREFEILERDH1H100% K% 97.4% @ FHREFEHIFHD 51 %6.0
PERAINE  DRERERABASHEBEEAZARABERENER  FERZNITFERE - BIRTBERETRR
HEEERES  URBEERTANERTN  ERZERTUAZIZEBEEENERERBR - AF  AEERBLEEM
SHEAEERE THESHFABRML

Disciplinary
supervision

LEEE

Financial Administrative
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CORRUPTION COMPLAINT
HANDLING PROCEDURES
ik B 7

Employees can report suspected corruption cases anonymously or
in real name to the supervision office via telephone, email or in person
EITEBRER EBRFRSOEERAEFERIERERERESRMY

Protection of Privacy and Intellectual Property Rights

The Group attaches great importance to the protection of customer privacy and intellectual property rights, and is
committed to ensuring the confidentiality of all information and the rights of each property holder through internal
procedures such as the “Staff Manual” and “Rules on Management of Retailing Safety”. Our internal procedures stipulate
the staff’s responsibility in keeping information confidential. All staff are not allowed to disclose customers’ or internal
information and data to third parties without prior consent of the Company. Meanwhile, security training and education on
confidentiality are also provided to staff with access to confidential information to raise their awareness towards
confidentiality. No staff is allowed to disclose customers’ personal information without any prior written consent. To ensure
the confidentiality of personal information and data, the Group respects the rights of all companies, individuals and
creators, and expects to respond to the “No Fakes Pledge” of the Hong Kong Intellectual Property Department and to

protect intellectual property rights through internal regulations and external laws.

To further monitor its compliance and confidentiality, if customers or third parties suspect that their privacy or intellectual
property rights have been infringed, concerns or complaints can be submitted through established whistle-blowing
channels, including telephone, email or written requests. The Group will investigate and impose corresponding penalties
according to the reported content.

After receiving the report

BEEREREK

The supervision department will investigate the case

immediately to understand its nature and authenticity In addition to internal potential risks, the confidentiality of information may be affected by network security. To avoid
EERNPSMENAEZRENS  BREMERERYE disturbance arisen by hackers or illegal software causing leakage, staff may download software only with the consent of
the Information Technology Department. At the same time, the Information Technology Department may upgrade the mail
v defense level in various ways including mailbox security verification and phone SMS verification to further ensure network
security and avoid problems.

If the report is true If the report is untrue

MEREE MEHAE AL B2 B sk 25 HE O it
FEFEEREEFBLARABER FHIERBEIFMR(ZER2EENDLADERE REFEEHNETHREE
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Feedback to whistleblowers
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OPERATING IN GOOD FAITH: BEING DEDICATED AND STRIVE FOR EXCELLENCE

We adhere to the corporate motto of
“Never cut corners on labour and quality,
no matter how complex the process or
how costly the materials” and devote

to the optimization of supply chain and

product quality management, so as to
offer diverse, safe and highly effective
Chinese medicine products.

WHOLE-PROCESS QUALITY
MANAGEMENT

Product Safety and Quality Management

Tong Ren Tang adheres to the principle of “honest operation and
morality” as core value of quality management, follows relevant laws
and regulations, and strictly implements targeted internal procedures
such as “Product Quality Standards” and “Regulations on the
Reporting and Monitoring of Adverse Drug Reactions”. The Group
upholds good product quality to ensure all Chinese medicine products
provided to our customers are excellent and complied with relevant
laws and regulations. The Group’s modern Production and R&D Base
in Tai Po, Hong Kong obtained the GMP (Good Manufacturing
Practice) certification for proprietary Chinese medicine,
1ISO22000:2018 (Food Safety Management Systems) and the HACCP
(Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points) certifications, and all
Chinese medicine products produced and sold by the Group are
registered with the Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong and
complied with international and local standards.

To ensure the quality of Owned Products, we adopt a stringent quality
standard. From material procurement, reception and storage,
production and even inspection, we formulate a set of management
and operational guidelines in accordance with the quality requirement
of each process, and stipulate the duties of responsible functional
departments and key personnel so as to ensure that the arrangement
on its production process and product quality are excellent and
complied with relevant laws and regulations.
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Process
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Step 1
Materials
Processing
HEB—

YR EE

Step 2
Production
Figl S
EEBRRE

Step 3
Product
Inspection
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Major Quality Control Measures
TEEEEEEK

Carry out field inspection for the growing, collection and processing environment of raw
materials, auxiliary materials and packaging materials
BEERENE HANEBRMHNES REREERR

Upon arriving at manufacturing plants, materials are subject to preliminary inspection for its
variety, specification and packaging quality etc., and then quality check by quality department
after passed

VHERE IPBREERERENEREES  ARABHEENETEERR

Distinguish and store qualified materials and unqualified materials separately to prevent the
use of unqualified materials during production
BORBILFHREEMASHEOTE  BHLERSBYRRALE

Qualified materials will be labelled with the inspection date, its expiry date and re-inspection
date, and will be re-examined within the month before the review date and those expired will
no longer be used and will be scrapped and destroyed immediately
BRBRESHENYHESELRBEE HEXNORERAD  YREBERSET—EANETER - BB
BRBNBETBEER - L7 BNREHK

Establish guidelines on temperature, humidity and storage environment requirements for the
storage of different raw materials, auxiliary materials, packaging materials and finished
products, and also store in normal temperature storage area, cool storage area and cold
storage area according to its serial number, nature, toxicity and species, to prevent the growth
of micro-organisms and cross contamination

AV FETRRMH B EEMBNAERROES  SFEE REREFFREER ¥R
HiES Bt SHRRERE 2FRREARTE BREFENLSE  BRAEHEY
REXBH

Ongoing monitoring on the temperature, humidity, air pressure and cleanliness level in different
production areas, as well as cleaning the production equipment and measuring instruments
with filtered and purified water or 75% ethanol regularly and evaluating cleanness
FEEETRLEBENERE  RE - ZRBAIRZFE  UREBREAMKE75% cEHERE
ERERERE  RETRFTM

The production area is installed with cleanroom to avoid contamination during production
LEBERARTFE  BRAEEBEI TR

Operators should put on specific work clothes. Different corridors for operators and materials
to enter and exit the production area to prevent micro-organism, particles and other pollutants
from entering the production procedure

BRIEAEEZZEEIFER REAEBERYBMEAEEEHAABBE AREYRBE  DURKMK
EY) - WRNESRYRAREBRE

Stipulate internal quality inspection standard, set out the requirements for the qualification of
inspectors, inspection methodology and inspection equipment

AYABRRESEE  JIBRRBASER RBHE BBERFSER

Set up laboratories with different functions to perform inspection on materials and environment
RETEIDENERE  AEETYRRERRRR

Conduct a comprehensive internal quality inspection on each batch of finished products, and
those related safety projects will be inspected by independent third parties recognized by the
government to ensure the products comply with safety and quality standards in Hong Kong
FEMANEKADYEBRBBATNEZEEERA > HEBNZEHEELCHABRRATNBILE=
FEwRA  UREEBNZERMERZE
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By~ dE KBRS

oD AR MBS o A AR

The responsible officers receive training regularly regarding all the
procedures to ensure a comprehension of relevant requirements.
During the Year, the product quality training covers GMP, materials
management, inspection management, medicine equipment,
manufacturing equipment management, quality standard,
manufacturing techniques, equipment operation, cleanliness and
hygiene as well as employee discipline.

In order to have a further improvement on product quality, the Group
established its strategies on quality development and risk
management, which set out its quality development strategy including
objectives, targets, planning and annual plans for quality control, and
also formulated a series of guidelines and measures to guide all
functional departments in improving their management system on
quality control on an ongoing basis.

Creating a management system
and culture for quality control

BEVEHEBANEEEEX (L

HUBARE AEABATHES N - UHE
REZDBBEEBERTE - AF  Em@EFIE
EGMP - HERE - RREE ERIE RE
REEE HERE -LEIE - BHRBRE-F
BHERABLRESIH -

RE-SREEREE AKETLTEERE
FEBREEERK JAHEASRREK  €FH
EERLH BB REARFESNE UBET
—RIESINER  EEERENERETEL
BEEERR -

Forming a competent team
BEATEEK

e Forming a quality management committee which is e Strengthening the management capabilities of quality

responsible for formulating, assessing and adjusting

the strategies on quality.

RUBEBEEZEE  SEHE  FIMEMNBARESH -
e Enhancing the management structure on quality to

clarify the responsibilities of each working unit so that

control-related technical staff and the training of
technical and operational staff, to build a team with
both quality and quantity.
MEEEEERMAENETEESD  URRKERIEAS
WIEE  BEREHESTFHEE -

a culture for quality control can be fostered. e Developing a more comprehensive mechanism for

TELEEEER  HRIBEANEME MREEEE

talent selection and incentives, which includes the

XAk ° procedures for identifying, training and managing
talents, as well as the employment packages.
TEATEANKBMES  SERE ZENEE &

BEe

Materializing a zero-defect

quality control management
ERTRMEEEE

LERE °

Enhancing the flow of

quality-control related information

nEEEERENRE

e Setting up a zero-defect management panel which is e Enhancing and making the good use of digitalized

responsible for determining objectives for achieving
zero-defect, performing regular assessment thereof
and offering corresponding remedial solutions.
RUYUZTHRBEEE/NEH AERETRBEEEE Y
ETEWE  WRHBESGES R -

* Developing a recognition system to encourage
functional departments and staff to achieve “zero-
defect” and provide suggestions.

BBRREGHE  HEBEDEMNETEE [THRE] K2
HEE -

Enhancing standards on quality control
TEEBEEREE

e Enhancing and adopting a more stringent standard

product management system for statistical and
analytical purposes, and establishing a system on the
reporting and handling of quality control tracking for
the whole product life cycle, quality risks and
pharmacovigilance.
MERZAANAEREEEBRFEETRTRDN -
BUEmZEGBINEERY HERBMENER
B R EEES o

Management of quality risks
EERRER

See “Rules of Quality Risk Management” for details.

that covers the management and control over Chinese HR(EERREERRD -

medicine herbs and raw materials, selection,
cooperation, assessment and review of suppliers,
product quality control and management, and scopes
of retail and medical services, to further improve the
management standards.

TENRAEBRENRE  REPEMREHEE - 4
ErmEE . afF FEIER ERnEE TEREER
RIS &S - E— S RABTEZE -
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The Group has also formulated “Rules of Quality Risk Management” to
further strengthen risk management, eliminate quality and safety
incidents and enhance prompt response to these incidents, improving
operational performance.

In addition, in order to assist consumers in their purchase of authentic
products, our products contain labels applying anti-counterfeiting
technology to eliminate counterfeit ones, further boosting consumer
confidence in the Group.

Risk control
Bk A 2 B 42

Risk analysis

e |dentify and evaluate e Corresponding o
known or potential risks measures are
and assess the extent established with
and impact thereof reference to the extent
Al EETHREBEEN of the risk exposure and
Ak ARFHEHEER previous experience

e BERBREERBELR
RIS FEE e

CREATING A BETTER EXPERIENCE
FOR CUSTOMERS

Improvement on Customer Communication
and Product Recall

The Group produces each product with great dedication and places
emphasis on refined after-sales management, while continuously values
customers’ feedback on the products. Under the basis of the “After-sales
Product Consultation and Complaint Handling Management Rule” and the
“Product Return Management Rule”, the “After-sales Management and
Product Return Procedure” are in place to improve the customer services
quality. If there is any query about product information and usage after the
purchase, or complaint on product quality, durability, reliability, safety,
effectiveness or defects in design, customers are able to make
consultations and complaints through phone calls, emails, written request
or visit our retail outlets in person as well as return the product.

Meanwhile, the Group stipulates the requirement to be complied with
by staff at retail outlets in the “Rules for Management on the Quality of
Retail Services”, which covers courtesy, reception, hospitality,
knowledge of customers’ needs as well as introduction of products.
The Group constantly improves its sales management capabilities at
the retail stores and also provides relevant training to its staff at retail
outlets on a regular basis to retain the high quality and professional
level of products and services provided. Preparing for the new retailing
and consumption patterns of the digital era, the Group diversifies its
sales channels, including the establishment of an online shop on the
Company’s official website to provide customers with seamless
experience both online and offline. Its marketing and promotion model
is innovated, when the integrated online and offline diversified
channels are expanded.

The Group received two complaints on products and services for the
Year. Following our investigation, it was confirmed that there was no
problem with our products, and we had taken appropriate actions and
replied to relevant customers. Furthermore, the Group has no recall
cases due to health and safety concern.

B AEEHET(EEAKREERRD  E—
SNBREFNREABERE BRESKRZEBWH
£ URMESHRBEENREEY  TELER
o

Rtz RMBHBEEBENERER &8
BEREEHARMER UHBREER £
—SMEEEEHANEENEE -

Risk evaluation
2 B R AL

Communicate with relevant functional
departments to master information and monitor
the process of quality risk management and
phased evaluation, continuously improving the
management process and adjusting response
measures
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BABE ~ A R
BAEEE R o WA R

REGULATING PRODUCT
INFORMATION

The Group strictly regulates its product labels and description to ensure
their compliance and conformity with relevant regulations. Also, we do not
tolerate any misrepresentation of drug labels and description. The labels
and description attached to the proprietary Chinese medicine we sold and
exported are in compliance with the Hong Kong Chinese Medicines
Regulation, Guidelines on labels of proprietary Chinese medicines of
registration regulation of proprietary Chinese medicines and Guidelines on
package inserts of proprietary Chinese medicines. The package insert and
description for proprietary Chinese medicine must be supplied with
information such as the names of the main active ingredient, the dosage
and method of usage, functions or pharmacological actions, storage
instructions, contra indications or side effects and the expiry date. Hence,
customers can choose suitable Chinese medicine products to safeguard
their health and safety. At the same time, the product advertising and
promotion implemented by the Group have to comply with relevant laws
and regulation. Any advertisements and labels must be reviewed by the
compliance department before being released to the public so as to ensure
that all information is true, accurate, healthy, clear and without fraud.

If we receive complaints about our product advertisement and labeling,
we shall immediately carry out an investigation to find out the reasons
and conceive solutions and improvement measures so as to avoid the
re-occurrence of similar complaints. During the Year, the Group
received two complaints regarding advertisement and illustration, and
have been handled in accordance with prescribed procedures.

During the Year, the Group adopted the latest NFC anti-counterfeiting
technology for the packaging of the “Tong Ren Tang Lingzhi Vitality
Capsules” to alleviate the shortcomings of traditional anti-counterfeiting
technology. The labelling technology concerned consists of a design of
fragile anti-transfer antenna (B5 % X 4) that would be ruined upon
tearing. It could also enable detection to prevent labels from being
transferred or reused. Customers can identify the product authenticity
through the official mobile application or the WeChat applet.

In the future, the Group will continue to review and optimize relevant
policies relating to product responsibility, and review the internal
control mechanism from time to time to provide customers with
comprehensive products and services.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To ensure the quality and supply of its products, the Group regards the
stability of the supply chain as one of the important factors for its
business development. Effective supply chain management helps
companies ensure that the supply of raw materials and production lines
of products can operate as scheduled, in turn contributing to their
achievement of long-term development. The Group has formulated the
“Procurement Management Rules” and “Suppliers Management Rules”
to provide clear guidelines for requirements and procedures of supplier
assessment and approval.

In order to ensure the performance of existing suppliers meets the
Group’s standard, we will have a regular review on the performance and
product quality of suppliers to protect the cooperative relationship and
ensure both parties are consistent with the contract made. The
evaluation on new suppliers of the Group covers areas including their
production capacity, supply capacity, material quality and reputation and
etc. At the same time, for new suppliers of raw materials and auxiliary
materials, we will ask for a small batch of samples from them and send
the samples to our Quality Inspection Department to undergo a
comprehensive test for ensuring that the active ingredient content,
physical and chemical indicators, heavy metal content, pesticide
residues and beyond meet the Company’s quality standards before we
proceed with the official purchase. In respect of the Group’s suppliers of
major raw materials and auxiliary materials and suppliers of packaging
materials that may have significant influence on product quality, the
supplier evaluation team will conduct sample testing and field evaluation
to ensure the material quality meets the Group’s standard.
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AFTER-SALES MANAGEMENT AND
PRODUCT RECALL PROCEDURES
AR B R o I RS

When the after-sales service hotline or mailbox, or retail outlets receive enquiries, complaints, or

request for product return or exchange and etc. from customers

ERBHEAR  SRBREBERTERREITFNEA R REIBREEHER

Queries about product prices,
discounts, sales or business-

related matters will be sent to
the designated staff of each
retail outlet to directly reply,
or be sent to the sales and

business department to
follow up and reply.

FRERER BE  #HES
EBLEER  $XATE
HRREREAREEDFRER
HHEERFBEHFIRERE -

If the reason of return is
related to delivery or order
error, product will continue to
be sold after passing of quality
inspection.
HEEREABRERTERHR -
EmE W& &8 mERER
SRETSHELE -

If the product is confirmed to have potential
safety hazards or quality problems after
investigation, the case will be reported and the
product will be recalled and destroyed in

Queries about product
indications, usage method
and quality will be directly

replied by after-sales service
personnel or be sent to the
quality assurance
department to follow up
and reply.
TREMBEE - FREER
mESHH - SHERRE
EEASEEOBFRERH
mEREBDHFIREDE -

Regarding the complaint of product
quality, request for product return or
exchange, the quality assurance
department will conduct examination
and formulate measures based on the
actual situations which include sample
check, product recall and etc.
FHEEMEENRE - BEBERE
mERBBEHERETRE

RERBREIEERERKE -
BIERMERRA R
EREMRSE -
« 7,

If the complaint is related to a product causing a customer to

have adverse reactions, the quality assurance department will

handle the complaint in accordance with the “Adverse Drug

Reaction Report and Monitoring Procedures”. If the case is

confirmed to be serious or unexpected adverse reaction,

meeting will be convened and investigation will be conducted,

including inspection of the batch of production record, product

samples and etc.

ERFREFHEREETRRERMN  HEEREBHAR

(BERTRREFENENEERE) RE - EEREER

BEEIFAMOHTRRER  $EHTFBRARAE
BEREZMEETR ERERS -

accordance with laws and regulations.
FERRRAERBEFER2RBEAY
EERE KEEREZELRETERR
EmERHERTAE -

If corresponding adverse drug reactions are
established and updated, solutions and
preventive measures will be formulated,
including revision of product instructions

and etc.
EHEERTRRERILEHRE
HEHIERRS RR AR 1EE
BEETERRAES -
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In addition, the audit team is responsible for reviewing the suppliers o B NEEESEMTFHHERETES
every two years by reviewing various legal licenses, professional EFBEHESNSESERR HXEEEAH
qualified certification documents, etc. of suppliers, as well as XHE FhHERNMHERD EEEEKT
assessing the supply capacity, production management level and MEEEEKF EHREEHE RMASER
quality management level of suppliers. If there is problem in quality, ETRBEN UEREBEHERFELZER W
we would perform re-assessment on the field and request BYUREN > BEEERE > REEKIEER -

improvement or even terminate the business with relevant suppliers if
such improvement is not satisfactory.

The Group understands that identification of environmental and social AEBPARBEEERERIREETERAR > ML
risks in the supply chain as well as formulation of such monitoring RITVHEBEEBRX  EBHRMAHEREER -

policies are conducive to stronger supply chain management. The Group ZAEBERAKRE S ZEBINHEESER
will further improve its own supply chain management and processes in BE NERERERAFSENEE -
the future so as to achieve a more stable and sustainable development.

Number of suppliers by region
2 1 [ 38 3% g 2 I

@ Europe B
A 2022
@ Oceania Y
KN 1% \
@ Americas 31% %
EM 1%
Total #5t: 298 Total #5t: 247

Field audit and
assessment of the
quality of suppliers

Sample testing

During the Year, the Group had a total of 298 suppliers, which are
located in Asia, Europe, the Americas and Oceania. The selection
process established by the Group is applicable to 94.9% of suppliers
for the Year, when the environmental and social risk identification
system and monitoring mechanism are all applicable to all suppliers.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AND
INNOVATION

Keeping up with the development of macro-health industry, we have been
focusing on the scientific development of TCM to promote our organic
growth and continuous upgrading of technologies. During the Year, the
Group continued to develop new products adapted to more diversified
market demand, invest a lot of money and research & development
personnel in this field, such as nourishing of body condition for the
prevention of diseases. In addition, the Group actively advanced its
scientific research on key product categories to facilitate further product
upgrades and future product development.

The Group will continue to adopt “industry-academia collaboration”
strategy through collaboration with world-renowned universities and
research organizations for continuous in-depth researches targeting key
categories, including drug safety, pharmacology and pharmacodynamics.
It is expected that the results of scientific research will contribute a large
amount of quantitative data for the future global expansion of the Group’s
TCM, and will be treated as a foundation for the public in Overseas to
further familiarize with, accept and consume TCM and as technological
and data support for the Group in further expanding its presence in
Overseas markets and reducing potential market risks.

This Year, the Group signed a letter of intent to cooperate with Hong Kong
Baptist University to establish the “Centre for Chinese Herbal Medicine
Drug Development” to cooperate in researches based on Chinese herbal
medicine. It will also combine teaching and research resources to establish
a professional talent training program to enhance the strength of the
cooperation platform, and provide training for local talents studying TCM.

HEMRSEE

B iR

, Bitibs
(Sample testing

is passed)
(BRI EHE)
(Key materials suppliers) A
(BASY R pERY )
Written information
/ such as certificates and
Preliminary review licenses documents I (Non-key materials suppliers)
on suppliers provided by suppliers | GRS LRRS)

HEEENE \ HEFRNEEES
BRI A S EHE R

Suppliers of raw materials,
auxiliary materials and
substantial packaging materials
who first cooperate with us
BREEHNERR - SRR
TEAEMBAES

Approve suppliers and
add in the supplier list
EHHEER

Evaluate and file

records regularly

AL R
SIAEREE

(¥R E B R RE)

RE - RAEBHB28RMUER > 2 MRZM -
BOM - EMRAEM - AEBEARFT LR ERF
ERARAFILINWHER  MEERLTER
AAAAREERTEARAEGER -

B 3% 819

HEEARRESABRRBE  EM-—BEUPBEN
BIERZE N EBEERED D AMBE AR
MRETAR - A% REBEENERFETE
RARBESRFHASRILES  LUDEHRE
ABHE BREARNEZTEER B &
CEEBHENERRBETNMA I HBE
mEEARRERRRER -

FEEREESW NEEER - BREEKA
EERRAREBESHE  HHUHEARESERR
HEZ2M ERBEH ZYEARSESE
FORAWMR - HHEHNBHER  BRHREE
EETBEERCERAENELCLEE  BEH
RPEE-SHBPELE  EIhEHE FHPE
ERURANER  RE-SBALAEBETBEIT
5 0 58 0 M KB T 5 A IR A2 B AR
RIFEHEZE -

RE AEBREBIEREM IO PEAN
MEhL] BEGERAE  UhEEFAER
ETEEME USESEMER BYEXEA
TIHBE URASETENED  AXFEX
HIHEREENAT -

Conduct field
assessment on the
quality of suppliers

bi-yearly
EmEHHER
ETRSEREN

Request improvement
by supplier/cease
business with supplier

(If problems on the material quality occur) ' Eﬂ?{ﬁﬁgﬁﬁaﬁﬁ/

B ERAR L
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED: RESPECT AND INCLUSIVENESS, MUTUAL BENEFITS FOR UNEBA : BEAE » \NFEILH
EMPLOYEES AND COMPANY

: ¢ { . Leave e Apart from local statutory leave, the Group provides additional paid holidays, including
We arc commltted to the COIlCCpt Of % {H %% ru A 74% 2'5: 9 A% :,Ii: Arrangement marriage leave, compassionate leave and home leave, to ensure employees rest well.
. 3 Hy o AEBREBEEMEEBRY  URBINEFHRE  SEER EREKERRS BREIEEE
“people-oriented and mutual benefits WM . AAEA - EK R 2 5 S - ’ LT
for employees and the Company”. SCAY Be Al 28 B AR B IhE 2 SR
s - : . Va ; Diversity, Equal e The Group follows the principle of “distribution based on contribution and equal pay for
People orlented thlnkll‘lg, team culture &m Bﬁ (E8 E Iﬁﬁ : 2&'3 E L ﬁu Opportunity and equal work” and provides equal development opportunities for all employees and
and corporate responsibility principles WRE S P& B EREEWN Anti- applicants. No biased decision are made due to their race, gender, age, religion or other
A discrimination factors that are not related to their ability, qualifications and experience to build an
urge us to pay close attention to staff TAEBRHE o S inclusive and fair working environment.
3 AEBESFREPT BIEM]RE AEEIREEALTRETIENRERE T8
development and create a friendly, equal, FPERE RIEH - 1A 8 RASEMMNED - SRREREENESERRENRE  UERE
healthy and safe working environment for R R 8 BRAFHIARSE -

the employees. e To enhance the diversity of the Board, the policy on diversity of the Group’s Board

members states that difference factors such as gender, age, culture and educational
background are taken into consideration when selecting new directors.
ARABBEZ L AEENESERES UEBRNPRBEFESE - SR - FlR - X
LtRHABESETEARRIAZREBEZF -

EMPLOYMENT SYSTEM i 196 ) JBE

The Group aims to create a friendly, equal, diverse and respectful AEBEERBEIHFERE T St B
working environment for its employees, so as to help them to EHROEMNTARE BHRERE  UWRKE R - . . — — .

. . ] 74 ecruitment e All recruitment, promotion and termination procedures adopt the principle of fairness and
zzflt:rlzz ?:r;rtr:\e;i?it\:::gg;s _}_z:ttGr;c: stha;‘fsr(:t::rt“orswt?nucliattc;sr:::nce BIEENRALEKBRFD - AKERN(EIF Promotion a;'ld openness, and such decisions shall be made based on factors including work

P P : P Y stip ) MYFPAEEENETHN  BEREA  THERHBR Termination performance, attitude and development direction of employees or applicants.
measures and arrangements related to remuneration, recruitment and Ay - o o = S M T R A 31 > =

q ¢ ' : 7 - BAEHERERZH  BETHEBEREIRAD .= FERE - BARBEREYEBEAFAFNEL  ARBEETHEBEALHWIFERR - &

promotion, working hours and holidays in the “Staff Manual”, so that o - e BE - SAKREE B BREAZEEE R .
employees can understand the employment terms and human BRBR 1% = g EMENRES - BEWRE - D AIE
resources policies and protect their own rights and obligations. In BEHNERTHER BT TREEHIE5|I @M
order to effectively review the implementation of the employment KEHFAHERBRERBEBEEE - AEES ® Procedures related to recruitment, promoti(?n gnd termination are specified in the “Staff
system, employees can report employment related matters to ZERE REBEERRE BRHAREHFHE Manual” to help employees understand their rights and relevant procedures.

department managers or the Human Resources Department based on ~ SRV ABEN I ERERLERER « REFREK BREE  EARBEAZCIHIBNCETFM)H - UBET T #E S WEFRBERE

the guidelines. The Group will handle and follow up with their feedback AEBEFRBHERTREFHF(ETEMY UFTS
in a confidential manner to meet the needs of both parties and SEERSENERSIE -

establish a suitable working environment and operation model. In the

future, the Group will continue to review and update the “Staff Manual”

from time to time to ensure our staff of a high standard and compliant

employment system. FrilEE TR & H 55T

Prevention of e No tolerance for the employment of child labour or forced labour in the Group’s operation.
Child Labour and During recruitment, job applicants have to provide identification documents for our
Forced Labour verification and documentation to ensure they are qualified and complied with relevant
laws and regulations.

AEEREIRERCAEMET  ITRBEBRPREREATNSHEAMFLLEFE -
BRETHEEERERNE -

Remuneration e The Group provides a fair and competitive remuneration and benefits to our staff,

and Benefits regularly assesses and reviews the remuneration and benefits policies with reference to
R SR the industry level and practices of each regional market, to improve its arrangement and
requirements. Also, performance-based bonus and awards will be issued according to
staff qualifications, performance assessment and individual or team performance for the
year to support and recognize staff.

FEEREERFHATRTEES  AETRHATEARZHINFHRET - UREHR

e Working hours and job duties are specified on the employment contract. Employees are
only required to perform their job duties thereon and strictly prohibited any forced labour
and job duties mentioned outside of the contract in any form.
FRIFRERBESERYIANERSNT  ETRAFTRETERBIEE - BRELUEM
FRRFEREBIT SN PO ERG R LA BT o

HBR TEERRHERER - RMTSSREINIERE  ENTE BEESRRREMES
REIE - LR R#EE ©

The Group provides comprehensive and regular medical check-up upon staff joining the
Group, also offers basic medical, dental and accident insurance to employees. Staff and
their direct relatives are provided with free Chinese medicine consultation services.
AEBLAETRMUESFZA2AABRENSRRE EXEERINRE EMRBER
BB BERXBEAETRETEAARS -

To take care of the personal health of staff and their families, the Group distributes
shopping coupons for different company products to staff and their direct relatives.
Meanwhile, the Group also provides nursery rooms for its postnatal female employees.
REBEEEIRAIANEARE BETREEREEREREHEHSEARNERBEEE -
B BAMEAEREIRBEWIAE -

To create a relaxing and pleasant working atmosphere, the Group organizes various kinds
of after-work activities from time to time for employees to join. During the Year, the
Company held a small sport competition and various fun quizzes, putting people in the
festive mood.

REERRRMENTEEESE  AEEFEFEREBIREIDEESTILHE - AF » AQFH
Hp ) HEHELURZEABELE  FETURBZEHBNWRFMEE

e In the event that there is any employment of child labour or forced labour, the Group will
handle including reporting to the enforcement branch, assisting the aggrieved employee,
and also taking disciplinary actions in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
MBEBREMEIRRHE THERER  AEESRBBBEEGERERE  SEOBEHBAIR
S MPREET  URKRLERES -

As at 31 December 2023, there are 798 employees in total, and 17 other workers who are not employed by the Group but
are working in premises controlled by the Group, including cleaners, gardeners, fish pond management and security
guards. For the statistic data of employees, please refer to the summarized data of the employees for details.

BZE2023F12A31H AEEHE78EET  FE17TEHEEEINEMEHAERAEEEHNEHRIE EREE
BRI BEI - AMBEERRZAE -EISMRERETHEBASBEAE -
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Number of employees worldwide ¥
ZHRETAE @
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EMPLOYEES RELATED DATA
OVERVIEW FOR THE YEAR OF 2023

..... 809817798798 ‘é’ZﬁfJ?;i;l"gemem

12 EERERERAS
........ @ Employees worldwide
2HET

786

@ Calculated based on the number of
employees as at 31 December of
the respective years

RIEEF12ANBNETABGE
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20234 B T HH BH ¥ bk 40 B

Age distribution

L3 gl

Staff worldwide Directors and senior management
ZRET EEREREEAE
‘ Below 30 years old & ' 40-49 years old

305 AT 40-495%

30-39 years old = () 50-59 years old

30-395% 50-595%
. 40-49 years old 60 years old

40-495% and above
. 50-59 years old 60E AL

50-595%
. 60 years old R,

and above

60 R £

Gender distribution
e 50 53 4
Directors anctj senior
Staff worldwide anaocmen
2RET ESREREEAE
Male

Mal

@ Yor S
Female

Female

. e kg

7.8%
—

1.4%

® Asia @ Americas
M ES)

@ Europe @ Oceania
BOM KM

Ahie

(%)

By~ E KBRS

UANBA : BHAE » AFEILH

Global Distribution of Staff
7 ¥k B T

72.9%

17.9%

Employees turnover rate (%) =
Number of employees turnover

Employees employment/turnover rate by region
of the category / total number

Hic I 3 O BTG 2R B R

30 x at the end of the Year x 100%
23% MEBTHER(ADLL) = ZHEH
19% MAREBTAS,ZERIAFRN
20 BETAH x 100%
12% 5%
p 9% New employees rate (%) =
10 Number of new employees of
3% the category / total number of
0% 0% employees of the category at
0 the end of the Year x 100%

Asia Europe Americas Oceania ABB TR (Fot) = 28
M B =M FAEM BIABE T AR ZERIARE
Employees employment rate Employees turnover rate REYRET AR x 100%
BB B3 EEMALLE

Employees employment/turnover rate by gender and age

PR T B 4 B BB, R LR

%) 55%

19% 19% 21% 17%
20 11% 12% 9 13%  13%
10 5% Vs

6% . g9 5%

Male Female Below 30 30-39 40-49 50-59 60 years old
B fegid yearsold vyearsold yearsold yearsold andabove
30 AT 30-395% 40-495% 50-595%  6OBE ML

Employees employment rate Employees turnover rate
fEERIBER BEMRALE
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BREE - AL LB R
UANBA : BHAE » AFEILH

EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group provides a safe and healthy working environment for
employees and adheres to the production principle of safety and

B TR % 4

FEBAETERIREZZNIHFRE  BEZR
ERELENEERH - AEERB(ZERZ2EE

hygiene. According to the “Rules on Management of Retailing Safety”, RE) JIAIESHIRERZEZEENEE U

the Group lists out the regulations on safety management of

BREBVASITRNERRIZE -

workplaces and warehouses to reduce the risk and impact on the

employees’ position.

Planning
HREl

Health and safety hazard assessment

BREEZ2EEF L

Labour Department and Department of Health conduct regular health and safety inspection
and check-up on employees at Tai Po Production and R&D Base.

BIERAEEEEHMANBEEMBEMETETREEZENRERRSE -

Workplace and storage layout

TERBFERHAE

All workplaces, including retail outlets and warehouses, shall have fixtures required for safe
working practices and have conspicuous safety signs in place. For instance, items shall be
stacked at a safe distance from heat and electrical switches. Adequate firefighting equipment
shall also be available in the warehouses and the operation staff shall be familiar with the
equipment and its usage. Firefighting equipment shall also receive regular inspection and
maintenance performed by designated professional.

FBEXRS  BRZERGRAESEEREFENMENERNZZETER - fl1 UK
RO BB R R EEMAREZEER 2EASBRANERSEN  BREASTEAREE
HBEBRMMERL E  HEBEM T EREATRETBRENRE -

Inflammable items, poisonous and hazardous substances in the Tai Po Production and R&D
Base are stored in designated space and labelled. The storage space is equipped with good
ventilation, smoke exhaust and fire safety systems in compliance with safety standard. A valid
license has been granted to the Group and annual safety and electricity inspection has been
conducted through Fire Services Department to maintain safety.
RFEEMBEMNZRRRESEEVEFTHREENEBZRE - XA EER - ZFHRZE[R
AELZEBREREHE - MARZZHARE AEEFEERNER S FEBEHEETE
ERENRE  URZ2 -

Safety rules and guidelines

Z2HRERES

Based on the requirements of different workplace and job nature, safety rule for our
employees has been developed to stipulate the safe operation procedure for each position,
aiming at minimising the risk of injury and occupational diseases. In respect of retailing, the
Group formulated the “Rules on Management of Retailing Safety”, stipulating the
requirements for safety management in workplaces and warehouses.
RETESHRIEER  Z2RBERABETHE  MAZBUZ2RFES UHIZER
BERMEMERBNRAR EZEHE A5EFNET(ZER2EERE)  JIBIESHIRER
ZEEEWRE °

Execution
HAT

Investigation
B

Establishing safety culture and enhancing safety education

BRZE2NI MRLZ2HE

To enhance employees’ health and safety awareness, we develop annual training plan which
includes monthly training with different themes in accordance with the requirements of the
Hong Kong’s Department of Health. Before the end of training, employees are required to
complete relevant assessments. We will also keep record of the training sessions and
assessment results for each employee to ensure each employee obtains necessary safety
knowledge for the position.

RMBETNREZ2SH  RMNSFUREBFLEBERGFTEFEIIGE  EFEFERAR
TAREENEI - TRIFIA > ETHEEZHEAZR - RATERASULETITHEMSENE
il ERAERSHERNE  BREIEEABEMUAENZZMET IE -

Production employees are exposed to relatively high risk during the operation of the Group.
To ensure that they have sufficient knowledge about factory safety, regular safety production
training will be conducted including standard operation on equipment, safety and emergency
management, fire safety knowledge and system usage as well as traffic and security
management.

SEETRASELETHERSABNE N AEREMAGRENZ2HRE  R24EER
FREEHET WREEREERE . Z2RBESEE  HHABRREER  UARXEMN
BRRELR -

Regular inspection and accident investigation
EHBRERBHASE
Labour Department and Buildings Department conduct regular inspection on safety and

environment in Tai Po Production and R&D Base every year.
STIRREFESFEEPNAHEERREMLNETOTHKERRZERBERER

Health management and promotion

BREEEREE

During the Year, we have arranged several occupational health seminars for employees at Tai
Po Production and R&D Base, which covered scopes of fire safety, traffic safety, public
security management, to teach and demonstrate relevant safety and health actions.

RE S BRMARNBEERNBREHE TR TZAREREELE  SEREHAZE  XBEZR
BEREERE  ARL TEEEZERREDME -

Over the past 3 years (including the Year), there is no case of work-related death and work-
related injury. The work-related injury rate was 0%.
BEAZF (BEAF)  AEETEBERNTIRTRIEER  TEXH0% -
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BREE - AL LB R
UNBA : BHAA » AR

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Adhering to the concept of “business growth driven by talent”, the Group supports talent sustainability and career planning
of the employees to nurture talents and strengthen their sense of belongings. The Company formulates a promotion
system and clear guideline is given to employees through the “Staff Manual”. In order to formulate a suitable development
direction for employees, we evaluate and give feedback on staff performance through regular performance appraisal and
assessment.

At the same time, we specifically design training programs based on the requirements of every position. For instance,
regular trainings on the operation standard of equipment, safety and emergency management, knowledge on fire
prevention and facilities usage are provided to plant employees together with assessments so as to ensure they work with
safety knowledge required by their positions. We also attach great important to providing trainings to retail outlets staffs so
as to provide high quality customer services. We also maintain detailed training records for each employee to assist them
to review their training joined and assessment results. We regularly collect opinions from employees to review and update
the training programs to further improve our approaches of training.

During the Year, the Group provided training for 100% employees, in which male employees and female employees
received an average of 3.4 hours and 3.9 hours of training respectively, and employees at all levels received corresponding
average training hours, including 15.0 hours for directors and senior management, 7.5 hours for managers, and 3.2 hours
for general employees.

Sl B %

FEERNERIATRERR |NWES  XESTRHEBRRRBERD  UEEESAT  ESEINRER - A2FHE
T-EEBAREHNE UBEB(EIFMY AETRMAEES - ﬁﬁmﬁﬂalﬁx&uﬂﬁ&%’f? EMFEETINIERRR
RERE REIRITSENRESS -

ﬁEJtt[ﬁﬂ% CEMTEEERTEEUNEE SR SENZIFE  (INAREEIRHEDNNERRERF Z2RE2E

CEBAERREEASEN XEZER BREICAREUMENZZ2MNETIF BMNFT2ERZTELKKETH
i‘“‘uJII/EEJJ i%?i_ﬂ;ﬁﬁﬂé%‘éllfﬁ&ﬁb RESHENEFRE -SUETHEFMAEIER  HEEBRRMSENE
RERER BBEHMUREETIRR  BMRIRENEZIRNE  UTEEIGEH -

RE AEEZIETHLERR100% ERSHETRLZMETSBIEZ T FH3.4R3.9/PEMNIEI - MEBRAED BIE
ZTHEFYEZINE SREERSREBAEBR 150K - RERAB75PMK  UREASTH3.2/00HE -

Focus of

training Description of training
EAIE R 5 31 4

Working Targeted on job requirements for employees, our staff knowledge on our products and work tasks as
Skills well as their professional skills can be enhanced through provision of different kinds of skill training. For
TER 8 example, trainings on management of manufacturing equipment and sampling are provided.

SHHETHRMER  BRFAENKEINIR  MAHERRTHENRE  SXERESHE @ HINRERER
BHEEREEEI -

Product To enhance our employees’ understanding and performance of production processes and quality
Quality requirements, the Group provides different trainings on product quality.
EmEE AIMRETHEAEREREEERVWIARBERE  FAEERUETEANEREEE -

Health and In order to ensure the health and safety of our employees, the Group provides health and safety trainings

Safety as well as special activities on different topics to teach and demonstrate different exercises for safety

REETE and health to draw more internal personnel attention to occupational health and safety.
ARREINEEREZ2  AEERUIATENRERZZIRREETE  HRNREFEDNZERR
RE)E RENBASHBERREZ2HEE -

New Staff The Group is endeavored to providing an inclusive workplace. As a result, the Group provides induction

MABAS training and career training for new staff every year to give them a hand in understanding their own
responsibility, familiarizing them with the Group’s culture and its core values with the aim of adapting
themselves to new working environment and integrating them into the new organization.
AEEAFERMEFNWIESH - Bt SERREFABE THEIRBSIR  HHHFET THEFHE -
SELANEERS  FEFMASTREABREIN TFERE  BAHES -

7" All employees
2ERET
Training rate
zawk  100%
Total training hours
hours

Bl Aa s 2 944 /N
y :

Average training hours per emplmee

q:i’JEZEIi"*MlHTﬁ 3.8 hours

IJ\ HT

’ Male employees \
BHET \

Training rate

gk 100%

Total training hours I
ours

B 83()

Average training hours per emplowee

PRI 3 400

7 Managerial
grade staff
KERET

Training rate
gz 100%
Total training hours hours

A 563

Average training hours per emplowee

?ﬁﬁﬁaliﬂﬂh&i 75 }(\)Eis

” Directors and

Senior Management
EEREREEAR
Training rate

gk 100%
Total training hourg hours

sy 180 s

Average trammg hours per cmplom

FHELH ATHINE 1§ () hours

/NI

’” Female employees\

ZHET
Training rate
zaex  100%

Total training hours
hours

AR ) 164 i

Average training hours per employee

FERAHTRANE 3 g hous

’ General staff ‘

EXET

Training rate

zas  100%

Total training hours I
ours

RARNE D D51 i

Average training hours per emplovee

FARERLAR 3 ) by

Training rate (%) = Number of trained employees of the category/total number of employees of the Company of the category at the end of

the Year x 100%

ZHILLE(BAL) = ZEANZINETAY ZENAFEREAQRANETHHE x 100%

Average training hours per employee = Total number of training hours for employees of the category/total number of employees of the

Company of the category at the end of the Year

FHERETHEIRH = ZEFNETHEIERY ZEIXFARDANETHEH
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ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT: COMPLIANCE AND PREVENTION,

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Forging the self-discipline of “Dedication A=  [55 HA R > 7
comes from the heart in the steps thatno LA KA1 0 HHEZ M - £
one else can see for Tong Ren Tang”, while %t} 8% & i J5 1R 2 5K K5 4 [7]
we pursue excellence in Chinese medicine W » JR R R ER B HAE -

products research and manufacturing, and
we are committed to take up responsibility
of environmental protection.

Various environmental crises have an impact that cannot be neglectedon &ERBEBKEHEREENBELETRTER
the stability of society and economy. Based on the relevant environmental RS L » AEBELIREAEBREELIRAER

laws and regulations, the Group has formulated the “Measures on the HE(EEEWRBERESTEMRE)  RBLEEW
Administration of Environmental Management Protection of Production BEMWNERYEE - RPEBHEHRYEE
Bases” to regulate the management of emissions at the Production and B BTHNEREERREEIES L2
R&D Base. Through standardising the emission management, REFEEZERERR RN AKEURSER
implementing resources conservation measures and raising employees’ FRAMZEYRPDHERABARERR  FEIMEH AL
awareness, we monitor and continuously optimise our environmental BRESFHRBRERE > RMBTRITEERK

performance. At the same time, with the environmental objectives of WetBIR A RBEB LEBETTE  HERM
improving the efficiency of resource use and reducing emissions, the HE—SHIETRBE - BE - B REKMNARESE

Group continuously evaluates, records and discloses environmental data ~ fI&E R KRE
on an annual basis to review the effectiveness of existing measures, and

plans to engage an independent consultant to conduct assessment in the

future to help us further develop specific indicators for emission

reduction, waste reduction, energy saving and water saving, and

strengthen our governance performance.

EMISSIONS MANAGEMENT P E P

Waste JBE 5
The Group, being well aware of the potential impacts of waste on the FEBRABEENVHRERTENTE  EZEE
environment and social, cautiously treats solid waste arising from its HEEPEENEREY BMEEPEEN

operation. Solid waste generated during the operation is divided into REZVIATEREYR —REFTEEY I
hazardous waste and general non-hazardous waste. In this regard, we ~ $t¥I & BEEWITVEER EEER  BREER
have formulated treatment measures for each category of waste to PEIEEMSIBRBTRE[ME  £F - K&
avoid environmental pollution caused by misclassification or treatment. EENEEBEEWH0S4AH  YRXRHABER
This Year, a total of 0.54 tonnes of hazardous waste generated by the AERE ; RNEENEREEEYL629.1 AH
Group were handed over to qualified companies for processing. Atthe ~ XHE T ERFIUE  FEMNEE o

same time, generated non-hazardous waste of 629.1 tonnes in total

were handed over to local government authorities for collection,

clearing and processing.

WASTE EEZY)
[ ]
#E Total # & Total
Total hazardous Intensity of Total non-hazardous Intensity of
waste generated hazardous waste waste generated non-hazardous waste
FELEERENEE BEBERYEE Rt EERZEE BERRYEE
kY8 0.0004 629.1 0.41
2023 2023 2023 2023
0.42 0.0002 656.9 0.38
2022 2022 2022 2022
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Hazardous Waste BEEEEY

Hazardous wastes such as a small amount of chemicals are generated from the Group’s production process while a
small amount of medical waste is generated from the Chinese clinical services at retail outlets. Paying attention to the
risk of improper disposal of hazardous waste, such waste will be disposed of with proper supervision and disposal.

FEBNEEBRESVECEREEERREY MEEARNTELERBTIRAEZELELBEEREY - RMNBEIFE
EREEERMNVAR ZBZEEERRE  BERERHERY -

Chemicals and other hazardous waste Medical waste
LtERREMEEREY BEEY

Understanding that the chemicals we use in production and The needles used by the Group in Chinese
experiments pose a potential threat to staff and public health and medical consultation and acupuncture fall
pollute the environment, the Group formulated the “Laboratory within the scope of medical waste Group 1
Waste Management Regulations” and control measures, which are — Used or Contaminated Sharps. The
administered and supervised by laboratory management, in “Medical Waste Treatment Procedures”
accordance with “Hazardous Chemicals Control Ordinance” of prepared by the Group complies with
Hong Kong. “Waste Disposal Ordinance” and “Codes

AEBRPEENETERREANLERHEIRARBEB/A of Practice for the Management of Clinical
WEERK  FEHREBERSR - Al 25EEXBEE(ESL Waste”. Our staff at retail outlets are
BREHGRAHE(EREENEERB)REFER  THER required to recap and properly placed

TEBEANEEEHTRES - used sharp needles in medical disposal
bin with special marks to separate from

Toxic and hazardous wastes such as chemical containers and other waste and avoid contact with

waste oil are classified and disposed to specially-marked humans. The sealed medical waste will be

collection containers, which are stored separately in the leakproof, transferred to a licensed medical waste

dust-proof and explosion-proof facilities. Licenses from the collector for disposal. Meanwhile, we will

relevant government authority were applied and such waste is sent submit a relevant application to the

to qualified recyclers for handling. The amount of recycling for Environmental Protection Department for

each time will be registered and recorded. follow-up actions.

LERRE BROEESETRENEIBEEENFIEB K REBRMPEDES RIRE AN B
ERE BIUIGTHRERRE AR  HRERBEBEZSIENSR BEEYE M5 — [KEARZTETEA
e RMEMEBRNKERFRR YBIEHEEENESER 28 o REBKEE B(ENEBRA)R(E
EWENER > SRETETRTEERE - BEEYPEBIFETFARR(BEEYESE
R EERWETAEBHAMNNHEE
The Group also encourages employees to collect hazardous waste 1 ZEZTRASRIEEWERRER W

such as ink cartridges and used batteries, and recycle them and HibEE o Mo BEAEBHKE - 8T
hand them over to independent professional recyclers to reduce ZHBREYE  BREEBEBEYRERS
the impact on the environment. EE RN BINEARRRKRBEIMEESR

AEETSBMETWERKE BEEHEFEERY  LETEW 7 BMERE -
RXEBIYEXENEER  UREHRENZE -

Non-hazardous Waste £ E EEY)

The Group’s daily operation generates non-hazardous waste such as packaging materials and domestic wastes.
By reducing waste at source, the Group supports reusing and recycling resources, and strives to reduce the
non-hazardous waste generated by the operation. During the Year, the Group recycled 0.41 tonnes of paper.
AEENWRREEELORBNRETUREEZTEEY - AMETRERE  XHFBRBAREREW  BLEE
FImRNBEERY - NF - AEEEIKRT 0.41 WA °

Waste generated from production

Domestic waste

process and packaging materials SRR
EERBREEMAMELEWIR
The Group adheres to the approach Food waste generated from the canteen of the Tai Po Production and
of “purchase on demand”, where we R&D Base is collected and stored at designated rubbish bins to be sent
purchase packaging material based and disposed by our collector. The qualified collector will regularly collect
on the production volume of our and handle sewage and waste oil being discharged from the kitchen to
products accordingly. Employees at the grease traps subsequently.

Tai Po Production and R&D Base are AEEUSBIERBRERRFABEEREEMRENELS  THREEER
encouraged to reuse resources, and B . FEHFRERBLAS KR RIRAEERREREHRERZERE -
prevent willful discard of recyclable

waste such as newspapers and Meanwhile, office staff are encouraged to reduce using as well as making
paper boxes. Employees are best use and recycle any single-use items by types:
required to collect and separate FEF - EMHBRLEETRD—XMERARNER - URYBEAM D E@UL :
recyclable waste, which will be sent . . .
to waste collector for recycling. e Establish a new electronic system, e Collect paper and deliver it
NEEBRERERE | WEL - & adopt electronic communications to to independent
ERAEENEABEHENaG RN reduce printing . professional recyclers for
% T:z{:%ﬁim j;ﬁ;g?ﬁggﬁg BUHNEFRA  BTEFILBE - follow-up processing
ITSEAEE X IEEESamEIRE B BIED WEMRS - XEE YR
Y NBEREE- B HAER | |, i Il i 7 A 12 AR R
= Use both sides of papers and reuse
ETWERSEAERIWESREY  BXR ingle-si ;

pres i single-side printed paper
R R AR A EReEYH  EREEA
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

During the Year, the Group consumed a total of 242.6 tonnes of packaging materials, which consists of 83.7 tonnes of
paper, 112.3 tonnes of metal and 51.18 tonnes of plastic. Total consumption for the Year decreased by approximately
28.4% compared to that of the last year.

RE > REBHEE 2426 AWEEMR - EFEIESI.7AMAKER - 1123 ML BERS1. 18 AMER - XREFHHEEG L
—FETHEH28.4% -

PACKAGING MATERIALS® & 4151

#& Total

Total Packagin
Matericﬂg ¢

Plastics 22} SEANAE

51.18 yZYAL:

2023 2023

142.5% 39214

2022 2022

Papers #E5& Metals €8

83.7 112.3

2023 2023

114.5 135.1

2022 2022

tonnes ‘AW tonnes AME

0.16 0.23@

tonnes ‘AW tonnes ‘AW

Intensity of packaging materials
(tonnes/HK$’ million of revenue)

BERMBERE am gEsiun) 2023 2022
@ It only includes the operation sites involved consumption of packaging materials.
REESREEMBHENEEY -
@ In 2022, the amount of consumed plastic packaging materials is restated to 142.5 tonnes; and therefore the total

packaging materials is restated to 392.1 tonnes and the intensity of packaging materials is restated to 0.23.

R2022F  BHFEZENEEMBEREFTH142500  ANESEMPLESMA392. 120 URBEMHEESF1H0.23 °

Wastewater

The sewage generated by the Group mainly covers production and domestic sewage, which is discharged through the
pipelines laid by the government to the fixed sewage treatment system, and is regularly collected and sampled by the
relevant authorities. At the same time, in order to reduce the impact of sewage discharge on the environment, we conduct
random inspections at the Production and R&D Base for a period of five years to ensure that it meets the standards and
further monitor the quality of sewage.

At the same time, the equipment, containers and tools produced are cleaned and disinfected using the self-produced pure
water and the concentrated alcohol in the factory. The cleaning and disinfection process of drug equipment are completely
free from any cleaning agents, ensuring that the discharged water is “zero residual and zero pollution”, reducing the
damage on environmental pollution from the pharmaceutical process to the minimum, and the production equipment also
uses food-grade lubricants that are easily decomposed to reduce pollution.

5K
AEBEENSAEITEREEEREERA MBS KOCHRRRRNEEHREETSARRREL - I 4H0 BT

WERMERR - B BRESKERERBEERNTE  RMAUEFA—EEY  REERREMETRR  BREST
B E-SHEESKES -

YRR £ENRE TR ITEOEAREARAKRCARFRENERETIERES EBERNRBEEERES
BREATETEAEMERE  BRELNAKIZRE  T5R] EREBRHBESRNEETRERIZE  MEER
BRRARS BN RREFEBE NI TR -

Carbon Emissions and Air Pollutants

Same as last year, the Group commissioned an independent consultant to conduct a carbon assessment for the Year to
quantify the greenhouse gas emissions (or “carbon emissions”) generated from its operations. The quantification process
was conducted with reference to “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Group’s total carbon emissions were 2,005.3 tonnes CO, equivalent. The Group’s carbon emissions
mainly come from the use of purchased electricity in Scope 2, which accounts for approximately 89.7% of total emissions,
followed by the business travel by air in Scope 3, which accounts for approximately 4.5% of total emissions. The total
carbon emissions for the Year increased slightly by approximately 2.5% compared to the last year, mainly due to the
increase in carbon emission related to business travel by air.

B BT B 22 S5 D
HEF B AEEENBIMMETAE 2B UBCEBEEOREAMIR (BB - RILHBRSEH
RACOMEHRE  HEREARS) 2 (FH=  RABRANSEERES) -

RE AEENABRERB2,0053 M _ALRES - AEEANHRIREIEREBE2ZHBELIRA  HRBKRED
89.7%  HAKEEI 2 REBB AR ,%'J{E%#FHEE’M.S% AEEBBRIRB L - FEBHLEAN25%  TEZRRERD
BREERE 2 BPERE FTIE M o

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

#& Total

Direct emission Il 1
of greenhouse gas

HERERBHN

115.6

2023

124.4

2022

Indirect emission ll 1
of greenhouse gas
BB = R

1,798.7

2023

18157

2022

indirect emissions . 1
of greenhouse gas

Hit R = REHN

921.0

2023

16.9

2022

Total greenhouse
gas emissions
BEREBHHAE

2,005.3

2023

- 19570

2022

tonnes of CO2 equivalent tonnes of CO2 equivalent tonnes of CO2 equivalent tonnes of CO2 equivalent
AWM= tiEE NE—SLHEE AW —FtiEE AEM—FLRES

6 Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions 'I 3 1.1
. °

‘ a (tonnes of CO: equivalent/HK$’ million of revenue)
BEREHRZE cw-atnEs GEETEA) 2023 | 2022

) e e e e o o e U oo o e e o o e oo e e e e e e e

0.1%

@ Fossil Fuel Combustion — stationary source
e BB E — BER

@ Fossil Fuel Combustion — mobile source
fERRBIR I — BER

@ Cooler air-conditioner Business travel by air
BRERE b Tap N3
@ Purchased electricity () Others: Fire extinguishing system,
HNEBE S drinking water usage, sewage discharge
Al B A RS 89.7%

RIKEEA S5KEEK
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Air pollutants are mainly generated from emissions from gasoline and diesel burned from vehicles operating in each
operating sites, liquefied petroleum gas consumed by cooking herbs in Asia operating sites, the burning of natural gas by
cooking herbs in the Americas operating sites and the burning of natural gas in Europe for heating purpose.

For the purpose of reducing carbon emissions, the Group encourages its employees to replace business travel with video
conference or teleconferencing, to use more public transport and switch off idling car engines. This Year, nitrogen oxides
and respiratory suspended particles has increased compared with last year, mainly due to the increase in diesel
consumption and liquefied petroleum gas used in stoves. The decrease in sulfur oxides consumption compared with last
year was mainly due to the decrease in gasoline consumption.

ZRFANEIBFEASLERNWERREVEMEH  TNEERREEMERRCAAR TNEBERIEEMRERR
R URBMEERRERARSEENHER -

BROBHN FAEESDETUASAEREENAREFBHST  SRHEAARBTARFERL A% - AALWNT
WABTR T —FE LS E R h s R AU AL G B RO T R0 o BB L — R - EBE A
AEHD -

GAS EMISSIONS® Z= & 3 4®

Nitrogen oxides Sulphur oxides Respiratory suspended particles
7] =Rl ARABTHT

146.4 | . 0.6 | os 12.1 | 59

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
kg T5= kg T kg T5=

(5)  Scope 1 includes direct greenhouse gas emissions from fuel (5) HE1EERABERRBERLCABIRMRAR  URB

combustion of liquefied petroleum gas and natural gas, as HEMRETHAMEHNEZEBREREHENR - 2B
well as mobile sources of gasoline and diesel. Reference is MEFRE HERERAEE) 2(HE=  REBREN
made to “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: ER2E RIS DI )R(2006 EIPCCRIFEERAEBEIEmE)

Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by
the Stock Exchange and “2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories”.

6) Scope 2 includes indirect greenhouse gas emissions from 6) HE2BREEF=ZFBESINEBERZERBHENK -2F
purchased electricity from third parties. Reference is made to BRI CI I EEBRE dEREABRE) 2 (M= B
“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting RHEREMESERIES ) PEARLANMBEERREL
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock (CEBRERBHEMZE R EHEREERRERE (2022F
Exchange, the revised instructions of “Corporate Greenhouse BETR))) (BREER)BITHER S L EYFFEHINE
Gas Emission Accounting Methods and Reporting Guidelines REFRHE -

for Power Generation Facilities (2022 Revision)” (Draft for
Comment) issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the People’s Republic of China, and the electricity or grid
factor for each operating site location in the course of
calculation.

(7) Scope 3 includes other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (7) HESEEEBEESNEERKRSKMENENRE

from electricity for the treatment of water and sewage and BRTHEMEEZEIEREHR 2B IA(OMEE
business travel at the Hong Kong operation site. Reference B fERERRE)2(MHE=  REBERENERE
is made to “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: $RIg3I) o

Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by
the Stock Exchange.

®) Includes air pollutants from the combustion of diesel and 8) BEREBEHRELBATE UARBERCEBEREMX
gasoline of vehicles, and combustion of liquefied petroleum RREENERSTEY - ERHERDAHERR FSEH
gas and natural gas. Air pollutants emission and emission A EHEE HEREBRE) Z(HE=  BIEB
factors are calculated with reference to “How to prepare an BEMISEERIES), PEARENBEERBENR(ER
ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on HBBERRSENHIRBFERHEMER) REEARRRE
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange, the (ERSRNFERRBFMIGE -

“Technical Guide for Preparation of Air Pollutant Emission
Inventory for Road Vehicles (GBI # B BB KX RIS RMHERE
B R EIHATIER))” of the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the People’s Republic of China, and the
“Compilation of Air Emissions Factors” published by the
United States Environmental Protection Agency.

RESOURCE EFFICIENCY

Resources Conservation

The Group fully understands that energy and water are valuable natural resources on Earth shared among humans, and is
committed to protecting its supply through different means and mechanisms in response to the concept of sustainability. This
Year, each operation sites of the Group obtained water from local governments, and did not encounter any difficulties in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. We pay great emphasis on electricity and water conservation and require the employees
to be prudent in the use of electricity and water resources without wastage. The Group has implemented a series of measures
to enhance resources efficiency and established an e-document system to further reduce resource consumption. Among
which, as energy consumption is the primary source of the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions, we will continue to focus on
and strive to enhance the energy usage efficiency at the Production and R&D Base, offices and retail outlets.

FEBRBERRBKDIRBRTNERER  FREAENAZER  UFHIEBTRENASAREHRELHE  UEET
FEENER - AF  AEEREESTAKREERRF  YERBEAKRLEEARE RMUERFORERAK B
REIRKAERA HBRENERR - ARECER —RIIRABZRUEBNER - URITEXHEF LRS- E—TRLE
FRHVHRE - Ep - ERERERRTRERERBHRNEIERER  EMAKEERIABSIRALENREL BAERTE
R IR B REIR £ A R o

Primary measures to enhance resources efficiency and minimize carbon emissions

RABRBRBR RO BEHRNERHE T

Tai Po Production e The air conditioning and lighting system of the Production Base are set at day or night
and R&D Base modes to reduce the energy consumption during night time
K R i SEEMNEARBHARGRAERKREER  BOREERERE

e |nstall timers along the corridors, the surroundings and the concourse of the Production
Base
REEEMER  ABRAERIEHE

* Maintain energy consumption at a reasonable level based on the production requirement
RBEEER  GEHZHAE

e Turn off all electrical, air conditioning and lighting appliances before leaving for the day or
when not in use
RTHRBEACASEEAERE ZARBHARS

e Regularly check and maintain energy-consuming production equipment to sustain its energy
efficiency
EHRBERBEREEERRE  URFHRRNE

e |nstall information card for production equipment to make it easier for professionals to
perform regular monitoring and follow-up
REERBRERBERES  HEEXASEHENRRE

e Take into account the actual needs of the environment, timers are installed for outdoor
advertising signs so that the signs are turned off for a designated period at night
ZERSRFE  AFNMBREHRIFEE  REEREFRER

e Maximise the use of natural light and adjust lightings based on sunlight conditions
BERAAARAX HERRAZBRPEARZEZE

e Adopt energy-saving lamps with higher energy efficiency
ZASERAAENEEER

e Regularly perform inspection and maintenance to ensure proper functioning of water
equipments and pipes
EMRENREAAREREE  BREFEE

e Regularly collect and inspect the electricity and water usage for analysis and response
EHWENBRRAERAKELMES M RE

e Select and plan carefully the type of green plants around the Production and R&D Base
REBERFAIRGFEEMZE BB RZCENWESR




ESG REPORT
ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT: COMPLIANCE AND PREVENTION,

BREE -~ A g RER R

R - P TR PREIRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Primary measures to enhance resource efficiency and minimize carbon emissions

1R R X am ROR D Bk PR B e

Hong Kong Office e The air conditioning and lighting system of the office are set at day or night modes to

and Retail Outlets reduce the energy consumption during night time

BEERAER MAZEMNZHARBRRSERBBARREER B REEIRERE

TERIm

e Set air-conditioning system to maintain indoor temperature at 25.5°C
REZFARSMERFERNRE 25.5°C

e Regularly educate the employees on the importance of energy and water conservation and
saving

EHPE T RN KNEEY

¢ Place different green plants in office to improve the air quality and relieve the monotony and
weariness from work

RPAZREZTBZCEY  URTZRRER TFEFTRNERERE

e Remind employees to turn off all equipment, air conditioning and lighting appliances before
leaving for the day or when not in use
RIETIRTURBAEARBEMERE ZARRARS

e Maximise the use of natural light and adjust lightings based on sunlight conditions
BERAAAKX AEBRARBHAGRZEZE

e Adopt energy-saving lamps with higher energy efficiency
BASHRYNENGEEER

e Regularly collect and inspect the electricity and water usage for analysis and response
TEH U SR M AR AR P B % FA K B BAE B AT e 88

During the Year, the Group’s total energy consumption was 4,525.7 MWh, and the total electricity consumption was
4,059.8 MWh. Other energy consumption included liquefied petroleum gas, natural gas, gasoline and diesel. The Group’s
electricity consumption mainly comes from Hong Kong operations. During the Year, the total energy consumption has
decreased slightly by approximately 1.6% as compared to the last year, mainly due to the decrease in consumption of
electricity, gasoline and natural gas.

RE > KEBNEREAEERI525.7KEE  BREETEH4,050.8RK - HEREABFERLAME - XRAR - AR

el AEENHETZEREEBER AFERREAEER L —FEEBHTHEN1.6%  TERARED - ABRRATHE
BIRD ©

ENERGY USED geiR A

# & Total
s Il
Liquefied Total energy
Gasoline Diesel petroleum gas Natural gas Electricity c:)bn‘sumphosn
S5 65 LS N Eh RERAREE
161.5 66.2 22.5 215.7 @ 4,059.8 @ 4,525.7
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
215.1 28.7 0.03 250.2 4,065.7 4,559.7
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
MWh MWh MWh MWh MWh MWh
KR RF JKFLRE JEFLRE JKFLE KR KB
Intensity of energy used 3 o
(MWh/HK$’ million of revenue) ® 2.6
BERME AR E ckmm mmsun) 2023 2022

Use of Water Resources

The Group’s water consumption is mainly from manufacturing, sales and office operation, and has no difficulty in acquiring
water resources as needed. During the Year, the Group’s total water consumption was 29,926.4 m® and the water intensity
was 19.6 m¥/HK$ million of revenue. Compared with the previous year, the water consumption of this Year has increased by
approximately 21.3%, which is mainly due to increase in consumption of water as needed in each operating site’s businesses.

7K TR0

AEENKEREAIERELEE HERRQ  YARAEREARIBEAKROEE - 26 KREENBIEKES29,926.4
NFEREAFEER196UF K/ BEEBTRA - HEE—FE  AFHRKELAN213%  TEHNEARSEERNES
FEMmMAKAEMEM -

USE OF WATER RESOURCES® K& BR{FEH©

#E Total @

Total water consumption Intensity of water
B KB consumption

FEKZRE

29926.4 19.6

2023 2023
24,669.2 14.3
2022 2022
m3/HK$’ million of revenue
m? I J52K MK BEBITRA

© As water resources of its offices, warehouses and some operating sites in Hong Kong are managed by property management offices or there are

no physical operating sites, the data only covers some operating sites.
HAREBPLAE RERBIEEHNKERAVECEREENAEEREEY  HBERARENSEEY -

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group complies with relevant environmental laws and regulations in its daily operations, and regularly monitors each
operation site to ensure that its emissions comply with statutory requirements. Although the Group’s daily operations do not
directly have a significant impact on the environment and natural resources, as stakeholders in the society are paying more
attention to sustainable development, the Group plans to consider reducing the impact on the ecological environment from
the perspective of product life cycle, e.g. reducing the waste generated from product disposal, and avoiding the irreversible
impact of hazardous and non-hazardous waste generated from operations on the surrounding environment and ecology.

CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group understands the relationship between climate change and society and business operations. In addition to the
environmental changes caused by climate change, such as increased frequency of typhoons and rainstorms, which have brought a
survival crisis to the natural ecology, it also brings risks and changes to the society and daily operations. As its impact gradually
increases, we understand that identifying and effectively managing climate-related risks and opportunities is an essential element of
achieving stable and sustainable corporate development. This Year, the Group commissioned an independent consultant to initially
identify industry-related climate risks related to its own business based on international climate change risks reports and peer
climate risks. In the future, we will further analyze the correlation and impact of climate risks on our business, identify and formulate
response measures, and will formulate supervision mechanisms and policies in the future to improve the stability of our operations.

BB M R A& W

AEEEAREEPHTAMABNEALS EHNERELEY BREFNNASATER - BEAEEN R EER
HESUHBSRAREREREANE  EMENS ARG EMARMTRARR AEESHARERESBNAE
EEAEHEEBENTE WAL ERRBELNEEY BRREETELNAEREEFENAARBER LB R
FABRNEE

Rk 52 AL

FEEPARMRB(CEGEEREBLENER - BRTHIFNBRRAROBEINEENRARENSRESLAARERTR
EFEEE TRAMERARFLETRARKRES  -BEAZEZH LR KAMBORNLARMEERREBERBNEER
ERBERURFENCERRPAIARRN -0 - 2F - FAEEAZTH BB ZRERRIGERERKREREERRRDRE -
ALZHBER FEBENTERBRERR - EARARGE-— SO AERRABREEBNBBMERASE BRI LE
g WHTEBRHREE  RABSEENRES




ESG REPORT

SERVING SOCIETY: CREATING HEALTH, SHARING GLOBALLY
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We are committed to the corporate spirit
of “Nurturing kindness and virtue,

Preserving tranquility and wellness” to
promote healthy life and TCM culture in
the community.

As a time-honored enterprise with centuries of history, Tong Ren Tang
has always upheld the mission and vision of “Healthy Life Global
Choice” to improve the wellness of the community and actively promote
TCM culture across the world. While providing quality medicine
products to the Chinese medicine market, the Group also actively
participates in social welfare. The Group fully carries out the
responsibility of a corporate citizen and gives back to the community.
We leverage our expertise in TCM to facilitate cooperation among
different sectors of community and encourage employees to care for
and serve the community. We promote community investment in four
aspects, including “caring for public health”, “supporting the grassroots
and the underprivileged”, “promoting TCM culture”, and “boosting TCM
education”.

The Group has always paid close attention to stroke, and had held
series of activities on the theme “Show Love and Care to Stroke
Prevention” since 2016, and is dedicated to protecting everyone from
the threat of stroke. This Year, the Group set up a TCM and health
culture centre in Ngong Ping Village, and held the “Eighteen Bronze
Men’s Health and Martial Arts Event” with the aim of raising Hong
Kong citizens’ and tourists’ understanding of TCM culture and
cardiovascular and cerebrovascular health.

Meanwhile, in order to raise public attention and awareness on stroke
prevention, the Group has organized a number of free seminars on
stroke prevention and visits to the elderly. The speaker gave guidance
to the elders to learn Chinese medicine acupuncture massage,
Baduanijin and cardiovascular and cerebrovascular health exercises,
encouraging them to live an active and healthy life, drawing their
attention to the illness, to achieve early prevention, early detection and
early treatment to reduce the chance and mitigate the effects of
stroke.

R 508 - i %
e R A SR A o S R D 4 R
(i LRLYI S UL BE (A

ER-—RBEFEFR  RCE-—BEUTAERE
2HRAZ | AEGHES  RALEREKT L&
BREMERFERETL - AEEEATEHEE
THERHEBEERNER  CEBRINEEA
BEX 2ARTLEARFBEANEME 2
HE - HMEATBENER BREBHELEER
RoOGRETHENRELE -KMEODSEE
BuHERE BEIHEELREER] [HKEER
EE] ThEhBEL IMMESFEELE |-

AEE-ERGRETHEBE - X EH 2016 Fi
RIECEERTR]RIED  ROFEARE
BARNWEE - AF AEERBIHITERED
BREEEXAE BT ARABERMAK
g BENRRSEETRERRBERASHNESR
HhBEE L ROMMERRENRE -

BRI BREAQNRE AL P EANBIEMAR
FEBARERSSEGTRANRERREHEEN
RERDED FRENEEEREREZES
BRAURE - NREMNCEONERRED  SB
M REFREBRELEE  BAHTEANELE &
IR RRE - BAEE BREFERNEER
RTINS E -

The Group cares about the health and well-being of the community,
and held the “Tong Ren Tang King of Medicine Festival” this Year. The
Group cooperated with “People’s Place” for the first time to hold an
exhibition on the history of Tong Ren Tang’s medicine in shopping
malls in three locations. Free clinic services by Chinese medicine
practitioners and blood pressure measurement services are provided
on site to offer residents with free health consultation. Chinese
medicine practitioners listen carefully to residents’ health problems
through observation, hearing, asking and caring, and provide
professional diagnosis and suggestions. The Group also held lectures
on Chinese medicine healthcare to share the knowledge and skills of
Chinese medicine, and provide residents with practical health advice
and methods to improve their lifestyle and health conditions.

In order to assist people in need to obtain suitable medical services,
the Group provides free medical consultation services in its stores
every year to provide Chinese medical diagnosis services and Chinese
medicine for different classes of citizens for treatment or physical
fitness. During the Year, the Group has provided free medical
consultation service for more than 350 people.

The Group held various community investment projects this Year,
which not only attracted the attention of major media, but also brought
new information and image to the public, and achieved positive
results.
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

()  Adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues.
REESSHRE HERERBENEE -

(i) The board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses).

BEENRE HEREREELNHRER  SFETE  BRIIRER
EEMNRE HERERHHEE(BEERTAERNAR) HNBRE -

(i) How the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and
targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.
ESENARRE HEREREHESRTER  I@BC MR
TAEBERE -

Materiality: The ESG Report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and

the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; and (i) if a stakeholder

engagement is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified,
and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

EEM R HEREAREERE  ()RNEERE HERERAREMN

BREREESLEERZNED (INBTASETHENESHE  EHINEER

HENRARBTABFOESENBRERER -

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/

or calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the

reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be
disclosed.

Bt FRERFKRE BREA(NBR) MANEE . % BREK L

ETEMNER  URAEANELEZNRRETRE -

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG Report any changes to

the statistical methods or KPIs used (if any), or any other relevant factors

affecting a meaningful comparison.

—EM BTAEERE  HERERRETRESKTHERARERERN

2E (B AIEMEMATEFTERLENEERE -

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and

describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are

included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should
explain the difference and reason for the change.

RBRE HEREABMENERSEE  REAEPLEEIERMARE -

HERERBRENBRE -

Page Index/
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36

36-40

36

34-35, 46-47

34-35, 72

34-35

34-35
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BE - —RIEE
RERERIER

A1. Emissions

23587

General Disclosure
—RIFE

&RE A
General Disclosure
— R E
A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2. Use of Resources

BB~ A g LB R
B R

Page Index/
Content Remarks
AR HBRS A

Information on: 41, 68
FHBERKRERBHN  MARLTHBHES EEREETEEVYNELESH
(@) the policies; and
BE R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BIHBTABEALENHBRAEZERRIINER -
Relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 68-72
R EERAABEERBIE o
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions and | 71-72
intensity.

HiE(BE1) REREE (BE2) RERBEREREE -
Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. 68-69
FELEEEERNEERTE -
Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 68-69
FEEEZERNBERTE -
Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 68-72
BT IR ERBERRESEL B EMRINLER -
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, anda | 68-69
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
WHEEEERBEEERYNSE  REAFMTINREERRAZETELR
TR AT ERER Y 27 B o

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other 41, 68
raw materials.
BEREAER (BIEER - KAREMEME) BBEE -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity. 74
REANESNEER BB EEREAEERTE
Water consumption in total and intensity. 75
BREKEREBE -
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 68, 73-74
them.

WHFET L WEEREA N R B ERBETESLBEMRMMN LR
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 68, 73
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
FERBGERKR EAEEMEE  URATINAKBEEERAEREL
BRI B -

Total packaging material used for finished products and with reference to per | 70
unit produced.
HEmATABEMBNEEREBEESUGE -
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

BERRARER

General Disclosure
—MRIFE

A3.1

A4. Climate Change

RIZE
General Disclosure
—RIEE

A4.1

B1. Employment
=

General Disclosure
— MR E

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment
and natural resources.
BEBITABRERRAARERELERFSENBR -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

MR ER FHUHBRERRARE RN EAYERCRNEEEHTENITE -

Page Index/
Remarks

BERRS|

75

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BAREHORRAIREHRTAEEXENEARRERSENRE -
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted,
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

BHERRITREEHBTAEEXENEAREEESE  REETH -

75

Information on:
FEFHRAE BEREA TS BRHB - FEHE 2ot RER
UREMESEREFN :
(@) the policies; and
BER Rk
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BIUBRTABERLENHEBEIRRAGINER -
Relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical
region.

BRI EREEE  FRANRBEEZ S WESHEE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
BRI FRANRMBEESNEESRKLE -

41-42, 60-61

62-63

63
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B3. Development and Training

BRREI
General Disclosure
—RIFE

B3.1
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B2. Health and Safety

Information on: 41-42, 64
FHRHZE2THFRERREREEREBELREEN
(@) the policies; and
HBE R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BIHBITABEAZENEELEZREANER -
Relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three 65

years including the reporting year.
BE=F (BEERFE)BEFRITHNARERELER -

Lost days due to work injury. 65
AIGEATERY -
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they 64-65

are implemented and monitored.

Bl TR R R ER T 2 UARAEITRERTE -

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties
at work. Description of training activities.
FHRAREBEBTIFEBENABREENBE - HMEIES -

The percentage of trained employee by gender and employee 66-67
category.
REFNRESHENEINZIREETDL
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 66-67
employee category.

EURIREERMNE D  BREETHZ N FIIEH -

41-42, 66-67

B4. Labour Standards

ST
General Disclosure
— MR E

Information on:

BEBLEIRBHZITH :

(@) the policies; and
BE R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BIHBTABEALENHBEEIERROINER -

Relating to preventing child and forced labour.

41-42, 60

Description of measures to review employment practises to avoid child and 61
forced labour.

WS REEANERABEET REHLT -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practises when discovered. 61
BHMERRERBREERBREABRIRRNTSE -
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Page Index/
Remarks
HBRS A

B6. Product Responsibility

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 42, 56, 58-59
ERMHEENIRE R EREBBUE -
Number of suppliers by geographical region. 58
RibBE D HHEBHE o
Description of practises relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 56, 58-59
where the practises are being implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.
WREREREERNES  AEITEREANHRERHE - URMERIT
REERETE °
Description of practises used to identify environmental and social risks along 56, 58-59
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B EEBAEEESERTNREERTERABNES » URBBEHITR
BRI o
Description of practises used to promote environmentally preferable products | 56, 58-59
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
HREREHERSEESARREDRBRBENES  URBEERTRERS
& o
Information on: 41, 43, 51-57
FRERHEERANBRBNRERZ2  ES SRRIABESEURBREEN
(@) the policies; and

BE R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

BIEBRTABEALENHBEEIRREGINER -
Relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 55
health reasons.
EEREEXEREETRR2HRREHMBRKNES L °
Number of products and service related complaints received and how | 55-56
they are dealt with.
EEENERRBBNRFHE UREHGE -
Description of practises relating to observing and protecting | 51
intellectual property rights.
W EE R RENBEREHENED -
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 52-57
HiEEREBERERBKRER -
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 51

implemented and monitored.
BHCHEEERMRERBBRE  URBEATRERSE -
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B7. Anti-corruption
RES

General Disclosure
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Information on:
BEILHE  #$R - MIFRIABEN
(@) the policies; and
HE R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BIHBRTABEARZENHEBEIREREGINER -
Relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practises brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases.
RERPRAHBHTASHEERHIEFLENESHRARGNEE RFAER -
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how
they are implemented and monitored.
WM HEERERET  UREBHITRERESE -
Description of anti-corruption training provided to Directors and employees.
WM ESRE TRUNRETEI -

Page Index/
Remarks
BEWES| fEaE

41, 43, 48

48

48-50

48

B8. Community Investment

HERE
General Disclosure
— MR =

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
FRUMEBZHERTREENTHERTENRREXR IDHEZEBLEN RN
BEK o

Focus areas of contribution.

X HRIEE -

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIHEFMBAER -
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INVESTOR RELATIONS REPORT

MULTI-CHANNEL INVESTOR COMMUNICATION STRATEGY

We believe that expanding our diversified channels of effective communication will help us to streamline our
communication with individuals, institutional shareholders and public investors (collectively named as “investor(s)” in this
investor relations report) and facilitate an open and transparent exchange of information. Investors’ understanding of the
Company’s mission and vision, development strategy, industry competition, and operational and financial performance will
enable investors to make investment decisions in informed circumstances. The Company is responsible for fair, accurate
and timely disclosure of company information to ensure a high degree of transparency, enhance the Group’s attention,
stabilize our relationship with investors, and strengthen the mutual trust.

In 2023, the Group continued to maintain a positive and effective communication with investors who are concerned about
the business development of the Company in a positive and responsive manner. The Group is committed to providing
investors with convenient communication channels and endeavored to ensure that all published data are true, accurate,
clear and balanced. The Group also collected feedback from investors and analysts and reflected the views to the
management and the Board of Directors. We are committed to maintaining a healthy and two-way communication to
ensure investors can fully understand the Group’s long-term development, strategy, industry competition and financial and
operational performance.

INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

The Group strictly follows the principle of fair disclosure to ensure fair communication with investors and the media and
does not selectively disclose significant non-public information to any person. We are very supportive of investor relations
activities. To facilitate the two-way communication with investors, the Group has adopted different ways, including local
and Overseas non-deal road shows, investor meetings, AGM, corporate meetings, conference calls and e-mail
consultation, to closely and frequently communicate with shareholders, analysts and potential investors.

This Year, with the decline in impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, our management also participated in a number of
investment summit organized by the world’s leading investment banks in Hong Kong and Beijing and also organized
one-on-one and group investor meetings, teleconferences and non-deal roadshows in Hong Kong, Beijing and Shanghai,
communicating with over hundreds investors, providing them with a deep understanding of the Group and also
strengthening investors’ confidence in our sustainable development.

The Group has made use of a number of channels to interact with investors and keep them abreast of the Group’s latest
developments.

Non-deal Roadshows and Investment Forums

We held non-deal roadshows after the interim and annual results announcement so that investors can obtain first-hand
information on the latest release from the management. The Group also actively participated in several investment
conferences organized by investment banks of which the management of the Group directly talked with investors and
analysts to share our financial results, business strategies and etc..

Major investor conferences participated and roadshows held in 2023 are set out below:

Ongoing Communication with the Investment Community

B E B R

% IR IE WP 108 R

EMEEARZTCNENEERE YRR LEMEBA BERRERARRKREE R
BREEBERESABIREE)ETHE  E8F  AMNEANERRIR  BEMRRE
EHAKECLEFEGRES  BRER  EABRFERUAZLERMBRRIB2RAEBR
B RMBEREERENBZBERTHEHRERE - AREUQF - ERRERFKEQT
ENAEME URRERSENE  RALKENEIE BEXRMEREENEAR UK
REELHFELNEE -

2023%F AKEERBERAER UEEKENERE BEEE  BARSHEEIQRDER
BRANREENFEENEE - ARERSIBREERAEENBERE  ABIEKRTQ
NERBEIRHEEERY BN FHBLES  FEREHE - AEBTREREER DM
BENRESR  IRZERRRRNAEEERESE - RMNBINREREREANEE -
BARREEHEZAIRBHERAEENRMBEMR - B TERBIRRAZHBHRE
ERR -

B & BRI B

FEEBRKREBLAFHRERL - BRUAFHAIRNEREEREEBE  ETSRENLM
FERALTBEBERFAMER - RMNYUREEFFFH T OXE - AREEREZECHNE
EEE AEEBEAHREASNIRSRE  REESHE  RREFAE - A7EH -
EFSRNEBFBASTANRE  ERR SN RETREEZFRERBENTRN

KE - BEBRFERBENORR AR EEETEETERLESNZEAREREZERER
TERzREEES TASTEHENMMREESE EEEE URERES - 4R
REBHMERZRE  HEFGEREELETERE  BREERAEBRQIANER - MBRE
EHLRFERROED

FEEEBLZRREBEREEEDRR  SREEBELFKARHN BRI A -

TR 5 B TR A E B &

RARTHRFELERGEARTARIBR UERAEOEEENEE BRI L RS
MER  AREERESMARERTARNRAERE - AEAEEENE LERREH
RAME  RMAEAEEAHEE KBRBSBHEH -

MR2023FBHEFTEREEFRERBETZHENT ¢

Month A {7 Event 51§
March= 8 Investor conferencei® B &R E

Post-results non-deal roadshow3£4&1% JERX 3 &
August/\ B Post-results non-deal roadshow#4& % X 5 B &

Post-results non-deal roadshow3£4& % JEXRX 5 &
Post-results non-deal roadshow#4& % 3R 3 &8
Post-results non-deal roadshow3 &% 3E X 5 B E
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TR EREEFEFESEFESEEEFEFREFRFRFEEEESEFSEFEREFRFREFEFESEEEFSEGEFREFRFREREFERFEEEEFRFREFRFRFREEEEREEREEEE

Share Performance i fH % 3l MARKET DIVIDEND PER SHARE
CAPITALISATION ™ AND DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO
i i B Bk B BE R
Closing price as at 31 December (HK$ per Share) 1146 1342 815 1176 1232 1062 1048 9.88 10.78 -
N o HK$ bill HK$ %511 %
R12A31 AWM E (BRET) +{%—TE;§K£ BT TR AR
Highest price during the year (HK$ per Share) 1428 1430 1450 1586 17.94 1200 1220 14.82 12.50 12.00 0.30 55
FEESE(BRER) 11.23
' . 11.00 025 50
Lowest price during the year (HK$ per Share) 844 799 775 988 1054 998 755 7.71  9.09 1031
= M — - 10.2
FEBEM(SHER) 1000 9.84 059 020 4
Average daily trading volume (thousand Share) 1,070 1,385 1,531 854 925 469 424 883 1,120
SETHRRE(TR) 900 895 877 889 015 40
8.27
8.00 0.10 35
— 7.00 6.82 0.05 30
X — | I
— ‘ 6.00 000 2

— 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

M Market capitalization are calculated based on the closing @ B Dividend per Share
share price of the Company as at 31 December of the SREKE
respective years. V4 .
HERRISNF 12531 ANALTRAREHHo AV Ay

@ Not included 2019 special interim dividend (HK$0.72 per T 2. b 2
Share) and 2022 special Interim dividend (HK$0.25 per
Share).
TEF2019FE 4B P RS (BR0.7278 T) k20226

l BRI BRE (SR0258TT) -

L

The Group actively arranged various investor relation activities, including telephone conferences with analysts and investor
meetings and etc., in order to keep investors abreast of the Group’s latest updates and business operations. Through such
activities, we not only maintain close contact with investors so that investors can get more in-depth and meticulous
understanding of the Company’s situation, but also collect valuable advice from investors on the Group’s business
strategy.

Timely Response to Investors, Analysts and Media
Our investor relation representative provided detailed and accurate information in a timely manner in response to various

forms of enquiries from Shareholders, investors, analysts and the media via email, fax or telephone.

Besides the above systematic communication activities, the Company website also contains an updated investor relations
section to reach out to the investment community and public with the latest information on the Company. We also promote
proactive communication through direct contact with our investor relations team via email at ir@tongrentangcm.com.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM is a platform for face-to-face communication with Shareholders. Our Board members, senior management,
lawyer and external auditor will attend and answer questions on the performance of the Group raised by the Shareholders.

The 2023 AGM was held at 3 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, New Territories, Hong Kong on 8 May 2023, for
approval of, among others, the re-election of retiring Directors and the general mandates to issue and purchase shares.
Particulars of the major items considered at the 2023 AGM were set out in the circular dated 14 April 2023. All proposed
resolutions were passed by way of poll voting at the 2023 AGM.

The 2024 AGM will be held at 3 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, New Territories, Hong Kong on Friday, 31 May
2024 at 10:30 a.m.

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Connecting with shareholders has always been important to the Company. To foster openness, Shareholders’ meetings
are held to ensure Shareholders can participate in or appoint proxies to hear from and put questions to Directors regarding
the Group’s business performance.

On 14 March 2023, an EGM was held at Meeting Room S226-227 (Harbour Road Entrance), Hong Kong Convention and
Exhibition Centre, 1 Expo Drive, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the purpose of considering and passing the resolutions for the
renewal of PRC distribution framework agreements dated 20 February 2023 entered by the Company with Tong Ren Tang
Group and Tong Ren Tang Technologies, details of which is set out in the circular of the Company dated 23 February 2023.
All proposed resolutions were passed by way of poll voting at this EGM.

On 27 December 2023, an EGM was held at and Room 1405-1409, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the purpose of considering and passing the resolutions for the renewal of exclusive
distributorship framework agreements dated 29 November 2023 entered by the Company with Tong Ren Tang Ltd. and
Tong Ren Tang Technologies, details of which is set out in the circular of the Company dated 5 December 2023. All
proposed resolutions were passed by way of poll voting at this EGM.

B H B AR
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BRERBEASR—EARFERRIANTE  RMNWESSHE - SREBAE - AFREH
ROMBEZHMIEHE  TURRRELERAAEERRWEEFELLDE -

2023 FMEBFAEBEN2023F5 A8 HBREFTBHANF T ERASHIIRLEIT 2023
FREBFAGLBBCEE  HREEERRAESURETRBERA 2 —REELES
Ho2023 FRRBEAG LLEZE2TELHEAFRTRNANE2023F4A14BZBHA ©
FIER2023ERRBFAGLREEZRER  WUREFXNEBEB -
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JBe SR IR &
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TREBIAEG UZETEBEEALARERCERAREICENER2023F11 829
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EREBRRENASEREZRBYURESRNESEB -
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Gu Hai Ou, aged 58, is an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board of the Company. Mr. Gu is currently the vice
general manager and member of Standing Committee of Party Committee of Tong Ren Tang Holdings, and the vice
president of the China Association of Traditional Chinese Medicine, as well as an executive director and the chairman of
board of directors of Tong Ren Tang Technologies (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1666), a
Controlling Shareholder, since 11 June 2019. He resigned as the executive director and the chairman of board of directors
of Tong Ren Tang Technologies with effect from 22 January 2024. Mr. Gu joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group in 1991 and
was formerly the vice general manager, the chief engineer, director, the chairman of board of directors of Tong Ren Tang
Ltd.. Mr. Gu graduated from the Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine in July 1986 with a bachelor’s degree,
and obtained a master’s degree in medical science from Beijing University of Chinese Medicine in July 1991. Mr. Gu holds
the title of researcher and is also a licensed pharmacist.

Chen Fei, aged 53, is an Executive Director, the acting chief executive officer and the executive deputy general manager
of the Company. Mr. Chen was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2020 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director and was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 11 March 2021.
He was re-designated as the executive deputy general manager of the Company on 19 April 2023, and then was appointed
as the acting chief executive officer of the Company on 28 March 2024. Mr. Chen joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group in
August 1994 and formerly served as the manager and deputy manager of Operational Management Department of Tong
Ren Tang Holdings, the deputy manager of Pricing Department of Tong Ren Tang Holdings, the deputy manager of
Economic Operation Department of Tong Ren Tang Holdings and the general manager of Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Thailand)
Co., Ltd.. Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chinese medicine from School of Chinese Medicine of Beijing Union
University in August 1994.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Feng Li, aged 48, is a Non-executive Director of the Company, who was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 12 August 2022 and was re-designated as a Non-executive Director on 13 March 2023. Ms. Feng currently
serves as a non-executive director of Tong Ren Tang Technologies (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1666), a Controlling Shareholder and the deputy general manager and the secretary to the board of directors of Tong Ren
Tang Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600085), a Controlling Shareholder. Ms. Feng
joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group in March 2012 and was formerly served as the manager of the Internal Audit and
Legal Department, the assistant to the general manager and the manager of the Economic Operation Department of the
Company. Prior to joining Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group, Ms. Feng worked as a senior audit manager at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian LLP. Ms. Feng graduated from the Department of International Economics of Peking
University in 1998 with a bachelor’s degree in economics and she is also a certified public accountant in China (non-
practicing).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper, G.B.M., G.B.S., J.P., aged 76, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company on 12 September 2017. Mr. Tsang is Honorary Professor of the Faculty of Social Science of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Tsang currently serves as an independent non-executive director of Kunlun Energy Company
Limited (stock code: 135) which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsang held a number of posts in public service,
including the President of the Fourth and the Fifth Legislative Council of the HKSAR from 2008 to 2016. Prior to his election
as President of the Legislative Council of the HKSAR, Mr. Tsang served as a member of the Legislative Council from 1998
to 2016, representing the Kowloon West constituency from 1998 to 2008 and the Hong Kong Island constituency from
2008 to 2016. He served as a member of the Executive Council of the HKSAR from 2002 to 2008. From 1992 to 2003, he
served as chairman of the Democratic Alliance for the Betterment of Hong Kong. Mr. Tsang was actively involved in the
establishment of the HKSAR. He served as a member of the Preparatory Committee established by the Standing
Committee of the Chinese National People’s Congress in 1996 and a member of the Provisional Legislative Council of the
HKSAR from 1997 to 1998. Mr. Tsang was a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference from 1993 to 2013, a non-executive director of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission from 2001 to 2007, a member of the Executive Committee of the Commission on Strategic Development from
2005 to 2008, a board member of the Airport Authority Hong Kong from 2005 to 2008, a member of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption Complaints Committee from 2003 to 2008 and a member of the Disaster Relief Fund
Advisory Committee from 2002 to 2008. Mr. Tsang also served as a member of the Council of The Open University of Hong
Kong from 1996 to 2005 and a member of the Standing Committee on Language Education and Research from 1996 to
2000. Mr. Tsang obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree at The University of Hong Kong in 1968, Certificate in Education at
The University of Hong Kong in 1981 and a Master of Education degree at The University of Hong Kong in 1983. Mr. Tsang
was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (J.P.) in 1998 and was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star (G.B.S.) in 2002 and the
Grand Bauhinia Medal (G.B.M.) in 2015. Mr. Tsang previously served as an independent non-executive director of DTXS
Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 620) which is listed on the Stock Exchange, his tenure of
office expired on 31 August 2023.

Xu Hong Xi, aged 62, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 13 March 2023. Mr.
Xu is currently the chief professor of Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, the honorary dean of the School
of Pharmacy and the head of Shanghai College Engineering Research Center for Innovative Pharmaceutical Research and
Development of Chinese Medicine. Mr. Xu serves as a distinguished professor of Organization Department of the Central
Committee of the Chinese Communist Party, the first batch “Shanghai Distinguished Expert” and concurrently serves as
the secretary-general of Chinese Medicine Academic Disciplinary Assessment team of the State Council Academic
Degrees Committee, a member of Chinese Medicine Professional Education Steering Committee under Ministry of
Education, a member of Chinese Pharmacopoeia Commission, the chairman of Chinese Medicine Experimental
Pharmacology Branch of China Association of Chinese Medicine, the chairman of Chinese Medicine Professional
Committee of Shanghai Pharmaceutical Association, the co-chairman of International Conference of the Modernization of
Chinese Medicine. Mr. Xu successively served as the scientific officer of Chinese Medicine Research Centre at The
Chinese University of Hong Kong, the deputy general manager and senior medical advisor of Hutchison Whampoa (China)
Limited, a director and the R & D director of Shanghai Hutchison Pharmaceuticals Limited, and the deputy director of Hong
Kong Jockey Club Institute of Chinese Medicine. Mr. Xu graduated from Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine in 1983 and 1989 with a bachelor’s degree and master’s degree, respectively, and obtained his Ph.D. degree in
Pharmaceutical Sciences in 1994 from Toyama Medical and Pharmaceutical University in Japan, and conducted
postdoctoral research in National University of Singapore and Dalhousie University in Canada between 1994 and 1998.

Chan Ngai Chi, aged 52, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 15 April 2013.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan had more than 20 years of financial management, compliance and auditing
experience. Mr. Chan worked in the audit division of PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong and various Hong Kong and U.S.
listed companies. Mr. Chan is currently the chief financial officer and company secretary of International Business Digital
Technology Limited (formerly known as Vixtel Technologies Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1782) which is listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and also a Chartered Financial Analyst Charterholder. Mr. Chan graduated
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in
accounting in 1994 and, also obtained a master’s degree in Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2003
and an EMBA degree from Peking University in 2021.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Wu Wei, aged 583, is the deputy general manager of the Company. Ms. Wu joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group in 2002,
transferred to the Company from Tong Ren Tang Research Institute in 2014, and was mainly responsible for product,
technology development and project management. Ms. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Biochemical Engineering from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University in 1992 and a master’s degree in Medicine from Beijing University of Chinese Medicine in
2007.

Zhang Jiliang, aged 41, is the deputy general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Company in 2015 and
formerly served as the manager of the Business Department, the head of the Innovation Investment Department and the
assistant to the general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the deputy general manager of the
Company in November 2022. Mr. Zhang is the inheritor of Tang Zuxuan, a master of traditional Chinese medicine, a
member of the Smart Medical Committee of the Chinese Association for Atrtificial Intelligence, a licensed physician, and a
licensed pharmacist. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zhang worked as the deputy general manager and marketing
director of the intelligent terminal business department of iFlytek Co., Ltd.. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
communication studies from the University of Science and Technology of China in 2006 and a master’s degree in medicine
from Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine in 2017.

Yang Zichao, aged 40, is the deputy general manager of the Company. Mr. Yang joined the Company in March 2022 as
the assistant to the general manager of the Company and was appointed as the deputy general manager of the Company
in November 2022. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Yang served as the manager of the financial department and director
of China Coal Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Yang is qualified as a Senior Accountant, Chinese Certified Public Accountant
(non-practicing), and International Certified Internal Auditor. Mr. Yang graduated from Nanjing Audit University and
obtained a bachelor’s degree in management in 2006, a master’s degree in professional accountancy from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and CFO Qualifying Training Certificate from the Shanghai National Accounting Institute in 2022.

Wang Nan, aged 47, is the deputy general manager of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang served as a
sales director of the Greater China region and a deputy director of North China region of Suzhou Capsugel Limited under
Lonza Group Ltd. Mr. Wang served as international sales director, general manager of global sales company and different
senior positions in Shijiazhuang Yiling Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, Hunan Er-Kang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Sirio Pharma
Co., Ltd and Midea Group. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree of English Literature from School of Foreign Languages
of Northwest University in 2000 and obtained master of business administration degree from School of Business of

Sun Yat-Sen University in 2011.

Tsang Fung Yi, aged 48, is the chief financial officer and the Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Tsang joined the
Company as a deputy chief financial officer in October 2012. Ms. Tsang was appointed as the chief financial officer and the
Company Secretary of the Company on 21 May 2020. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Tsang worked as a senior audit
manager in PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong. Ms. Tsang graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in accounting in 1998 and is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present the report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing, retail and wholesale of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments. The principal activities and other
particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year, an analysis of
using financial key performance indicators and the future development of the Company’s business are set out in the
sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report. The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group have been set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated income statement on pages
158 to 159 of this annual report.

The Board has proposed a final dividend of HK$0.33 (2022: HK$0.33) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December
2023. Such final dividend will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the AGM to be held on Friday, 31 May 2024
and if approved, will be payable on or before Monday, 17 June 2024 to Shareholders whose names appear on the Register
of Members of the Company on Tuesday, 11 June 2024.

Details of the dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of the dividend policy of the Company are also set out in the below section headed “Corporate
Governance Report”.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the following periods:

(i) from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to Friday, 31 May 2024 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell
Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May
2024; and

(ii) from Thursday, 6 June 2024 to Tuesday, 11 June 2024 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at the address as set out in sub-paragraph (i)
above for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 5 June 2024.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, no transfers of shares will be registered.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had borrowings of approximately HK$0.3 million (2022: approximately HK$0.6 million),
details of which are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in notes 33 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements respectively and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 164 to 165 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the reserves of the Company available for distribution amounted to approximately HK$2,947.9
million (2022: approximately HK$2,630.1 million).

DONATIONS

Cash charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$0.1 million (2022: approximately HK$0.1 million).

TEN YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last ten financial years is set out on pages 6
to 7 of this annual report.

MA]JOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue received/receivable from the top five customers in aggregate and the

single largest customer accounted for approximately 34.9% (2022: approximately 56.0%) and approximately 17.9% (2022:

approximately 23.8%) of the Group’s revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases paid/payable to the top five suppliers in aggregate and the largest
supplier constituted approximately 64.6% (2022: approximately 54.8%) and approximately 34.7% (2022: approximately
20.6%) of the Group’s total purchases, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s top five suppliers include the immediate holding company, the
intermediate holding company and their associates.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in any of the top five
customers and suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group values the contributions of employees. The Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and
motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard. Details are set out below under the section “Emolument Policy” and note
34.16 to the consolidated financial statements.

To maintain its core competitiveness, the Group aims at delivering constantly high standards of quality in the Chinese
medicine products and service to its customers. The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its customers and suppliers to fulfill its long term goals and carefully select (including and taking into
account their financial position, credit history and other factors) our suppliers to ensure our commitment of quality and
ethics to customers. As at 31 December 2023, majority of the Group’s trade receivables are due within 90 days from the
date of invoices, and credit periods granted to customers, including related parties, normally range from 30 days to 180
days. Details are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its customers and/or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Gu Hai Ou (Chairman) (appointed on 13 December 2023)

Chen Fei (Acting Chief Executive Officer and Executive Deputy General Manager)

Ding Yong Ling (Chairman) (retired on 31 August 2023)

Lin Man (Chief Operating Officer) (resigned on 12 September 2023)

Yu Jin (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 20 October 2023 and resigned on 28 March 2024)

Non-executive Director

Feng Li (re-designated as a Non-executive Director on 13 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper

Xu Hong Xi (appointed on 13 March 2023)
Chan Ngai Chi

Zhao Zhong Zhen (resigned on 13 March 2023)

In accordance with Article 97 of the Articles of Association, two Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Fei and Mr. Tsang Yok Sing,
Jasper shall retire from office by rotation respectively and, all being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as the
Directors at the forthcoming 2024 AGM.

In accordance with Article 81(B) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Gu Hai Ou, who was appointed as an Executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board on 13 December 2023, shall hold office until the next following AGM of the Company after
his appointment and, being eligible, have offered himself for re-election as the Director at the forthcoming 2024 AGM.

With effect from 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen has resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director, due to
other business commitment and personal endeavours; with effect from 31 August 2023, Ms. Ding Yong Ling has retired as
an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board, due to reaching the retirement age; with effect from 12 September
2023, Ms. Lin Man has resigned as an Executive Director, due to personal endeavours; and with effect from 28 March
2024, Mr. Yu Jin has resigned as an Executive Director, due to personal endeavours.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors, a confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent. A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be found in the Company’s website
(cm.tongrentang.com) under “Investor Relations”.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Executive Directors, Mr. Gu Hai Ou, Mr. Yu Jin, Mr. Chen Fei and Non-executive Director, Ms. Feng Li, entered into service
contracts with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from 13 December 2023, 20 October 2023, 11
March 2024 and 13 March 2023 respectively.

Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper, Mr. Xu Hong Xi and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi, being all Independent Non-executive Directors,
entered into letters of appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from 12 September
2023, 13 March 2023 and 15 April 2022 respectively, unless terminated by either party giving at least two months’ notice in
writing.

None of the Directors has entered or proposed to enter into any service contracts with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 90 to 95 of this annual
report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference to market terms and the performance,
qualifications and experience of the individual employee. The remunerations of the Directors are determined with reference
to the economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each Director as well as their
individual performance. Details of the fee and emolument of the Directors are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the emoluments before tax paid to the senior management of the
Company whose names are listed in this annual report are set out by band as follows:

Emolument bands

[l

HK$#& 7T 0 — HK$E 7T 500,000
HK$3% 7t 500,001 — HK$# 7T 1,000,000
HK$# 7T 1,000,001 — HK$# 7T 1,500,000

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates various retirement schemes. Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in note 34.16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interest and short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)) of Directors
and chief executives of the Company which would have to be notified to the Company pursuant to of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) and required to be entered
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code contained in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Exchange, were as
follows:

Long Position in Shares

Name of Directors Types of interests

E=EB e

Chen Fei R Personal f&.A

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests and short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in shares” above, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective associates has any competing interests which need to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To ensure that the business classification between the Company and the Controlling Shareholders are properly
documented and established, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) in favour of the Company on 18 April 2013, details of which are set out in the Prospectus, mainly to the
effect that at any time until their collective beneficial interest in the equity interest in the Company is less than 30%, each of
them shall not, and shall procure their respective subsidiaries (except through its interests in the Group) not to, without
prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly:

(i) engage in the research, development, manufacture and sales of any products containing ganoderma lucidum or
ganoderma lucidum spores as raw materials in the Non-Mainland China Markets;
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(ii) engage in the research, development, manufacture and sale of any products with “Tong Ren Tang” brands in the
Non-Mainland China Markets, except for the manufacture of the Chinese medicine products for the two independent
third parties in Japan; for the avoidance of doubt and without prejudice to the generality of the Deed of Non-
competition, except for the current excluded business in Japan, engage in arrangement with any other parties in the
Non-Mainland China Markets similar to the excluded business in Japan;

(i)  carry out any sales or registration (new or renewal) for Angong Niuhuang Wan in the Non-Mainland China Markets;

(iv)  engage in the distribution of any Chinese medicine products in the Non-Mainland China Markets, except for certain
existing arrangements as disclosed in the Prospectus; and

(v) carry out any new Overseas registration of “Tong Ren Tang” branded products ((i) to (v) are collectively known as
“Restricted Business”).

In addition, under the Deed of Non-competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders has also undertaken that if each of
them and/or any of its associates is offered or becomes aware of any project or new business opportunity (the “New
Business Opportunity”) that relates to the Restricted Business, whether directly or indirectly, it shall (i) promptly and in
any event not later than seven (7) days notify the Company in writing of such opportunity and provide such information as
is reasonably required by the Company in order to enable the Company to come to an informed assessment of such
opportunity; and (i) use its best endeavours to procure that such opportunity is offered to the Company on terms no less
favourable than the terms on which such opportunity is offered to it and/or its associates.

The Directors (including the Independent Non-executive Directors) will review the New Business Opportunity and decide
whether to invest in the New Business Opportunity within thirty (30) business days of receipt of notice from Controlling
Shareholders.

Tong Ren Tang Holdings has also granted the Company rights of first refusal to acquire its interest in Beijing Tong Ren
Tang Hong Kong Medicine Management Limited, Beijing Tong Ren Tang (UK) Limited and Beijing Tong Ren Tang Tai Fong
Co., Ltd. on terms which are not less favorable than the terms it wishes to sell to other parties.

In this connection, the Group adopted the following corporate governance measures to manage any potential conflicts of
interest arising from any future potential competing business and to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders:

(i) the Independent Non-executive Directors shall review, at least on an annual basis, the compliance with and
enforcement of the terms of the Deed of Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders; and

(i) the Company will disclose the review by the Independent Non-executive Directors with basis on the compliance with
and enforcement of the terms of the Deed of Non-competition in its annual report.

In monitoring the competing business of the Parent Group, an executive committee (the “Competition Executive
Committee”) comprising two disinterested Directors, namely Mr. Chen Fei and Mr. Yu Jin (appointed on 20 October 2023,
and then resigned on 28 March 2024) as at 31 December 2023, has been established with the following major
responsibilities:

(@) conduct quarterly inspection of the distribution channels of the Parent Group, including retail stores and wholesale
customers, to check whether any products containing ganoderma lucidum or ganoderma lucidum spores as raw
materials (other than GLSPC) is sold in the Non-Mainland China Markets; and

(b)  conduct quarterly communications with representatives of the Parent Group to confirm whether their research and
development portfolio has any products which contain ganoderma lucidum or ganoderma lucidum spores as raw
materials.

A supervisory committee (the “Competition Supervisory Committee”) has been established, which comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper (Chairman), Mr. Xu Hong Xi (appointed on 13
March 2023) and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi as at 31 December 2023, with the following major responsibilities:

(@) meet quarterly and review the quarterly inspection record and daily communication records by the Competition
Executive Committee (if applicable); and

(b) report findings during its review of the records provided by the Competition Executive Committee to the Board which
will be published in the Company’s annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Competition Executive Committee, they are not aware of the distribution channels of the

Parent Group selling any products containing ganoderma lucidum or ganoderma lucidum spores as raw materials (other
than GLSPC) in the Non-Mainland China Markets for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, the interest of the persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO and entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to
the Company were as follows:

Long Position in Shares

Name of shareholder

REREE

Tong Ren Tang Technologies E{=E &H%
Tong Ren Tang Ltd. " F{ZE & HO

Tong Ren Tang Holdings @EM{=Z &£ @A 7@
Notes:

(1) Tong Ren Tang Ltd. directly holds approximately 46.85% of the issued share capital of Tong Ren Tang Technologies. Accordingly,
Tong Ren Tang Ltd. is deemed to be interested in 318,540,000 Shares of the Company held by Tong Ren Tang Technologies.

) Tong Ren Tang Holdings directly holds approximately 52.45% of the issued share capital of Tong Ren Tang Ltd. which in turn directly
holds approximately 46.85% of the issued share capital of Tong Ren Tang Technologies. Tong Ren Tang Holdings also directly holds
approximately 1.34% domestic shares and H shares in total of Tong Ren Tang Technologies. Accordingly, Tong Ren Tang Holdings
is deemed to be interested in 318,540,000 Shares of the Company and 281,460,000 Shares of the Company held by Tong Ren Tang
Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd., respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall under
the provisions of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, certain of these transactions also constitute connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into a number of connected transactions/continuing connected transactions with the connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company. The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

(1) PRC Distribution Framework Agreement with Tong Ren Tang Holdings

On 2 December 2019, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Holdings entered into a PRC distribution framework
agreement (the “Existing TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement”) that Tong Ren Tang Group
(collectively refer to Tong Ren Tang Holdings, its subsidiaries, its jointly controlled entities and its associates, other
than Tong Ren Tang Technologies and its subsidiaries) acts as a non-exclusive distributor of the Group and would
purchase the Owned Products (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 2 December 2019) from the
Group and then distribute the same to retailers or end users in the Mainland China for a period from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022.
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Tong Ren Tang Holdings is the ultimate Controlling Shareholder and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Existing TRT Group
PRC Distribution Framework Agreement for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are
HK$273,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), HK$296,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the
PRC) and HK$322,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), respectively, which have been revised to
HK$363,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), HK$430,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the
PRC) and HK$470,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), respectively. Details of the revision of the
annual caps under the Existing TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 6 November 2020.

As the Existing TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the Company
entered into a renewed PRC distribution framework agreement on 20 February 2023 with Tong Ren Tang Holdings
(the “Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement”) to renew the PRC distribution arrangement
for a further term of approximately three years ending 31 December 2025. Pursuant to the Renewed TRT Group PRC
Distribution Framework Agreement, the Company had agreed (i) to sell the Products (as defined in the
announcement of the Company dated 20 February 2023) to the Tong Ren Tang Group and the Tong Ren Tang
Group may, by acting as the non-exclusive distributor of the Group, distribute the same to, among others,
distributors, retailers or end-users in the PRC or use them for the purpose of production; and (i) to expand the scope
of products to be sold under the Existing TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement by adding Chinese
Medicine Products (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 20 February 2023).

The annual caps for the transactions under the Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement for the
years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are HK$330,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC),
HK$380,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC) and HK$436,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC),
respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed 5% and
the annual caps is more than HK$10,000,000, the Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting, announcement, circular and annual review
requirements as well as the independent shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules. Details of the Renewed TRT
Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 20 February
2023.

The Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement was approved by the independent Shareholders
in the EGM held on 14 March 2023.

PRC Distribution Framework Agreement with Tong Ren Tang Technologies

On 13 May 2020, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Technologies entered into a PRC distribution framework
agreement (the “Existing TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement”) that Tong Ren Tang Technologies
Group (collectively refer to Tong Ren Tang Technologies and its subsidiaries (either directly owned or indirectly
owned), other than the Group) acts as a non-exclusive distributor of the Group and would purchase the Relevant
Products (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 13 May 2020) from the Group and then sell the
same to distributors, retailers or end users in the Mainland China or for the purpose of production for a period from
13 May 2020 to 31 December 2022.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies is our Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the Company for the
purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Existing TRT Tech PRC
Distribution Framework Agreement for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$50,000,000
(exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), HK$57,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) and
HK$65,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), respectively.

As the Existing TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the Company
entered into a renewed PRC distribution framework agreement (the “Renewed TRT Tech Group PRC Distribution
Framework Agreement”) with Tong Ren Tang Technologies on 20 February 2023 to renew the PRC distribution
arrangement for a further term of approximately three years ending 31 December 2025. Pursuant to the Renewed
TRT Tech Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement, Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group (collectively refer to
Tong Ren Tang Technologies and its subsidiaries (either directly owned or indirectly owned), other than the Group),
as a non-exclusive distributor of the Group, would purchase the Products (as defined in the announcement of the
Company dated 20 February 2023) from the Group and then distribute the same to, among others, distributors,
retailers or end-users in the PRC or use them for the purpose of production.
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The annual caps for the transactions under the Renewed TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement for the
years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are HK$74,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC),
HK$85,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC) and HK$98,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC),
respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed 5% and
the annual caps is more than HK$10,000,000, the Renewed TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting, announcement, circular and annual review
requirements as well as the independent shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules. Details of the Renewed TRT
Tech Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 20
February 2023.

The Renewed TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement was approved by the independent Shareholders in
the EGM held on 14 March 2023.

New Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements with Tong Ren Tang
Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd.

On 6 November 2020, the Company entered into exclusive distributorship framework agreements (the “Existing
Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements”) with each of Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren
Tang Ltd. whereby TRT International Natural-Pharm, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was appointed by
each of Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group (collectively refer to Tong Ren Tang Technologies, its subsidiaries and
its associates (other than the Group)) and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group (collectively refer to Tong Ren Tang Ltd., its
subsidiaries and its associates (other than Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group and the Group)) as the sole
distributor of Tong Ren Tang branded products in Non-Mainland China Markets for the period from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2023. TRT International Natural-Pharm would purchase Tong Ren Tang branded products from
Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group and distribute them to the Non-Mainland China
Markets.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. are both the Controlling Shareholders and hence are
connected persons of the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions under
the Existing Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and
2023 are HK$53,700,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), HK$61,800,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in
the PRC) and HK$71,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) with Tang Ren Tang Technologies, as well
as HK$86,200,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), HK$99,100,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the
PRC) and HK$114,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) with Tang Ren Tang Ltd., respectively.

As the Existing Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements expired on 31 December 2023, the Company
entered into new exclusive distributorship framework agreement (the “New Exclusive Distributorship Framework
Agreements”) with each of Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. on 29 November 2023 to extend
the exclusive distributorship arrangement outside the Mainland China for a further term of three years ending 31
December 2026. Pursuant to the New Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements, Tong Ren Tang
Technologies Group (refer to Tong Ren Tang Technologies and its subsidiaries, other than the Group) and Tong Ren
Tang Ltd. Group (refer to Tong Ren Tang Ltd. and its subsidiaries, other than Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group
and the Group) appointed TRT International Natural-Pharm, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as their sole
Overseas distributor for the distribution of the “Tong Ren Tang” branded products and/or Chinese medicine
products supplied by the Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group or the Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group in the markets
outside the Mainland China.

The annual caps for the transactions under the New Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements for the years
ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 are HK$49,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC),
HK$55,800,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) and HK$63,600,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the
PRC) with Tang Ren Tang Technologies, as well as HK$111,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC),
HK$120,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) and HK$130,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the
PRC) with Tang Ren Tang Ltd., respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed 5% and
the annual caps are more than HK$10,000,000, the New Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements as
well as the independent Shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules. Details of the New Exclusive Distributorship
Framework Agreements are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29 November 2023.

The New Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements were approved by the independent Shareholders in the
EGM held on 27 December 2023.

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023

EHE A

B ZE2023% 2024 F R 2025F 12 31 Bt EERBEAT L RZECERZHR D
ERBBETZXZHNFE LR 2 5 A74,000,0008 T (RE P EEER
85,000,000t (R & FEELEFR) & 98,000,0008 T (& FEIEER)

HREELRN-—ENZEBEAEILLR (BRILLRKRIN BB BEE LREB
10,000,0008 7w - AMER B - ERFEFESHERGRARASIRZHEAEF LD
BAWEAR A% BR FTEBERBIRIHMERTE - BIRCENKDED#H
ERBENEEHNADNT20283F 2208 2D ER

HETRCENRPEIHERBHEESN2023F3 A 14BRTHRREIAE LE
NAEE L RRAE o

B[] 4 3 Ao 5 B [l A~ 5 M A T 0 0 K 8 8 R

HR2020F11 A6  AARHERCERREERCERG DRI LB REHEER G R
((REBRLHELBR])  BCENEEE BRCERE HMBARAREBEA
FEERAER))RECERNVER GRCERS  EMNBLATAREBEA (FEER
CEMNEEERAER)) HZEAQRAZEMBLARRCEBRBREEN 2021 F1 A1
HZE2023F 12 A31 BAFHFERAMTSERCEREERNBEREHE - BC-EER
EERRCENEEERFA CERN EERER CEREERY S HEFTE AT

B o

ECENRRECERMHYABEZERER  AEBETRAMERADANEEAL - B
F20214F 20225 K 2023 F 12 A1 AL EERBEREBREHERHRET 2R
SHNEELRS BIER-ZR$%553,700,0008 T (R&HEEEH) - 61,800,000
BT (REPEEES) R 71,000,0008T (FETEEER  UREBCERNGA
86,200,000 7T (T & B % {& %) + 99,100,000 T (T & & B #& & H) &
114,000,000 T (R &P EIEER) °

HREBEEBREHIELBZCN2023F 12831 BEH » A2 A M20235F 11 A 29
FEECENEERCERDINT LT BICHERG R (FBERCHEELRD
#) o M-S EEEE2026F12A31 AL =FEBETREAANBUIIBREHZH -
REFBRCHEELHE  RCENEEER GRCERNERAWBAT  TEEX
ERREACERNEE GRCEROREMNBAT  TEERCENEEERAE
E)ZAAQTA2EMNBLARRCERBREEAELBSIBINEHE » NP E RN
HHSEERCEREEEARRCERGEEN R CE] REERR SBFEER °

BZE20245% 202558 2026 F 12 A1 AL EERBEFBREHEELBZIET 2R
SHWEE LR - BR{ICERE S 51549,000,0008 5T (F&HEIEEH) * 55,800,000
BT (REPEEER) & 63,600,000/87T (FEFEEER URECEROB23E
111,000,000 7t (& 1 B #& & #) - 120,000,000 T(FEHFEEEH) &k
130,000,000& T (R & ERIEER) o

HRFELRN-ERLZEBERTSLR (BRILLERIN BB BFE LRER
10,000,000t > ALLFHBRLHERGBERAS RS HAET EHHRAUNEE - 2
EF FEBZRBIUREMERE - FERLHELEHZNFBHR AR QT 2023 F
11298 ZAER

W B REHEERGHETDN2023F 12827 BRTHRREFI RS LERD T B LR
R o

tRECEREERAIT —T-=FF®% 111



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

(4)

112

Procurement of Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder from Tong Ren Tang Ltd.

On 28 December 2021, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. entered into a new Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder
master purchase agreement (the “Renewed Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder Master Purchase Agreement”)
whereby the Group would purchase Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder, being the raw materials for production of
Angong Niuhuang Wan, from Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group (collectively refer to Tong Ren Tang Ltd., its subsidiaries
(either directly owned or indirectly owned), its jointly controlled entities and its associates (other than Tong Ren Tang
Technologies Group and the Group)) for a term of three years from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024.

Tong Ren Tang Ltd. is our Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the Company for the purpose
of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions under the Renewed Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder Master
Purchase Agreement for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 and year ending 31 December 2024 are
HK$54,000,000, HK$60,000,000 and HK$64,000,000, respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed 0.1% but
less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the Renewed Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder
Master Purchase Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details of the Renewed Angong
Niuhuang Wan Powder Master Purchase Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28
December 2021.

Master Lease Framework Agreement with Tong Ren Tang Holdings

On 30 December 2022, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Holdings entered into a renewed master lease framework
agreement (the “Renewed Master Lease Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which, Tong Ren Tang Holdings
has agreed to lease and procure other members of the Parent Group to lease certain premises to the Group for its
productions and operations so that any member of the Group may continue, amend or renew the existing leases
with any member of the Parent Group from time to time and as necessary for the future business needs of the Group
for a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

Tong Ren Tang Holdings is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company and is therefore a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Renewed
Master Lease Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 and years ending 2024 and 2025 are
HK$21,000,000, HK$4,200,000 and HK$4,350,000, respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio and equity capital ratio) of the annual
caps exceed 0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the Renewed Master
Lease Framework Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules. Details of the Renewed Master
Lease Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2022.
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(6) Advertising Agency Framework Agreement with Tong Ren Tang Century

Adpvertising

On 28 April 2020, the Company and Beijing Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising Co., Ltd. (“Tong Ren Tang Century
Advertising”) entered into the advertising agency framework agreement (the “Existing Advertising Agency
Framework Agreement”) that Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tong Ren Tang
Technologies act as a non-exclusive advertising agent of the Group, to provide the Advertising Agency Services (as
defined in the announcement of the Company dated 28 April 2020) to the Group in the Mainland China for a period
from 1 May 2020 to 31 December 2022.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies is the Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the Company for the
purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Existing Advertising
Agency Framework Agreement for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$6,200,000 (exclusive
of value-added tax in the PRC), HK$7,600,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) and HK$8,900,000
(exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC), respectively.

As the Existing Advertising Agency Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the Company has entered
into a new advertising agency framework agreement (the “Renewed Advertising Agency Framework Agreement”)
with Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising on 22 March 2023 to renew the advertising arrangement, pursuant to which,
the Company agreed to entrust Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising, as a non-exclusive advertising agent of the Group,
to provide the Advertising Agency Services (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 22 March 2023) to
the Group in the PRC from 22 March 2023 to 31 December 2025. The annual caps for the transactions under the
Renewed Advertising Agency Framework Agreement for each of the year ended 31 December 2023 and the years
ending 31 December 2024 and 2025 are HK$8,300,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC, respectively).

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed 0.1% but
less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the Renewed Advertising Agency Framework
Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules. Details of the Renewed Advertising Agency
Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 March 2023.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions are further summarised as follows:

)

©)

©)

Name of connected person Nature of transaction

REALER REME

Tong Ren Tang Group Sales of the Products

BI-Z&E SHEEM

Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group Sales of Relevant Products

B ERHREE SHERBEER

Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group Purchase of Tong Ren Tang branded products
BECEREEE BERICERMER

Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group
FERHEE

Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group Purchase of Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder

BZRHEE BERE4SEY

Parent Group Lease of premises

EE EZN

Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising Provision of the Advertising Agency Services

E{-EttLES RHEESRERY

The price and the terms of the above transactions have been determined in accordance with the pricing policies and
guideline set out in the relevant announcements.
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Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors:

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the Group:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
) on normal commercial terms or better; and

) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company’s auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group on pages 106 to 115 of
this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries. There is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interests in contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business are set out in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual report. Other than as disclosed above, there was no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or
any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with the Director was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. A permitted indemnity provision (as defined
in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in
force throughout this year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group considers the importance of environmental affairs and believes business development and environmental affairs
are highly related. This year, the Group implemented certain environmental protection measures to save energy and reduce
the consumption of resources. These policies were supported by our staff and were implemented effectively. The Board
has also reviewed the 2023 ESG Report. For more comprehensive information, please refer to the ESG Report on pages 32
to 83 of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As a listed company engages business in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to various laws and regulations including
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622), Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310), Inland Revenue Ordinance (Chapter
112) and Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57). Our Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance of the
same. In addition, as the Group also engages business in certain jurisdictions, compliance procedures are in place to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, and in particular, those have significant impact on the Group.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operation units in the Company and subsidiaries from time to time.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of more than
25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have significant event occurred after this Year and up to the date of this report that needs to be
disclosed.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance which it believes is
crucial to the development of the Group and safeguard the interests of the Shareholders. Information on the Company’s
corporate governance principles and practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 120 to 149 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. The Company has not changed its auditor in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Gu Hai Ou
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FPRAMEWORK SHAREHOLDERS

BOARD GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
EEEERER

EERRE Bk

BOARD OF DIRECTORS # %

|
HEGAHTEAG

BOARD COMMITTEES

responsible for the communicating with
external auditors and reviewing of the
Group’s financial information, financial
reporting system, internal control
procedures and risk management system
BEEMNEZHAMBBY ERAEE
BBER - MBRERSE - ARER
BrRREBERGE

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

HHREHE

J

responsible for reviewing the structure, N
size and composition of the Board,
ing the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board as a whole and the management of the Company are
committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Group firmly believes that strict
corporate governance can enhance the Group’s credibility and
transparency, thereby strengthening the confidence of the
Shareholders and investors in the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had complied with
all applicable provisions of the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED
STANDARD OF DEALINGS IN
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all the
Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during
the Year.

Directors
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Executive Directors® Gu Hai Ou (Chairman)® BESES () ™

HITESO Chen Fei iR 7R

Non-executive Director Feng Li® BHR@

FUTES

Independent Non-executive Directors® Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper =Fay24

BYFHTESO Xu Hong Xi® BEEO

Chan Ngai Chi 5k 38 Bty

Audit Committee® Nomination Committee® Remuneration Committee®®
HEHREHFO RAEBREGO HMERFO
Chan Ngai Chi® PR3 Bt Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper® & #E5K @ Xu Hong Xi®® BREEOW
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper E#ERK Xu Hong Xi® BEEQ Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper &85/
Xu Hong Xi® BEEQ Chan Ngai Chi PR3 5ty Chan Ngai Chi 5k 2% Bt
Competition Supervisory Committee® Competition Executive Committee
MPFEEZAEGO BMFRLTREFY
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper® BERRR @ .
Xu Hong Xi® B"EEO SLEgEE PR
Chan Ngai Chi 3R 2% 5t

M Ms. Ding Yong Ling retired as an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 31
August 2023; Ms. Lin Man resigned as an Executive Director and a member of the Competition
Executive Committee on 12 September 2023; Mr. Yu Jin was appointed as an Executive Director
and a member of the Competition Executive Committee on 20 October 2023, and then resigned
from such positions on 28 March 2024; and Mr. Gu Hai Ou was appointed as an Executive
Director and the chairman of the Board on 13 December 2023.

@ On 13 March 2023, Ms. Feng Li was re-designated as a Non-executive Director.

© On 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen resigned and Mr. Xu Hong Xi was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Competition
Supervisory Committee.

@ Being the chairman of the respective committee.
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DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Board consists of 6 Directors, comprising 2 Executive
Directors, 1 Non-executive Director and 3 Independent Non-executive Directors. Details of the composition of the Board
and the Directors’ biographical information are set out on pages 90 to 95 of this annual report, respectively. At least
one-third of the Board is Independent Non-executive Directors of which more than one have appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise. The structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board are reviewed from time to time to ensure it possesses a balance of expertise, skills, and experience that aligns
with the requirements of the business of the Company. The independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors is
assessed according to the relevant rules and requirements under the Listing Rules.

The composition of the Board, by category and position of Directors including the names of the chairman, the Executive
Directors, the Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate
communications by the Company. The Company maintains on the Company’s website and on the website of the
Exchange, (i) an updated list of its Directors identifying their respective roles and functions together with their biographical
information and whether they are Independent Non-executive Directors; and (ii) the terms of reference of the Board
committees to enable the Shareholders to understand the roles played by those Independent Non-executive Directors who
serve on the relevant Board committees.

Board and Committee Meetings

Regular Board meetings are usually scheduled towards the end of the immediately preceding year to give all Directors
adequate time to plan their schedules to attend the meetings. At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each
regular meeting. Board meeting documents including supporting analysis and related background information are normally
sent to the Directors at least 3 days before regular Board meetings.

The Board meets regularly and held 11 meetings during the Year. In consultation with members of the Board, the Company
Secretary assists the chairman of the Board in preparing the meeting agenda, where applicable, matters proposed by other
Directors are included in the agenda. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has arranged for 1 individual
meeting between chairman of the Board and Independent Non-executive Directors. The senior management members are
also invited to join Board meetings if necessary, to enhance the Board and management communication.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors actively participated in meetings and a summary of the Directors’
attendance records in 2023 are as follows:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings HifZ/R 8 23X

Executive Directors Hl{TE%E

Gu Hai Ou EE;ZEe( 1/1
Chen Fei FR 7 11/11
Ding Yong Ling® T k@ 7/7
Lin Man® #k£® 7/7
Yu Jin® &% 3/3
Non-executive Director JEH{TEE

Feng Li® JBF1© 11/11
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTEE

Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper Z &%/ 11/11
Xu Hong Xi® @7"2—;(6) 10/10
Chan Ngai Chi BRER 5t 11/11
Zhao Zhong Zhen® # i #fz6 2/0

M On 13 December 2023, Mr. Gu Hai Ou was appointed as an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board.

@ On 31 August 2023, Ms. Ding Yong Ling retired as an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board.

® On 12 September 2023, Ms. Lin Man resigned as an Executive Director.

@ On 20 October 2023, Mr. Yu Jin was appointed as an Executive Director, and then resigned as an Executive Director on 28 March 2024.
® On 13 March 2023, Ms. Feng Li was re-designated as a Non-executive Director from an Executive Director.

® On 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen resigned and Mr. Xu Hong Xi was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director

and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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The Company Secretary prepares written resolutions or minutes and keeps records of substantive matters discussed and
decisions resolved at all Board and Board committee meetings. These meetings minutes/resolutions:

° contain sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board/Board committees and decisions reached;
o are sent to the Directors for their comments;
. are sent to all Directors/Board committee members within a reasonable time (generally within 14 days) after such

meeting; and
. are available for inspection by Directors/Board committee members.

Important matters are dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than written resolutions only. If a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt
with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up
to deal with the matter. Directors must declare his/her interest in the matters to be passed in the resolution, if applicable.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its Directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities undertaken for the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2023, no claim was made against
the Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Gu Hai Ou, the chairman of the Board, leads the Board in terms of formulating policies. The chairman of the Board
determines the board strategic direction of the Group in consultation with the Board and is responsible for the high-level
oversight of the management. With the support of the Executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the chairman of the
Board ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on all key and appropriate issues in a timely manner. The chairman of
the Board promotes a culture of openness and encourages Directors with different views to voice their opinion and be fully
engaged in the Board’s affairs so as to contribute to the Board’s functions, and he may meet and/or communicate with the
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of the Executive Directors. During the Year, an individual
meeting between Mr. Gu Hai Ou, the chairman of the Board, and Independent Non-executive Directors was held without
the presence of the Executive Directors.

While our acting chief executive officer, Mr. Chen Fei, is responsible for business strategic planning and day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. The Board believes this segregation of duties helps to supervise and balance the
power and authority of the Board and enhances the independence and accountability of the Board.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal

The procedures for appointing and re-electing Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The appointment of a
new Director must be approved by the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship taking into account factors such as appropriate
professional knowledge, industry experience, personal ethics, integrity, personal skills, gender, age, cultural and
educational background. Mr. Gu Hai Ou, who was appointed as an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 13
December 2023, and Mr. Yu Jin, who was appointed as an Executive Director on 20 October 2023, confirmed that they (i)
have obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 18 December 2023 and 20 October
2023 respectively, and (i) understand his obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Article 97 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation will be those Directors who have been
Directors longest in office since their last re-election or appointment.

In accordance with Article 97 of the Articles of Association, two Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Fei and Mr. Tsang Yok Sing,
Jasper shall retire from office by rotation respectively at the forthcoming AGM and, all being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM. By virtue of Article 81(B) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Gu Hai Ou, who was appointed as an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 13 December 2023, shall hold
office until the conclusion of AGM and be eligible for re-election at the AGM. Accordingly, three directors, namely Mr. Gu
Hai Ou, Mr. Chen Fei and Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper will retire at the forthcoming AGM, and all being eligible, would offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has entered into service contracts with each Executive Director and the Non-executive Director as well as
appointment letters with Independent Non-executive Directors. The tenure of all Directors is 3 years.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for sustainable development of the Group. The Board is responsible for
formulating the overall strategies as well as monitoring and evaluating the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions
and disposals, annual and interim results, recommendations on Directors’ appointment or reappointment, approval of
major capital transactions and other significant operational and financial matters. All the Directors carry out their duties in
good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations and pursue excellence in the interests of the
Shareholders at all times.
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Our Executive Directors, together with our Non-executive Directors (including our Independent Non-executive Directors)
offer diverse industry expertise, serve the important function of advising the management on strategies and ensuring that
the Board fufills high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting requirements as well as providing adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Non-executive Directors (including the Independent Non-executive Directors) not only exercise their independent
judgment and advise on the future business direction and strategic plans of the Company, but also review the financial
information and operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

Every Executive Director has hands-on knowledge and expertise in the areas and operation in which he/she is charged
with. Appropriate attention to the affairs of the Company is measured in terms of time as well as the quality of such
attention and the ability of the Directors to contribute with reference to his/her area of knowledge and expertise, and his/
her global perspective. There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their appointment and from time to time thereafter the number
and nature of offices held in listed companies or organizations and other significant commitments, identifying the listed
companies or organizations involved.

Continuous Professional Development of the Directors

All Directors receive comprehensive information on appointment, so as to ensure understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and Directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company also updates the Directors on the latest developments and changes of the Listing Rules and the applicable
legal and regulatory requirements in the discharge of their duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all the Directors actively participated in continuous professional development,
by attending external training or seminars, attending in-house training and/or reading materials on the various topics
covering regulations, corporate governance, finance and business, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills,
which ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Directors have provided records of
training to the Company.
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Zhao Zhong Zhen® #5 i #z®

M On 13 December 2023, Mr. Gu Hai Ou was appointed as an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board. “>

@ On 31 August 2023, Ms. Ding Yong Ling retired as an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board. @
@ On 12 September 2023, Ms. Lin Man resigned as an Executive Director. ®
@ On 20 October 2023, Mr. Yu Jin was appointed as an Executive Director, and then resigned as an Executive Director “@

on 28 March 2024.
® On 13 March 2023, Ms. Feng Li was re-designated as a Non-executive Director from an Executive Director. ®

® On 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen resigned and Mr. Xu Hong Xi was appointed as an Independent Non- ©
executive Director.
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Independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company complied with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least 3 Independent Non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board and they
possess professional qualification and experience in the three areas of financial accounting, social science and Chinese
medicine industry, respectively. All Independent Non-executive Directors also meet the guidelines for assessment of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors makes an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company is of that view that
all the Independent Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

Supply of and Access to Information

Board/Board committee meeting documents with adequate and reliable information are circulated not less than three days
before the regular Board/Board committee meetings to enable the Directors/Board committee members in making
informed decisions on matters to be raised at the Board/Board committee meetings.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the Company
Secretary and senior management of the Company, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations.

The Company Secretary acts as the bridge between the Directors and business units of the Group to ensure that queries
raised and clarification sought by the Directors are dealt with and that further supporting information is provided, as
appropriate.

Directors have been advised that the Company Secretary can arrange independent professional advice at the expense of
the Company should such advice be considered necessary by any Director or any Board committee.

Delegation to Management

Executive Directors are in charge of different businesses and functional divisions in accordance with their respective areas
of expertise.

For matters or transactions of a material nature, the same will be referred to the Board for approval. For matters or
transactions of a magnitude requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules or other applicable rules or regulations,
appropriate disclosure will be made and where necessary, circular will be prepared and shareholders’ approval will be
obtained in accordance with the requirements of the applicable rules and regulations. Specially, the Board has had in place
Guidelines for Investments stating the authority approval limits and procedures.

The Board led by the chairman, is responsible for the Group’s future development directions; overall strategies and
policies; evaluation of the performance of the Group and the management and approval of matters that are of a material or

substantial nature. Under the leadership of the acting chief executive officer, management is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board has delegated the responsibility of performing the corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee, and is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties according to the Code Provision A.2.1, which includes:

(1) developing and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group;

2 reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors
and employees; and

5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Committee on 28 March 2013
with written terms of reference which are available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Exchange. Board
committees report to the Board of their decisions and recommendations at the Board meetings.

Audit Committee

The Board established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee has 3 members (all of them are the
Independent Non-Executive Directors) comprising Mr. Chan Ngai Chi (chairman), Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper and Mr. Xu
Hong Xi. On 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen ceased as a member of the Audit Committee and Mr. Xu Hong Xi was
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to communicate with external auditor; to review the remuneration,
terms of engagement, independence and objectivity of the external auditor; to review the accounting policy, financial
position, the financial reporting system, internal control procedures and risk management system of the Company and
making recommendations thereof.

Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary are circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time
after each meeting. Audit Committee held meetings or made written resolutions in February, April, June, August and
December of 2023.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee during 2023:

1) Reviewed the financial reports for 2022 annual results and 2023 interim results;

) Reviewed the findings, working plan and recommendations of the internal audit department on the work of various
departments and related companies;

3) Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems;
4) Reviewed the external auditor’s audit findings;
5) Reviewed the auditor’s remuneration;

(6) Reviewed the control mechanisms for the risks of different business units and advising on action plans for
improvement of the situations;

(7)  Performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed the corporate governance policies and practices; and
8) Reviewed the connected transactions with the Parent Group.

On 7 March 2024, the Audit Committee met to review the Group’s 2023 consolidated financial statements, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, in conjunction with the Company’s external auditor. After
review and discussions with the management, internal auditor and external auditor, the Audit Committee endorsed the
accounting treatment adopted by the Company, and the Audit Committee had to the best of its ability assured itself that
the disclosure of the financial information in the Annual Report 2023 complied with the applicable accounting standards
and the Listing Rules.

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee therefore resolved to recommend for the Board’s approval the consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 December 2023.

No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company during the two years
after he/she ceased to be a partner of the auditing firm.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.25 to
3.26 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee has 3 members (all of
them are Independent Non-executive Directors) comprising Mr. Xu Hong Xi (chairman), Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper and
Mr. Chan Ngai Chi. On 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen ceased as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
Mr. Xu Hong Xi was appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to make recommendations to the Board and review the
terms of the remuneration package of each Director and member of senior management of the Company and making
recommendations to the Board regarding any adjustment thereof in accordance with the Group’s corporate goals and
objectives; and to review and evaluate the performance of individual Directors. No Director shall participate in any
discussion about his or her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee did consult the chairman of the Board and/or the Executive Directors about proposals
relating to the remuneration packages and other human resources issues of the Directors and senior management of the
Company, including but not limited to, succession plan and key personnel movements as well as policies for recruiting and
retaining qualified personnel. The human resources department provides administrative support and implements the
approved remuneration packages and other human resources related decisions approved by the Remuneration Committee.
The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their respective experiences, responsibilities with the
Group and general market conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee had held 2 meetings to review the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management of the Company, and review and recommend the remuneration of the
chief executive officer of the Company. Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the Rule 3.27A of
the Listing Rules and the CG Code. As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee has 3 members (all of them are
Independent Non-executive Directors) comprising Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper (chairman), Mr. Xu Hong Xi and Mr. Chan
Ngai Chi. On 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen ceased as a member of the Nomination Committee and Mr. Xu Hong
Xi was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee had held 5 meetings to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity) of the Board, recommend the re-appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at the AGM, and
review and recommend the re-designation of Non-executive Director and the appointments of Executive Directors, the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become the Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection and/or
re-appointment of individuals nominated for directorships of the Company and to assess the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors. In reviewing and recommending the appointment of new Directors, the Nomination Committee
would seek to identify the competencies required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. The resume or document
of the nominee or candidate would be given to the Nomination Committee for consideration.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to diversity of members of the Board and the
Nomination Committee reviews such policy periodically. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit
basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
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CRITERIA FOR NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following criteria should be considered by the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board:

. Character and integrity.

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board.

o Requirement for the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence, gender and cultural diversity.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business and succession plan and where applicable,
may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination
of Directors and succession planning.

NOMINATION PROCEDURE OF DIRECTORS
ERRAET

Nomination Committee and/or the Board ﬁ‘\ J

BEZEERk HEES 4
)
-
Q “‘\i
.&»éﬁ!; PRSI

Appointment of New Director ZEHEE
& e Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director and

B B HEEEHEMKENINDEEAE
AHERE o
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BY GENDER BY AGE GROUP
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

Selection and appointment of new Directors and senior
management will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, qualifications, skills, knowledge,
business and related experience, commitment, ability to
contribute to the Board process and such qualities and
attributes that may be required by the Board. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board and the Company.

Directors
As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised 6 male Directors 2=
and 1 female Directors, and having 3 male senior management ® Male ¢ @ Female Zit
and 2 female senior management. The Board considered that the
gender diversity at Board level has been achieved. Senior management
BREEAR
As at 31 December 2023, the percentages of male and female © Male B @ Female &~
in the workforce (including the Directors and senior
management) are 30% and 70% respectively. Details of the
gender ratio and relevant data are set out in the ESG Report of These charts are produced based on the
this report on pages 62 to 63. The Group will continue to information as at 31 December 2023.

maintain the gender diversity in the workforce. WEEREZEF2023F 1231 HWEHHER -

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors are provided with a review of the Group’s major business activities and key financial information on a regular
basis and the management provide all members of the Board with monthly updates of the Company’s performance.

The Board has included the separate statement containing a discussion and analysis of the Group’s sustainability strategy
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Stable and sustainable returns to Shareholders to be our goal of the Company. The Board considered that it would be
prudent and appropriate to target a dividend payout ratio not less than 40%. In deciding whether to propose a dividend,
determining the dividend amount as well as providing relatively steady dividend payout ratio, the Board takes into account
the Group’s earnings performance, financial results, cash flow position, investment requirements, business conditions and
strategies, future operations and earnings, any limit to the payment of dividend and any other factors that the Board may
consider as relevant.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the
Company and the Group. The Board has prepared the financial statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate accounting policies
have also been used and applied consistently. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 150 to 157 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

Details of Directors’ interests in the Shares are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 102 to 103 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tsang Fung Yi is the chief financial officer of the Company and the Company Secretary, as well as a full-time employee
of the Group, discharges the functions of Company Secretary with her professional skill and extensive experience. To
update her skills and knowledge, Ms. Tsang complied with the relevant professional training requirements under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Articles of Association. The Company Secretary reports to the Board and
also to the acting chief executive officer on day-to-day duties and responsibilities. Company Secretary is responsible for
supporting and advising the Board on governance matters. All Directors have access to the advice and service of the
Company Secretary to ensure that board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers in respect of the services
rendered for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out as follows:

& 3B J A HE 2

BEEFEROEBEFFEENAFRE102E103EMNESERE -

Al E

CEELZTALRLARNBEAERARRE  TALASELZBES TAASEXERREELR
BUBITATNERS - B Z2023F 12831 LEEE B+t BT EHEAIFE3.2910
WHEBEEEZIER  UEFEREERAE REZREERE  AARNENEILELES
BitE  AARENESGER YAAEEREATEERAERERSE - 2AREAE
NEAEENESSREIERER MAESYIESQAANEZERNERE  LUERE
EERFRAEEARANBEGIESEST -

1% B il ¢ T

BE2023F 12831 ALFEEN BAADANIERHARIAKESHAEHMAE
HRENMERIIMOT

Amount £
HK$’000 F7& 7T

Serviced rendered to the Company &4~ 2 B Fri2 (RS

Audit services ¥ EIR#S
Non-audit services FE#%ZBRTS
Total #&5t

Fee paid/payable to other auditors were approximately HK$902,000. Non-audit services mainly include tax consultancy
services.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Internal Control and Risk Management System

The Group has set up a risk management regulation and internal control procedure to establish a clear structure and
procedures for risk management and internal control with a systematic and rigorous approach. The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are aligned with the internal control framework of international body consisting
of the five elements, namely, the control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and communication,
and monitoring activities. The Group’s risk management and internal control governance structure is based on the “Three
lines of defense” model comprised of day-to-day operational management and control, risk and compliance management,
and independent supervision assurance.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and reviewing its
effectiveness. The management is responsible for implementing and maintaining a robust risk management system and
internal control procedure to protect the Group’s assets and interests of stakeholders. The Board annually reviews the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, and staff training programs together with its relevant budget of
the Group’s accounting, internal auditing and financial reporting as well as those relating to the Group’s ESG performance
and reporting, and also the satisfaction with the adequacy of the parties concerned.
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Identification, Evaluation and Management of the Significant Risks Procedure

The Board is responsible for determining the Group’s risk profile within the acceptable tolerance levels for significant risks,
overseeing the Group’s risk management framework, reviewing the Group’s significant existing and potential risks and their
response and ensuring risk management effectiveness. The Group has set up a risk management committee. The risk
management committee discusses and collects risk monitoring report through meeting to review the management of these
risks and effectiveness of response, and to constantly monitor the changes in risks.

The Group assesses the existing and emerging risks as well as identifies, filters and prioritizes the significant risks faced by
the Group based on the likelihood and degree of impact of the risks. The Group has adopted a top-down approach to
review and assess if risks are comprehensively identified and prioritised, and properly addressed by the management to
accomplish the Group’s objectives.

This Year, the significant risks identified by the Group included strategic risk, market risk, operational risk, and legal risk.
Certain response measures for significant risks were established, and the relevant functional departments and operation
units performed daily monitoring on the identified risks pursuant to the established risk management workflow and
response measures, and then submitted a “Risk Control Report”, which summarised the overall status of the risks and risk
management activities, to the risk management committee. The risk management committee prepared a “Risk
Management Report” in accordance with the monitoring status of the significant risks and reported to the Audit Committee
by relevant department. The relevant department will also report the significant risks, material changes and the associated
response plans and highlights to the Audit Committee regularly to enhance the accountability and quality of the risk
management programme.

The Group’s enterprise risk management programme is a structured mechanism and a continuous process of identifying,
evaluating, responding, controlling, monitoring and reporting of the risks that the Group faces. The significant process of
the Group’s enterprise risk management is illustrated below:

Risk Risk Risk
Identification Assessment Response

Jl i 1 Jl i Al J i 2

Evaluate, sort and prioritise Formulate the response
the risks faced by the Group measure to the significant
according to the possibility risks assessed

Identify risks which affect the
Group’s goals achievement
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or questionnaires as well as and degree of impact TP A 2 BB K B B o E R
the Group’s strategic direction RIEER LT REE R S 2R it

and business development Er L EEEYNRR - WS
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monitoring results
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Major Risks of the Group  Description of the Risks Control Measure(s)

AEEETERRE LB A FERHEE

Business Structure Risk Business structure risks are mainly industry structure risk. Industry structure mainly refers e The Group actively reviews and evaluates its own products, expedites the formal commissioning of new products,
¥BEBRR to whether the Group’s industry structure of retail, wholesale, production, service, etc. are and increases the number of products that are popular with consumers. In response to changes in circumstances,

reasonable, and whether there is excessive reliance on a single product or service. If
unfavorable factors arise for a single product or service, it may affect the Group’s survival
in the industry.

EBLEBARIEREXSBER  EXERIZRELAEETE M 4FE  RESEX
REREEE  EOBERBE-ERIRY  WEE-ERlRBEHRFTAEE - #7J8E
HENAKEETERER

Macroeconomic Risk Macroeconomic Risks can be divided into three major aspects: changes in the global
TSR economic environment, economic inflation, and the impact of public emergencies on the

macroeconomic. If there are major changes on national economy of the area covered by
the Group’s business, risks of changes in the global economic environment may arise.
Inflation risks may result in inflation, currency depreciation, and a decline in purchasing
power; unexpected social incidents and health incidents may lead to a downturn in the
retail environment, resulting in a deteriorating retail operating environment.
CHRBERB TS REHEERRL - KFER  REQHBHHRBRBLEH =K
FH - EREENEBBERENERSEZEEANS L TRELEZREERZZE
b REBRERUAEEEBENIR - ERE MBEITRE RBLSEHNFHLEES
o SIBRTERRNBSL  BETELERREL -

Policy Risk (Impact on Policy Risks can be divided into four major aspects: Regulations on Chinese medicine
the industry as a whole) and Chinese medicine Industry, Regulations on Food and Health Products, Access and

BERER (HEEERN Registration, and Product Import and Export. The Group’s Chinese medicine products,
e Chinese medicine service, healthcare consultation, and food or health products are

subject to regulatory supervision. If the Group fails to meet the requirements of laws and
regulations, it may cause regulatory risks in the Chinese medicine industry or food and
health products. If the Group misunderstands or is unclear about the market conditions,
standards and approval procedures, or fails to meet the registration/filing requirements, it
may cause access and registration risks. The Group’s import and export activities of the
products are regulated by the laws and regulations of different jurisdictions; failure to
meet the requirements may result in product import and export risks.

BERREBAAL BT EPBITREESR  RRRERES - EARERREREHRADAS
H o AEENTEER - PERY - REZARERIRERIEREE  BEEREFS
ERERER  AARELTEFETEESARRIERRERERAR - EAEEHER
EAEMHISHGRMT - BEREMREF TR - TEWSREEFS TR BRER - 78
EEEARGERER - AEBAEERNWEL UEBZ AR BEERERRE - WREFE
R BEURELERELORRE -

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023

it promptly adjusts the planned production amount and corresponding procurement of packaging material of
products with declining sales or of higher demand. The Group actively adjusts the product structure, including
expansion of existing varieties and increases the presence of locally renowned products. The Group also explores
the “online shopping-mall” initiative, utilizing online ordering and offline delivery services.
REEEBRERFGEEER  MRFEREXNRENEE  BNHEEBRLNERYE  BERENEL R
RRAZHEETERERAEMNEENZEBERABNEEMIREBE  BRARERSE SFLERERER 1B
A EEE  BHh [RLEEH] 58 BERSKLETER TR -

The major measures to the Risks of Changes in the Global Economic Environment: The Group
closely monitors changes in the political and economic situation, scientifically assesses market
risks, safeguards production, exercises cautious investments, and strengthens internal operational
control, striving to minimize the impact of macroeconomic risks on itself.
PREERBECABNTIERERER  AEERIEIBCAKERZEt  BEFET SRR  REE
EEERE UNRARKEER  1ESLEERRYAINEERIRE -

The major measures against Economic Inflation Risks: The Group speeds up the return of funds
while increasing the procurement and reserves of expensive raw materials required for production,
reasonably controlling the cost of capital, improving the efficiency of capital use, and alleviating
the risks of inflation and rising raw material costs.

KEBRERNEZEEER  AEENMRESOERKENEERFTEARMBNRBEN@ZE - SEES
BERA RAESHEARE  SERBERERREMBRAN EANERER

The major measures to the Macroeconomic Impact of Public Emergencies: The Group is dedicated
to advancing the smart retail experience by prioritizing the enhancement of digital marketing,
expanding marketing channels, and introducing innovative marketing methods. By actively
engaging in online sales, diversifying its product range, and intensifying promotional activities, the
Group aims to mitigate the adverse effects of unpredictable social circumstances.

RENAABHHRBLELEARNIERYER  A5ESHHESSTENER  EXMAREHEE
H MREHERE AIHMEHELIR  BEAEEBHEALHEE LERER NAEEEENE  BHRER
ERETENEETE -

The major measures to the Legal Risks of the Chinese Medicine Industry and the Food and Health Products: The
Group prevents risks by collecting and mastering the laws, regulations and policies of the country/region where the
project is located, improving the management system of Overseas companies, strengthening the construction of
overseas product quality control systems, regular auditing and monitoring, enhancing compliance awareness,
introducing talents, and treating contract terms carefully.

FEAETEEIARABERERREREREBRNIZREER  AEEERNEEZREEMETEAR HEZE
BRELARBE  TEEBIVAEEFE  NEERSIERREEHRER  THETEE  BHAREE
AZABIE BEESERGRELT B ERR

The major measures to Access and Registration Risks: The Group dynamically grasps the access regulatory policy
of the country where the project is located, adjusts the product varieties sold in a timely manner; carries out risk
assessment, product registration, packaging design, brand use, etc. in advance; establishes an early warning
mechanism for product access policies.

BEAREMEBNEIEREER  ASEPBEZEREMEEEAEERR  ERARHEERRE  HE
R - RAMRERZM BER  mEERASIAE BYEREABRNEERS -

The major measures to Product Import and Export Risks: The Group pays attention to national and regional import
and export regulations, actively responds to endangered species raw materials policies, prevents and controls
excessive heavy metals and pesticide residues in raw materials and finished products, and ensures that packaging
instructions meet policy requirements so as to reduce product import and export risks effectively.
ERELORBRNIEREEE  A5EEERIBIMGEELOEEER BREHESYERMAN
BE BEREAERRGHNESEREREEREREEIPFEBRERSRELE  FYAREERELOR

P o

tRECEREERAIT —T-_=FFH 143



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Evaluation on the Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
System

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems twice a year, covering the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks, the ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment of the Group, the effectiveness on the measures of
significant risks, the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems,
the duties of internal audit department and its effectiveness, etc..

Based on the results of the above review, for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board considers that the risk
management and internal monitor systems are well effective. Such systems of the Group are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Internal Control

The Company has set up an independent internal audit department which regularly reports directly to the Audit Committee.

The internal audit department is responsible for reviewing all aspects of the Group’s activities, risk management, corporate
governance processes and constantly supervising the work flow and risk assessment of each department of the Group,
and independently assessing the effectiveness of the internal control systems and risk management programme and
providing corresponding recommendations for solution (if any) in order to seek continuous improvement.

Being an integral part of the risk management to provide assurance on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
programme and system of internal control, the internal audit department carries out assessment on the risk management
programme. When formulating the annual project plan, the internal audit department conducts assessment on the Group’s
business activities with significant risks. The Audit Committee reviews and approves the annual project plan and approve
all subsequent major changes (if any) during the regular meeting. In the individual audit project, the internal audit
department will further assess the key areas of strategic, market, financial, operational and legal risks to evaluate the
control effectiveness and the response measures adopted by management.

The internal audit department will communicate with management in details on all findings and recommendations on
internal control deficiencies identified from each audit work. Management will establish remedial plans to improve those
internal control deficiencies within a reasonable time period. The internal audit department will report significant
deficiencies of individual engagement to the Audit Committee. During the Year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings with
the internal audit department. The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the works done and reports submitted by the
internal audit department and reported the results of review and discussion to the Board.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing Rules that inside information should be
announced to the public as soon as reasonably practicable. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

o The Board shall take reasonable precautions for preserving the confidentiality of inside information and the relevant
announcement (if applicable) before publication;

. Before the relevant information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group should ensure that all inside information
must be treated strictly confidential; and

o Disclosure must be made in a manner that provides the public with an equal, timely and effective access to the
inside information disclosed, such as through the electronic publication system operated by the Exchange.
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EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board aims to present a clear, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance and position in
all shareholder communications. The Board is aware of and updated with the requirements under the applicable rules and
regulations about timely disclosure of inside information or matters regarding the Company and will authorise the
publication of such announcements as and when the occasion arises.

The Board adopted a Shareholder’s Communication Policy on 8 May 2013 which provides that the Board should
endeavour to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other general meetings to
communicate with the shareholders and encourage their participation. Such policy is being reviewed from time to time to
ensure its effectiveness. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company establishes different communication
channels with shareholders and investors, including:

(i) printed copies of corporate communications (including but not limited to financial reports, notices of meetings,
circulars and proxy forms) required under the Listing Rules;

(ii) the AGM and other shareholders meetings provide a forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange views
with the Board;

(i)  updated and key information of the Group is available on the website (cm.tongrentang.com) of the Company;

(iv)  the Company’s website (cm.tongrentang.com) offers a communication channel between the Company and its
Shareholders and stakeholders;

(v) meetings with analysts are arranged from time to time to update on the performance of the Group;

(vij  the Executive Directors and senior management of the Company hold meetings with institutional investors and
analysts through telephone calls, email and video conferences, and attend investor forums in the Mainland China,
Hong Kong and Overseas countries from time to time;

(vi)  the Company’s registrar deals with Shareholders for share registration and related matters; and

(viii)  the investor relations department of the Company handles enquires from Shareholders and investors.

In 2023, the Board members, the Company’s senior management, external auditor and legal advisor attended the AGM,

and were available to answer questions. The Company’s notice to the Shareholders for the 2023 AGM of the Company
was sent at least 21 clear days before the meeting.

VOTING BY POLL

At the AGM held in 2023, the chairman of the meeting (i) explained the detailed procedures for conducting a poll, and
answered questions from Shareholders; (ii) exercised his power under the Company’s Articles of Association to put each
resolution set out in the notice to be voted by way of a poll.

Representatives of the share registrar of the Company were appointed as scrutineers to monitor and count the poll votes
cast at the AGM held in 2023. Poll results were then posted on the websites of the Company and the Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening a General Meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and the Board.
An AGM of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Any general
meeting other than an AGM shall be referred to as an EGM.

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association, an EGM can be
convened to consider proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

The Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM, and EGM shall also be convened on such requisition, or in default
may be convened by such requisitionist(s), holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the members having a right to
vote at general meetings. If at any time there are not sufficient Directors capable of acting to form a quorum, any Director
or any 2 Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may convene an EGM in the same manner
as nearly as possible as that in which a meeting may be convened by the Directors.

The requirements and procedures as set out in section 566 to section 569 of the Companies Ordinance are summarised as
follows:

. The requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting, and must be signed by
the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the Company which is presently situated at Room
1405-1409, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

o If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice convening the meeting is given, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from
the said date.

. Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists requesting the meeting by reason of the failure of the
Directors duly to convene a meeting as abovementioned shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company.

In addition, Shareholders are requested to follow section 615 of the Companies Ordinance for including a resolution at an
AGM. The requirements and procedures are set out below:

(i) Any number of Shareholders representing not less than 25% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the AGM to which the requisition relates, or not less than 50 Shareholders
who have a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the requests relate, may submit a requisition in
writing to put forward a resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at an AGM.

(ii) The Company shall not be bound by the Companies Ordinance to give notice of the proposed resolution to
Shareholders entitled to receive notice of an AGM unless a request (a) is sent to the Company in hard copy form or
in electronic form; (b) the resolution of which notice to be given is identified; (c) is authenticated by the person or
persons making it; and (d) is received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the AGM to which the
requests relate; or (i) if later, the time at which notice is given of that meeting.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

The Company welcomes Shareholders’ views and concerns relating to the Group’s management and corporate
governance. The Company’s website (cm.tongrentang.com) provides email address (for enquiry purpose only), postal
address, fax number and telephone number by which Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board.
Shareholders may also put forward their enquiries to the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change on the Articles of Association of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

_a

pwec

To the Members of Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 158 to 271, comprise:

o the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other

explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is revenue recognition — sales of products.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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HREEE M ESNAEEBRETSE

Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition — sales of products

Refer to notes 5 to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. Revenue from sales of
products amounted to HK$1,474 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue from sales of healthcare products and
Chinese medicine is recognised when the
wholesalers takes possession of and accepts
the Group’s products, which generally occurs
when the products are delivered to the location
designated by the wholesalers or when the
Group sells the products and Chinese medicine
to the retailers.

We focused on this area due to the huge volume
of revenue transactions generated from sales of
products to a large number of customers,
including retailers and the overall magnitude of
revenue generated from retail sales and
wholesales to the consolidated financial
statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
management’s relevant controls in respect of the Group’s retail
sales and wholesales transactions from contract approval, goods
delivery, recording of sales to cash receipts. In addition, we tested
the general control environment of the information technology
systems and the selected automatic controls that were related to
retail sales.

Furthermore, we conducted testing of revenue, on a sample basis,
by examining the relevant supporting documents, including but not
limited to sales orders, invoices, goods delivery notes and cash
receipts.

Performed testing, on a sample basis, on sales transactions that
took place shortly before and after the financial year end to assess
whether revenue was recognised in the proper period.

Based on our audit procedures, we found the Group’s revenue
recognition in relation to sales of goods was supported by the
evidence that we gathered.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the

information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or

our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ho Chun Yu.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 14 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT o 1 IR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12A31ALLFE
Note HfizF HK$’000 &7t HK$’000 F3&7T
Revenue WA 5 1,524,945 1,731,095
Cost of sales $HER AN 7 (477,702) (580,955)
Gross profit £ 1,047,243 1,150,140
Distribution and selling expenses 785 & 55 7 (231,261) (187,224)
General and administrative expenses — R & 1T B % 7 (179,029) (154,457)
Net impairment losses on financial assets & @& & 2 FR {EIB % 7 (21,185) (6,479)
Other gains, net SFE {18 6 8,381 9,595
Operating profit 42 & 758 624,149 811,575
Finance income B1 %5 & 0 72,8-% --------------- ZOéE-Bé-
Finance costs 8173 H 10 (5,978) (4,661)
Finance income, net &8 Wz 66,900 15,927
Share of losses of investments accounted for using the equity method fE{h iz E AR Z IR EE51E "o ( 3,259) --------------- ( 1540)
Profit before income tax Fx B 15 % 51 FI & 687,790 825,962
Income tax expense FTi8#iBIx 13 (97,203) (134,669)
Profit for the year 4 & 758 590,587 691,293
Profit attributable to: AT A £ FE(LFIE :
Owners of the Company N2 B#A A 540,393 645,875
Non-controlling interests JE12RR %S 12 50,194 45,418
590,587 691,293
Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company for the year (expressed in HK$ per share)
FREAQREFTEABEESRER (UERETIIF)
Basic and diluted earnings per share §REA K #ERF 14 0.65 0.77
The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. LAk 4R & F 378 2 e B BB MY B = — OFBAEE o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 5 AT AR %

HZE2023F 12831 BLEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
2023 2022
Note K&t HK$’000 T3&7T HK$’000 F3&7T

Profit for the year F EFI;8 590,587 691,293
Other comprehensive (losses)/income: E 4R & (F518), W :
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss RJBEE #7748 2 187 H9 78 B

Currency translation differences & %5 W i Z= 58 (338) (22,070)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss TEE 7 HE 185548 B

Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

UARBESEEHSFHFAEMASWENERMEERAAREELZD 19 (1,785) 4,155

Currency translation differences &% 7 i =58 904 -
Other comprehensive losses for the year £ E H 4R & &8 . 219 (17,915)
Total comprehensive income for the year £FEHR S NFHAEE 589,368 673,378
Attributable to: 2\~ A L &1L :

Owners of the Company ZxA BB A 538,270 629,976

Non-controlling interests FE45 iR 5 12 51,098 43,402

589,368 673,378

Total comprehensive income for the year £ E &AW 45

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. L EARE 2 R i 2R PE SRR A BT A — OFRERE o
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET HOaREARE

As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H
Note HizE HK$’000 F3&7T HK$'000 T8t
Assets EE
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment #)% « &= K& 1E 17 213,816 206,681
Right-of-use assets f# &= 16 211,810 186,669
Intangible assets B & E 18 56,387 59,706
Investments accounted for using the equity method 2 E AR ZIRE 11 51,968 52,996
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
UARBEFEEESETALMGERENSRERE 19 7,833 9,618
Prepayments for purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
BEYXE  BERZEARBEEENAMNR 11,187 11,724
Deferred income tax assets, net SFEIEFTSHEE 20 37,122 14,814
590,123 542,208
Currentassets REIEE
Inventories & 21 1,011,649 469,784
Trade receivables and other current assets & 5 EWFUIE R HtRBIEE 22 453,980 969,324
Short-term bank deposits 72 HiR1T1F 7k 23 1,378,879 252,997
Cash and cash equivalents IR & RIBEZEY 23 999,814 1,990,966
L 3844322 3683071
Total assets A EE 4,434,445 4,225,279

Equity and liabilities # & & &
Equity attributable to owners of the Company Z& 2 T #H A Gz

Share capital iz 4~ 24 938,789 938,789
Reserves f#f# 25
— Other reserves EftiffE (43,189) (41,066)
— Retained earnings R B W& 2,970,913 2,706,763
3,866,513 3,604,486
Non-controlling interests JFiE IR fExE 12 154,177 134,307
Tolequity BEEE 4020690 3738793
Liabilities & &
Non-current liabilities 3F7 &) & f&
Borrowings f§ & 26 166 333
Lease liabilities fHE & & 75,227 60,401
Deferred income tax liabilities, net SFEIEFTERH & & 20 8,444 7,178
I B389 67912
Current liabilities &£ &
Borrowings f& & 26 166 219
Trade and other payables & 5 & Hfth fE{F 7018 27 245,408 235,415
Lease liabilities fHE & & 56,254 42,129
Current income tax liabilities &8I EHEE 28,090 140,811
e s20918 418574
Total liabiliies BEME 413,755 486,486
Total equity and liabilities #% & & 4858 4,434,445 4,225,279
The consolidated financial statements on pages 158 to 271 were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2024 158 R 271 ENHGREA VKR RN2024F3 14 EESEH A YHUTRERESE -

and were signed on its behalf.

Gu Hai Ou Chen Fei SR R 7R
Director Director 1 EE
The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. W RGBSRk FEEEBE T B 5 — OF B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ORI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12A31ALLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company 22 7 85 A 1L

Non-
Share Merger Other Statutory Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserves reserve reserve CETGINTE interests equity
B2 aftERE Hitifd 4 HERE BB i iR RE Wz FERER BRAE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
FiEn T T T T TiBn T T T
At 1 January 2022 4202241 A1H 938,789 (13,124) (13,764) 6,229 (4,508) 2,504,551 3,418,173 121,331 3,539,504
Comprehensive income %&& Iz
Profit for the year FE A = = = = = 645,875 645,875 45,418 691,293
Other comprehensive income/(losses) £t 434 W,/ (E1E)
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
NAAEBEEEHSEHF AL MBGEEUENEREEDABEED - - 4,155 - - - 4,155 - 4,155
Currency translation differences &% H B Z58
— Group A& - - - - (16,604) - (16,694) (2,016) (18,710)
— Joint ventures and an associate & ®E K& N T - - - - (3,360) - (3,360) - (3,360)
Total comprehensive income/(losses) 4 & Wi/ (E18) A5 - - 4,155 - (20,054) 645,875 629,976 43,402 673,378
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners EEEfiEEUEAEENSHETHNRS
Transactions with non-controlling interests E23F 4R ETHR 5 - - - - - - - 191 191
Dividends paid EATIRE - - - - - (443,663) (443,663) (30,617) (474,280)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners S fiEE UHFTEE N SR ETHR ZHEE = = = = i (443,663) (443,663) (30,426) (474,089)
At 31 December 2022 20221283108 938,789 (13,124) (9,609) 6,229 (24,562) 2,706,763 3,604,486 134,307 3,738,793
At 1 January 2023 4202351 81H 938,789 (13,124) (9,609) 6,229 (24,562) 2,706,763 3,604,486 134,307 3,738,793
Comprehensive income &K E
Profit for the year & EA|jE = = - - - 540,393 540,393 50,194 590,587
Other comprehensive (losses)/income R4 (E18) /Wi
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
NUAAEEEEHZBF ARG RENEREEDABEED - - (1,785) - - - (1,785) - (1,785)
Currency translation differences S R Z4E
— Group A& - - - - 310 - 310 904 1,214
— Joint ventures and an associate A& ¥R EE A F - - - - (648) - (648) - (648)
Total comprehensive (losses)/income %4 W3 (B518) /458 - - (1,785) - (338) 540,393 538,270 51,008 589,368
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 2 ZEFEEUEEENFDETHNRS
Dividends paid EfRE - - - - - (276,243) (276,243) (31,228) (307,471)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners EEEZFiEEUHFAEEN S HETNR B NEE - - - - - (276,243) (276,243) (31,228) (307,471)
At 31 December 2023 742023F12831H 938,789 (13,124) (11,394) 6,229 (24,900) 2,970,913 3,866,513 154,177 4,020,690
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. P ER GRS BB R FESBEMT A 5T — ORI o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Bl EmER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12A31ALLFE

Note HfizF HK$’000 &7t HK$’000 T8 T
Cash flows from operating activities E& ZBIEENEERE
Cash generated from operations && FiEE 2B E 28(a) 691,872 566,607
Income tax paid 21 Fri5H (231,041) (19,163)
Net cash generated from operating activities £ E B =4 HIIR & F 58 460,831 547,444
Cash flows from investing activities REEBFRBEAMBSRE
Interest received 2 WF| 2 68,930 14,561
Dividends received 2 W8 & 240 225
(Increase)/decrease in short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months
FREARR B =18 A U £ 2 m R ITER (4Em),Hd (1,125,881) 362,267
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment &% + R &R EFTSR 28(b) 56 127
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
BEYVX BERZEREBLEE (9,757) (36,577)
Prepayments paid for purchase of property, plant and intangible assets
BEVE BERBREREFLEENEES (12,109) (1,932)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired
WEFAR (RERBASEEYFRE) - (196)
Acquisition of further interest in a subsidiary U3 ¥ B13E/MEZS - (3,063)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities R & & &) (Fr ) FiEL B & F4E (1,078,521) 335,412
Cash flows from financing activities BESEBFELENBESTE
Principal elements of lease payments &5 EERIARE 25D (58,512) (56,042)
Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders B {342 BIRERAI R E (276,243) (443,663)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 21 F 2 T I RIEZS IR 2 (31,228) (30,617)
Interest paid B 147 £ (5,978) (4,661)
Repayment of borrowing EZEE& (220) (433)
Net cash used in financing activities ®EEEBI FTABREFE (372,181)  (535,416)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents R& R R & ZEY GR ), 18 inH5E (989,871) 347,440
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £l 2B &R IR S EEY 1,990,966 1,660,304
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents 3£ & R & ZEBYE R EHE (1,281) (16,778)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FX 2 IRE R B EZEEY 999,814 1,990,966

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) are engaged in manufacturing, retail and wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments. The immediate holding company of the Company is
Tong Ren Tang Technologies Co. Ltd. (“Tong Ren Tang Technologies”) which is a joint stock limited company
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The intermediate holding company of the Company is Beijing Tong Ren Tang Company Limited,
(“Tong Ren Tang Ltd.”) which is a joint stock limited company incorporated in the PRC and is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. The ultimate holding company of the Company is China Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group Co., Ltd.
(“Tong Ren Tang Holdings”) which is a company incorporated in the PRC.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its registered office is Room
1405-1409, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange starting from 7 May 2013 and were
transferred to be listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange starting from 29 May 2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (HK$), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2024.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs”) and requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated

financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income, which is carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following revised framework and amendments to standards which are relevant to
the Group’s operations and are mandatory for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2023.

° HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

o Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

° Definition of Accounting Estimates — Amendments to HKAS 8

° Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction — Amendments to
HKAS 12

° International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules — Amendments to HKAS 12

The adoption of the above revised framework and amendments to standards did not have any significant
financial impact on these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Fok B BV 5 e B

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2 BB (4)
(b) New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which are (b) ¥ A A R BT AT HE R > B 2 05 AT R AR R

not yet effective

The following are new standard, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been published and
are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 or later periods, but
have not been early adopted by the Group.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause @

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Supplier finance arrangements

HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability @

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments) Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture ©

™ Effective for the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2024
@ Effective for the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2025
® Effective date to be determined

The Group is in the process of assessing potential impact of the above new standards and amendments that
are relevant to the Group upon initial application. It is not yet in a position to state whether these standards,
interpretations, and amendments will have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by management of each individual entity
within the Group.

(1) Market risk
(1) Foreign exchange risk

Each individual group entity has its own functional currency. Foreign exchange risk to each
individual group entity arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the group entity’s functional currency.

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. The Group manages its foreign currencies risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

At 31 December 2023, if Renminbi had strengthened/weakened by 5% against Hong Kong dollar,
with all other variables held constant, the profit before income tax for the year ended 31
December 2023 would have been HK$12,100,000 (2022: HK$19,717,000) higher/lower , mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Hong Kong dollar-denominated trade
payables held by a subsidiary in the Mainland China whose functional currency is Renminbi.
Whereas, the exposure arising from the other foreign currencies is not significant to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(1) Market risk (Continued)

(2)

Cash flow interest rate risk

Other than short-term bank deposits and bank balances, the Group does not have significant
interest-bearing assets or liabilities.

At 31 December 2023, if the interest rates on bank deposits had been 100 (2022: 100) basis-
points higher with all other variables held constant, profit before income tax for the year would
have been HK$23,774,000 (2022: HK$24,424,000) higher, respectively, mainly as a result of
higher interest income on bank deposits.

(i) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from bank deposits and trade receivables (including trade receivables from the
immediate holding company, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate) and other current
assets.

(1)

Risk management

Substantially all of bank balances and fixed deposits are deposited with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable banks listing in the public market. Management considers the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks which are leading and reputable and are assessed as having
low credit risk. Therefore, the expected credit loss is minimal. All the bank deposits are placed
with banks with good credit ratings to mitigate the risk. For trade receivables (including trade
receivables from related companies) and other current assets (excluding prepayments), the Group
assesses the credit quality of the counterparties by taking into account their credit ratings, if the
counterparties are independently rated, financial position, credit history and other factors.
Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of these receivables and follows up on the
disputes or amounts overdue, if any. The credit terms of trade receivables arising from the
wholesale customers are generally within 30 to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days), longer credit terms
may be granted to specific customers, are assessed and approved on a case by case basis and
credit terms can be granted up to 180 days. The management is of the opinion that the risk of
default by counterparties is low. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 December 2023, excluding those customers under the common control of the ultimate
holding company, there was 1 customer (2022: 3 customers) which individually contributed over
10% of the Group’s gross trade receivables. The amount of trade receivables from these
customers amounted to 20% (2022: 49%) of the Group’s total trade receivables.

Impairment of financial assets
Trade receivables

As for trade and other receivables, the Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit risk.
In general, the credit period for each customer or debtor are regularly assessed, based on the
customer’s or debtor’s financial condition, their capacity to obtain guarantee from third parties,
their credit records and other factors such as current market condition. The Group is sensitive to
changes in the creditworthiness and financial strength of its main customers due to the
importance of these key customers to the overall revenue.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To mitigate this risk, the Group
timely monitors its receivables balances should be paid within a period of time.

Management consider the nature of business of its customers, the default rates given by external
researches over the expected lives of the debtors, repayment and default histories of different
customers or industries to assess the credit risk characteristics and the likelihood of loss
allowance of its customers. The Group uses probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD)
and loss given default (LGD) to measure the credit risk and expected credit loss rates for its
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)
(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The expected credit loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
such as macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the GDP of the countries in which it sells its goods and services to be
the most relevant factor, and accordingly adjusts the expected credit loss rates based on
expected changes in the GDP.

As at 31 December 2023, there were customers with significant doubt on collection of receivables
and the management consider the receivables to have experienced a significant increase in credit
risk and defined the receivables as default. The balance of these receivables was HK$43,488,000
(2022: HK$3,126,000) and the loss allowance in respect of these receivables was HK$25,977,000
(2022: HK$3,126,000). Please refer to Note 22 for details.

Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised were written off against the
provision when there was no expectation of recovering additional cash.

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables of HK$215,723,000 (2022: HK$286,958,000) are due
from related parties of which HK$201,367,000 (2022: HK$51,644,000) were past due. As at 31
December 2023, the loss allowance in respect of the trade receivables due from related parties
was HK$11,574,000 (2022: HK$225,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the remaining trade receivables of HK$177,291,000 (2022:
HK$653,430,000) of which HK$148,069,000 (2022: HK$497,734,000) have not past due and have
an expected loss rate individually ranged from 0.03%-2.27% (2022: 0.01%-13.65%). The loss
allowance for these balances was HK$3,607,000 (2022: HK$16,933,000). As at 31 December
2023, if the expected loss rate in respect of the trade receivables had been 300 basis-points
higher with all other variables held constant, the loss allowance would have been HK$5,319,000
(2022: HK$19,603,000) higher.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost, the Group applies either a 12-month expected credit
losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable
has occurred since initial recognition then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses. Management, considered among other factors, analysed historical pattern and concluded
that the expected credit losses for other financial assets at amortised cost to be immaterial as the
credit risk is assessed as low.

Impairment losses on other financial assets at amortised cost are presented as net impairment
losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

(ii1) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its working capital
requirements. The Group has steady cash inflow from operations and has adequate financial resources
to fund its operations and future expansions. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s financial liabilities
were mainly trade and other payables amounting to HK$207,339,000 (2022: HK$196,883,000), lease

liabilities amounting to HK$131,481,000 (2022: HK$102,530,000) and borrowings amounting to
HK$332,000 (2022: HK$552,000).

The analysis of the financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual
maturities is set out below. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

. " -
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 PR b PR (4)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) AR FEE & (4)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (ii1) U ) B 4 R B ()
Less than Between 1 and Between 2 and
1 year PATCETES 5 years Over 5 years
DPRA—F —E=F —ERF ZRAF
HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 T & 7t HK$’000 F &t HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F & T
At 31 December 2023 74202312 31 H
Trade and other payables & 5 K H i F& {s 7 18 207,339 = = = 207,339
Lease liabilities HE & & 61,171 41,683 29,805 9,823 142,482
Borrowings f& & 166 166 - - 332
Total #5F 268,676 41,849 29,805 9,823 350,153
Less than Between 1 and Between 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years Over 5 years
DPR—F —Z_F —ZEREF ZREF
HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 F 7% 7T HK$’000 F 7 7T HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 F 7% 7T
At 31 December 2022 742022 %12 A 31 H
Trade and other payables & 5 & H ftb f& {3 7% 18 196,883 = = = 196,883
Lease liabilities HE & & 44,838 26,355 29,184 9,078 109,455
Borrowings &% 220 166 167 - 558
Total #5tF 241,941 26,521 29,351 9,078 306,891
(b) Capital management (b) BEAREH

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going FAEBEREAEEREAEEERIRSESEEELEELE ARREST

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an RER FAEFSHMOEREEARER  UHAFELCLNEREEBURIESHR -

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. In order to maintain or EXABBAEEABRITIER] AAFIRAEELREE  A5EILEH

adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital EORFEKSHRESE ORREBEEL BOFROJILEEENUFRD

to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. & o

(c) Fair value estimation (c) 72 SufeE A At

The Group’s financial asset at FVOCI is carried at fair value as at 31 December 2023 by level of the inputs to REBER2023F 12831 HHWU AR BREFEEEZE T ARLMGREREN

valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair TREERRBRAERMAFAERINBANERBEANT=ZE

value hierarchy as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, where the quoted market . HREESEBEETRBTENRE CREHAE) mHEREILEET
price already incorporates the market’s assumptions with respect to changes in economic climate such MIZHRESL (PIAOFANZLEANBERRE) ARRELEERRRE
as rising interest rates and inflation, as well as changes due to ESG risk (level 1). L BR (B1E) -

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either . MRTEIBMEENREN ZEENEENTBEENHEMEBA  TH
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). HiE (A mMER) REE(RBER) (E2/8) -

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable . EENBEYFRETEEMSEENHA (BFITBEEHARERE -
inputs and where ESG risk gives rise to a significant unobservable adjustment) (level 3). HEREAERRFMEFMNEATTERAR) (E3E) -

There were no transfers between any levels during the year. FRAZTER2BEL B|EE -

The Group’s financial asset at FVOCI is included in level 1. AEENUAARBETEEESHHARMGERENEREERBEAF1E -
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178

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

Details on the fair value measurement for financial asset at FVOCI are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The rest of the Group’s financial assets are classified as financial assets and are measured at amortised cost.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including short-term bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents and trade receivables and other current assets, approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, borrowings and
lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

Loss allowance on trade receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past experience, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive directors and non-executive director of the
Company (the “Executive Directors” and “Non-executive Director”). The Executive Directors and Non-executive
Director review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources and have
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors and Non-executive Director assess the performance of the operating segments based on
revenue and segment results of each segment. The Executive Directors and Non-executive Director have determined
the operating segments based on the location of the entities and the information reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance and have determined
that the Group has three reportable operating segments.

The geographical location of revenue is analysed based on location where goods are sold and services are provided.

The details are set out as follows:

(i) Hong Kong (the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC) — sale of Chinese medicine products
and healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments through retail outlets
as well as wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products in Hong Kong. In addition, it
includes the royalty fee income received from overseas entities for using “Tong Ren Tang” brand name.

(if) Mainland China (for the purpose of this annual report, regions of China other than Hong Kong, Macao (the
Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC) and Taiwan China) — wholesale of healthcare products in
the Mainland China and the sole distribution of Tong Ren Tang branded products of Tong Ren Tang
Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. to customers outside the Mainland China.

(i)  Overseas (countries/regions other than (i) and (ii) as mentioned, for the purpose of this annual report, including

Macao) — retail and wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products and provision of
Chinese medical consultation and treatments in other overseas countries/regions, including Macao.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 EER (4)

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, investments
accounted for using equity method, financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income, prepayments
for purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, deferred income tax assets, inventories, trade
receivables and other current assets, short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. Segment liabilities
include borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and other payables, current and deferred income tax liabilities.

DTHMEEBENE BERRE LAREE BFREE REZZEARZRE
UIAAEBEMEBEEZBTAHMEERENERNEE BEYX BERRBU
REVEENEANK EBELFEHEE FE ESERWHEREURBEE &
HBRTERRRERESSEY 2HEECEEE HEEE BIRHEMEN
HME - BEHRIEERSHEE -

Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate expenses. AAOMEEFTERELERS -

Sales between segments are carried in accordance with terms agreed by the parties involved. DEEHERIBEBE S5 E 2 KT ©

180

(a) Analysis of consolidated income statement (a) AR R
Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas
=i Al Py it SN
HK$’000 F & T HK$’000 F &t HK$’000 F & T HK$’000 F & T
Year ended 31 December 2023 £ Z 202312831 AL FE
Segment revenue 7 ZBULA 1,171,231 228,634 482,436 1,882,301
Inter-segment revenue 7 B & WA (255,908) (99,299) (2,149) (357,356)
Revenue from external customers 2 B 2B & F 2 WA 915,323 129,335 480,287 1,524,945
Timing of revenue recognition W A F& 52 #9 i3 2
At a point in time 7£ 5 — B 2 914,884 127,903 476,553 1,519,340
Overtime £ —ERIEE A 439 1,432 3,734 5,605
915,323 129,335 480,287 1,524,945
Contribution to segment results 7 %8 #4& =2 5 & 681,619 (4,196) 115,302 792,725
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #13% - &= R R EITE (9,871) (1,165) (4,328) (15,364)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ff A& ETE (38,964) (2,883) (21,940) (63,787)
Amortisation of intangible assets &2 & 7= # £5 (3,363) = = (3,363)
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEY % - BERRE2EE 7 (50) (321) (378)
Net reversal of impairment losses/(net impairment losses) on financial assets £ @& & 2 SR EEE /CHREEKX) 3,031 (24,239) 23 (21,185)
Impairment loss on inventories 17 & 2 B 18 % - - (363) (363)
Write-off of inventories 17 & iRl = = (725) (725)
Segment results 7 ZBE L& 632,445 (32,533) 87,648 687,560
Inter-segment elimination 2 & & 4 £ (63,411)
Operating profit £ & F138 624,149
Finance income 81§ W& & 68,278 244 4,356 72,878
Finance costs 81 # 3 tH (2,908) (175) (2,895) (5,978)
Share of losses of joint ventures D15 & & % > 518 (1,438)
Share of losses of an associate 73 {5 B & A 8 Z &5 18 (1,821)
Profit before income tax B Ff 15 %t A1 134 687,790
Income tax expense Fr 5%t B8 & (97,203)
Profit for the year & £ Kl # 590,587
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 rEER (#)
(a) Analysis of consolidated income statement (Continued) (a) A OFd %R AT (4])
Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas
B8 R E A i yiSEN
HK$’000 F 7% 7T HK$’000 F#& 7T HK$’000 T 7 7T HK$’000 F 7 7T
Year ended 31 December 2022 £ 2022F 12 A31 AL FE
Segment revenue 2 5L A 1,200,116 508,453 472,255 2,200,824
Inter-segment revenue 7 35 & WA (374,084) (94,990) (655) (469,729)
Revenue from external customers 3R B M5B & 5 2 A 826,032 433,463 471,600 1,731,095
Timing of revenue recognition W A T 52 i B
At a point in time 7£ & — B 25 825,214 431,163 468,318 1,724,695
Overtime 1£ — R EFfE 818 2,300 3,282 6,400
826,032 433,463 471,600 1,731,095
Contribution to segment results 7 2B 4& = B ik 748,579 (7,680) 118,461 859,360
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - B E R RETE (8,360) (654) (4,035) (13,049)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 fi & & i & (35,334) (2,272) (21,647) (59,253)
Amortisation of intangible assets & &= # §4 (3,168) = - (3,168)
Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEW ¥ - BE R RE 2 W, (EE) 56 - (28) 28
(Net impairment losses)/net reversal of impairment losses on financial assets £ B E & 2 (BREEBX), FREEE (2,020) (4,463) 4 (6,479)
Impairment loss on inventories 17 & 2 B {E 18 %k - - (422) (422)
Write-off of inventories 1% & iRl (21) = (190) @11)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment #) % + i 5= & 3% & fUR - - (47) (47)
Segment results 5 25 % 4& 699,732 (15,069) 92,096 776,759
Inter-segment elimination %" 3B & % 4 34,816
Operating profit 48 % %38 811,575
Finance income 87 75 U& & 19,478 365 745 20,588
Finance costs B # % (1,538) (78) (3,045) (4,661)
Share of losses of joint ventures B {E & & ¥ 2 E#E (70)
Share of losses of an associate 2 1& ¥ & 2 7] 2 518 (1,470)
Profit before income tax & FT 15 % A1 78 825,962
Income tax expense P15 %5 % (134,669)
Profit for the year F £ K58 691,293
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 rEER (#)
(b) Analysis of consolidated balance sheet (b) A P& E A LR
Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas
BB Fh | A it =2
HK$’000 F 7% 7T HK$’000 F#& 7T HK$’000 T 7 7T HK$’000 F 7 7T
At 31 December 2023 742023512 H31 H
Segment assets and liabilities 2 B EER & &
Total assets B & & 3,472,865 469,463 492,117 4,434,445
Investments accounted for using the equity method &2 A A R 2 R E 8,482 36,839 6,647 51,968
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
UARBEFEEESHTTAHMGERENSRERE 7,833 - - 7,833
Additions to non-current assets " 3ER B E FE 2 A0 73,951 10,895 22,548 107,394
Total liabilities 42 & & (241,363) (68,399) (103,993) (413,755)
At 31 December 2022 14202212 31 H
Segment assets and liabilities 2 S EER A&
Total assets B & E 3,010,879 739,091 475,309 4,225,279
Investments accounted for using the equity method Z# & 5 AR 2R E 9,528 36,238 7,230 52,996
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
UAREBEITEEESHFARMAERENEREE 9,618 - - 9,618
Additions to non-current assets ® 3£ BN E E 2 1L 0 28,793 140 37,742 66,675
Total liabilities 2 & & (234,863) (141,531) (110,092) (486,486)
U In this analysis, additions to non-current assets exclude investment in joint ventures and an associate, financial asset ‘” oW FRBEEZENMTEBEREGECERBEQATNRE - UAR
at fair value through other comprehensive income and deferred tax assets. EEFERHEE T AHMGECRENSREENELERMEHREE -
(c) Revenue (c) WA
The analysis of revenue by category is as follows: RERBDHBADTWOT ¢
HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F 7% 7T
Sales of products $5 & E f 1,473,819 1,681,764
Service income AR UL A 50,687 48,513
Royalty fee income fif f& 5 Fi & W & 439 818
1,524,945 1,731,095
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Information about major customers

186

For the year ended 31 December 2023, majority of the revenue were generated from wholesales customers,
revenue from one (2022: two) customer(s) each accounted for more than ten percent of the Group’s total
revenue. These revenues are attributable to the Hong Kong segment and the Mainland China segment. The
revenues from these customers are summarised below:

o 7 A 5 e A B

g1 #k & R (4)

(d)

AFREEEFNER
BZE2023F12A31ALFEE ABAWARBEDHE » KRB — A (2022 F :
MB)EFNBRASERERBABRATSI 2T UL - ZERARBEEED

EHEAES R - REZEEFHWABRNT -

2023 2022

Revenue from: 3R B AT A LU A :
— Entities under the control of the ultimate holding company @ (Note 30(a))

RN B FTESIHNE R O(HEE30()
— Customer AZF A

M It represents a group of entities under common control considered as a single customer.

@ The customers generated less than ten percent of the Group’s total revenue during the year.

There are no customers of other segments individually accounted for ten percent or more of the Group’s total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Information about geographical areas

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. An analysis of revenue from external customers and non-current
assets of the Group by geographical area is set out below:

(1) Revenue

HK$’000 T 7T HK$°000 & 7T
N/AR FiE MA@ 285,594
273,456 411,160
273,456 696,754

EEHAREAN-—HEEBR RAE-FF -

BEFREFELENRAGTIAKRERARANED 2 -

HZE2023F 12831 BILFE - H o MBEEF S (2022F &) @HEFE
BRARANBED ZTHUE -

i [ 3 [ 1 )

ARARBBEE  AXERBEUINKENREF ZRARFRDEE
BARMT :

(i) WAW®

2023 2022

Hong Kong & &

Mainland China Bl 73 3

Macao 2

Australia J& K F 58

Canada ME X

New Zealand % 75 B

Singapore # %

United States %

Other countries/regions EfF 5, ith &
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HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 T T
915,323 826,032
129,335 438,463
282,684 264,593

62,625 62,016
46,944 52,620
28,218 33,235
24,046 25,915
15,751 15,229
20,019 17,992
1,524,945 1,731,095
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5

188

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 EER (4)

(e)

(f)

Information about geographical areas (Continued) (e) A I3l % iy B (%)
(i) Non-current assets (i)  FE B & E
HK$’000 F & T HK$’000 F 7% 7T
Hong Kong & & 204,924 275,171
Mainland China = Bl (A i 9,124 2,428
Macao 2 60,115 60,604
Australia & A& FI5E 44,683 49,493
Canada & X 22,968 13,644
New Zealand 3f 7 B 42,888 39,650
Europe BUM 11,519 11,658
United States 3 1,948 2,416
Other countries/regions E hF 5, tth & 5,031 9,716
493,200 464,780

™ The geographical location of revenue is analysed based on the location where goods are sold and services are Ul WARFHhEIREES M RIREREAIE DA o
provided.

@ The geographical location of non-current assets is analysed based on where the assets are located or held. In @ ERBEERMNEINEREZEENERFIEMETE - KoM
this analysis, the total of non-current assets excludes investment in joint ventures and an associate, financial F ERHEERETEENAECERBEATINERE - UAAE
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income and deferred tax assets. B EBHEBFAHMGEERENEREENELREREE -

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers (f) H%EF & FA B W& RN A
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contract with customers: AEEBCHIALUTHEFAREENAS :
2023 2022
HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F 7% 7T
Contract liabilities &FE & & 3,211 4,678
The Group has not recognised any contract assets related to contract with customers as at 31 December M2023F 12831 B M2022F 128310 AEEABREEFERAEHEMN
2023 and 31 December 2022. AREE -
There is no significant changes in contract assets and liabilities during the year ended 31 December 2023. BZE2023F12A31ALFE CREENEBERBEEREE -
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (g) CUHERE Ay B A [l £ A B Al A
The following table shows revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities in the year related to carried TRATAFECRIANESGHABEEHENBATECEBERABEEEN
forward contract liabilities. WAEEE -
2023 2022
HK$’000 F7& T HK$’000 F7& 7T
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities at 1 January R EE1 B1 B A EBEEEHIWA 4,678 3,397
Accounting policies of revenue recognition (h) WA MERR 2 & 5 EBUR
(i) Sales of goods (i) SHERMS

The Group sells healthcare products and Chinese medicine to wholesalers and individual customers. AEEHEREMRPETFHBEBRMENES o WA FH 2 E R E 5

Sales of goods to wholesales and retailers are recognised when the wholesalers takes possession of EFEMBRHMEAREZEARER E-REERZEEREDE

and accepts the products which generally occurs when the products are delivered to the location EBFRERESTEMIE -

designated by the wholesalers or to customers at retail shop.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(h) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)

(111)

Sales of goods (Continued)
Wholesales

For wholesales, the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
does not occur until the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. Sales are recorded based on the
price specified in the sales contracts.

No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term ranging from 30 to
180 days, which is consistent with market practice.

Receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered at the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional, which only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Retail sales

For retail sales, the Group operates a chain of retail outlets for selling products. Sales of goods are
recognised when a group entity sells a product to the customer. Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately. Retail sales are usually in cash or by credit card.

Service income

The Group mainly provides Chinese medical consultation and treatments in retail outlets. Service
income is recognised at the point in time when the service is provided to the customer and it is settled
in cash or by credit card.

Royalty fee income

Royalty fee income is based on pre-determined rates on the total turnover of overseas entities for them
to use the “Tong Ren Tang” brand name. Royalty fee is recognised in the income statement on an
accrual basis upon sales recognised by the overseas entities.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

6 OTHER GAINS, NET

190

Government grants (note) BUAT # By (i &)

Unsecured government loans waived 4 % 3K 1 BT & 5k

Gain on deemed disposal of an investment accounted for using the equity method (Note 11)
BREHERREREARZEEN KR (FIEE11)

Others HAih

Note: There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants. The Group did not benefit directly from
any other forms of government assistance.

Deferral and presentation of government grants
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023

5 rEbER ()
(h) WA MR @t BOR (5

(i)

(i)

o8 B (8)
5%

HEFTEH HEFUHEERNEEREREAIBFERE  BALEX
EIHEETSENRPESIER CERIEEELE REAR
REBERBOCESHEDT MULBBCREHESVEIER  ER

RRN - HERHESVWEENERARK -

EREEFHEIORE1BORANE AT EHmBEMER  HEER
BERD o

AEBEE RN REDEWR - B S U= B R = R0
FEEEFSEHEEFAR -

TH

ZEFH FAEEEBEHTERHHEEER HEERREEER
AEFHEERNER ZTEBRUARSHAEAFEN -

IR 85 Wi 4

FEBREZEEHERTEDE - RBERERAT FRARBEER -
UBRERERREN

s L5 2 WA

mEEREWEIRENEREAIACE mERBERAERBERAEARE
BRWH - mEERAERNENERREIHERRETEER RS RER -

il A 4y
FEEAGERATEAEOEFINERARERENEHEAETF X
WHEEBETERE—F -Bit AEETREWSHEETNARE
A% 5B

6 FHAMMG

2023 2022

HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 T T
1,851 6,830

- 257

2,879 -

3,651 2,508

8,381 9,595

M EEWHBERAMTEARBENRARHEMRBEEF KESFEEREIAR
XA R =5 -

HAHE 2 EER 2%
S5 55 2K 161 B8 O B 68 B+ A 52T 7 1 40 AL AN A LC TR 0 6 SR 0+ MRS 6 AE R
GEE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

7 YRR P

o 7 A 5 e A B

2023 2022

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (Note 21) B R EX A FE & (HfzE21)
Raw materials and consumables used (Note 21) R 41 K 5H $ f A 2N (FfsE21)
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) & E & F B3 3z (KizE8)

COVID-19-related rent concessions 72 7 ik f& 55 i 4 tH BAFH & Rl =2

Expenses relating to short-term leases i E & A

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities (note)
AS#HAENREER (TEFEEREEEE) ()

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 2 & & # 84 (fizE18)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) £ A& E T E (K5 16)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 17) #1% B E R REITE (fizE17)
Losses/(gains) on disposals of property, plant and equipment (Note 28)

HEME  BE - BB 2ZEE () (HEE28)
Impairment loss on inventories (Note 21) 7 & 2 i {E 18 & (FfzE21)
Write-off of inventories (Note 21) 17 & #fm (Kftz£21)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment (Note 17) #2 ~ B 5= & 5% 18 HURL (M EE 17)
Net impairment losses on financial assets (Note 22) & Bt & & = F R EE & (KizE22)
Auditors’ remuneration 1% Z BT Bl &
— Audit services 1% Z IR 3%
— Non-audit services FE#Z B R 7%
Research and development expenses #ff 2 & F
Promotion and advertising expenses E& K& B4 5
Legal and professional expenses A2 K HHEI &
Others HEfi

Note: Variable lease payments represent the amounts which are calculated based on percentages of revenue generated by certain
retail outlets that exceed their fixed rentals.
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HK$°000 F & 7T HK$’000 F3& 7T
(86,426) (11,056)
478,519 516,415
245,670 219,099
- (137)
11,518 11,255
2,293 154
3,363 3,168
63,787 59,253
15,364 13,049
378 @8)

363 422

725 211

- 47
21,185 6,479
4,074 4,150
384 275
12,208 7,699
47,394 19,179
7,727 6,885
80,651 72,596
909,177 929,115

M : TR#HENREEREE TEERELANBAREBESEAEABHEEERAEH

T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 8 EEMAMX  ffiHEFEME
EMOLUMENTS
HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F 7% 7T
Salaries, wages and bonuses & + TE R 1E4L 213,695 190,433
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk & A — EZE K= 20,249 17,645
Other benefits H {th 18 F 11,726 11,021
245,670 219,099
No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year and no available at the year-end to reduce future SERABBALUNER  EREURETARBRD RREROER -
contributions.
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) HAEMBHAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year did not include any (2022: AEEBFANEEHSFATLECEEMES (2022F W) EEME
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 9(a). The emoluments paid or RMFI@) DA R - FRENREMNERT L (2022F : =) AT HIB
payable to the remaining five (2022: three) individuals during the year are as follows: SWMT
2023 2022
HK$’000 F7& T HK$’000 F7& T
Basic salaries and other benefits 4 # & & H 18 ) 5,155 2,641
Bonuses fEAL 2,323 2,012
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk & K4 — EEEMKETE 504 102
7,982 4,755

The emoluments fell within the following bands: MENFUTEHER :

Number of individuals A £

2023 2022
Emolument bands B € &3 &
HK$ 78 7T 1,000,001-HK$ 7% 7T 1,500,000 1 1
HK$ 7% 7t 1,500,001-HK$ & 7t 2,000,000 4 )
For the year ended 31 December 2023, no emoluments (2022: nil) were paid by the Group to any of the five BZE2023F12A31BLEE A5EYENRERSFALTIAEAMS
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of (2022F ' ) » EARSIEMARMAREESNRBSBEREE FTER

office, and no arrangement under which any of the highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any of BHAINERIRIEREZEAHSHOZHE -
the emoluments.
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9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES 9 #E H A M g AR AR (i A KO | ) (56 622 %)
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES B383 W K v (P& 30 22 &R LB (58
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF 622G ) B WY B % B b i A S0 B 1 4% 9% )

INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)
REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EHME
The remuneration of every director for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below: BZE2023F R2022F 12 A1 ALFENARQATASESHFMOT ©

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
EREE(FERAAARHFARLE) REHRE M FRERNES

Employer’s

contribution to

a retirement

Salary and Discretionary  benefit scheme

Year ended 31 December 2023 other benefits bonuses BEZEKE
HZEZ2023F12A31HILFE #14 FERHEMEF BB TEAT FFEMR

HK$000 T#&7t HK$000 T#&;t HK$000 TE7x HK$000 FTHETT HKS000 Tt
Executive Directors #1{TE %
Mr. Gu Hai Ou" ™ EE;EEE 554 00 - - . . _

Mr. Yu Jin® RE) 4@ - 665 - 71 736
Mr. Chen Fei PR 7 55 4 - 635 241 99 975
Ms. Ding Yong Ling®® T k¥ L+ 60 - - - - -
Ms. Lin Man® sk &z + @ - 874 6 84 964

Non-executive Director k1T EE
Ms. Feng Li® )EFjzz £ ©® - - - - -

Independent Non-executive Directors Bk H{TES

Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper & £ 5% 5t 4 288 - - = 288
Prof. Zhao Zhong Zhen® #& 1R % © 72 - - - 72
Mr. Xu Hong Xi® #R R E 4 © 240 = - - 240
Mr. Chan Ngai Chi BR % Bth 5t &= 288 - - - 288

888 2,174 247 254 3,563
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9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF

INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)
REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(a)

o 7 A 5 e A B

O FEFAYM I AAE R (b A o 0 W] BRI (58 622 3)
383 Ik K o W) (3% 8% % F A & 7 pH) A1) (58
622G ) A 5E B 43¢ B B b vl AR B AR 1 0k %) ()

=3 & (4)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
ERES (FTERALQTARE FATRE) RER M X Tk EWRMNENS

Employer’s

Year ended 31 December 2022

contribution to
a retirement

Salary and Discretionary benefit scheme
other benefits bonuses EEZEAKE

(1)

@
@)

@
6)

©)

@

HZE2022F 1231 HILEEE

HEREMBEF B EIEAL &AL

HK$°000 %87t HK$000 FEX HK$000 FET HK$S000 F#ETT HKS000 FET
Executive Directors $1{T& £

Ms. Ding Yong Ling®® T k¥ 2+ 00 - - - - -
Ms. Feng Li® ™ Ex] 2+ 60 - - - - -
Ms. Lin Man® #2222 + @ - 853 658 102 1,613
Mr. Chen Fei R 7 SE £ - 1,324 750 102 2,176

Independent Non-executive Directors B EHTES
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper & & B 5%t &£ 264 - - - 264
Prof. Zhao Zhong Zhen® s A R #1% © 264 - - - 264
Mr. Chan Ngai Chi B 2§ 5th 7€ 4= 264 = - - 264
792 2,177 1,408 204 4,581

Mr. Gu Hai Ou has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Board since 13
December 2023.

Mr. Yu Jin has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company since 20 October 2023.

Ms. Ding Yong Ling has retired as Executive Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Board with effect from
31 August 20283.

Ms. Lin Man has resigned as Executive Director since 12 September 2023.

Ms. Feng Li has been re-designated as Non-executive Director since 13 March 2023. She was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company on 12 August 2022.

Prof. Zhao Zhong Zen has resigned as Independent Non-executive Director on 13 March 2023 and Mr. Xu Hong Xi has
appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 13 March 2023.

Mr. Gu Hai Ou, Ms. Ding Yong Ling and Ms. Feng Li receive emoluments from the parent company, part of which is in
respect of their services to the parent company and its subsidiaries. No apportionment has been made as the
qualifying services provided by these directors to the Company and its subsidiaries are incidental to their
responsibilities to the larger group.

No directors of the Company waived or returned any emoluments and no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office as a director.
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@)
@)

(@)
(5)

BEBBALEH2023F 12 13AREZEARARANTESRESEER -

REYEEBH2023F10 20 BEZEBERQATHUTES -
TKKRLZLTHBE2023F8A31 ARREARADNANTEERESEEE -

MELLTH2023F 9B 12ERBERATHTES -

BRI Z L H2023F3 813 ABBAMTEERQATAFNITESE > HHR202258 4
12AEZEARQATNTES -
HMARBIEE2023F3A13AEBAERRABYUFHITES -REEH
202353 A 13 HBEEZEEAAQNTABIENITES -

FBEBEE TABRZIRBALZIHBLARBERKRH  HPh—Fo 28R
HEESARAREFAARENRE BHRELESTOALAREKBL
FRMHNEGERBRERMMAUYEAEENSEAMFN BT EFELT
A5 # -

ARRAUBESRRRIRBEANE - AEETEQESIFEAHE - F
RREIMAEBE 2 RBIEMAGRBRIEABRBEE -
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9

10

200

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS)
REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefit under a defined benefit scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to any directors as compensation for the early termination of the appointment during
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’
services

No payment was made to the former employer of any directors for making available the services of them as a
director of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

FINANCE INCOME, NET

O FEFAYM I AAE R (b A o 0 W] BRI (58 622 3)
383 Ik K o W) (3% 8% % F A & 7 pH) A1) (58
622G ) A 5E B 43¢ B B b vl AR B AR 1 0k %) ()

(b) # F B I A

AEERNTHEENRENESEREN FEHHEREEAQAAIEMWBEENS
KEEHBEEMEREE 2 (2022F : &) -

(c) HFRHBMA
AEERLROEEL M EANS - (EHHIRMBHI QBB (20227 M) -

(d) WHESE =5 N H 2y AT RE

AEERYERNBEE = A ABAR AR EEMESINRAZEAENTEE
BB (20224 : &) o

() FEHF - WP I - P E B Bk - EHRHKUK
Ho A 52 55 A 1 B

AEEALERES ESEHCE ESEERERCER EERURHEM
RS HEBEM (2022F : |) o

() FHAARLMT LN S ~ KPR A [ B OHE R

FEERRFER  AEEAREZTEASRASECEBEMALA 2ES
ERYEEEHPEREARECEERS - ZHRARE (2022F © §#)

10 5 B 0 i

HK$°000 T 7 T HK$’000 T & T
Finance income 81 7§ Ik # 72,878 20,588
Finance costs 813 H
— Borrowing £ & (1) @
— Lease liabilities # & & 1§ (5,977) (4,659)
_______________ (5978)  _ ____(4661)
Finance income, net % 81 7% U & 66,900 15,927
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

11 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY 11 BHEREANRZRE
METHOD
(a) The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows: (a) REMEEABREREZENESHWT :
HK$'000 F 5% 7t HK$'000 F 55 7t
At 31 December X112 B 31 H
Joint ventures & & 3 15,129 16,758
Associates B& A 7 36,839 36,238
51,068 52,996
(b) The share of losses recognised in the consolidated income statement are (b) REMHREREROEHBWT

as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 T T HK$’000 F % 7T
For the year ended 31 December HiZ 12 B31 HILEE
Joint ventures &% (% (1,438) (70)
Associates B & 2 5] (1,821) (1,470)
(3,259) (1,540)
. o« . AN ] A JQ
(c) Interests in joint ventures (c) REBMREZHER
The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial joint ventures. The following table analyses, in FEEREETENFTERANEGELCENER - TRONMEAEBEHMFRZ
aggregate, the movement of the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in these joint ventures, and its share SRECRNESREERDNBERSSELRNEMA  HERERER
of results, other comprehensive income and commitments of these joint ventures. A
2023 2022
HK$’000 T T HK$’000 F % 7T
At 1 January A1 B 1H 16,758 17,297
Share of losses FE{h F E 518 (1,438) (70)
Share of other comprehensive loss FE{E bR & K518
— Currency translation differences & ¥ 5, # = 58 (191) (469)
At 31 December 7A12 B 31 H 15,129 16,758
The Group’s share of joint ventures’ commitments 7S 55 B fE {5 & & 1> & IE = -
Notes: LR
(@) The joint ventures are private companies and there are no quoted market prices available for their shares. (@) BEEXBAADT > HRGLETIHRE
(b) There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in joint ventures. (b) UREEAREFFEECXEENABEME -

(c) Details of the joint ventures are set out in Note 31. (c) ARDEHBEHNMES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY
METHOD (Continued)

(d) Interest in an associate

Set out below is the associate of the Group as at 31 December 2023 which, in the opinion of the directors, is
material to the Group.

On 30 September 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of 40% of the equity interests in Beijing Tong
Ren Tang WM Dianorm Biotech Co., Limited (the “Target Company”) from an independent third party at a total
consideration of RMB33,109,300 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,832,000).

On 16 February 2023, the Target Company entered into a capital injection agreement with an independent
investor which agreed to contribute a total of RMB33,345,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$37,635,000)
into the Target Company. Upon the completion, the Group’s equity interest in the Target Company decreased
from 40% to 30%. An approximate amount of HK$2,879,000 resulting from gain on deemed disposal of the
Group’s equity interest in the Target Company was recognised in the consolidated income statement of the
Group.

The management assessed that the Group has significant influence but not control over the Target Company,
as such, the Target Company is accounted for as an associate of the Group under equity method.

The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows:

o 7 A 5 e A B

11 i ANRZBRE ()

(d)

W Wk 8 oy i 2 i A
EERBTXEINWHEE ATN2023F 12431 ARAEEEEMNHEE QT

2021 F9A30H  AEEXRRABLE=ZFWEBILZR{C-EEFEEYHEMN
ERAT(TEELAD40%MERE  REEAAKRYS33,109,300 T (HE R
#39,832,000587T) °

R2023F2R816F BEEAFEBYREET L IEHZE #ERERNEE
A AEAFHE AR %33,345,000 T (8 E R #37,635,00087T) - X F %MK
%> AEEREEQATANRERAIONBLE30% c RIEHERAEERBEER
TNRENKBEELMNLDN 2,879,000 8B TRAEEGAKRBERPIER -

EEEFGASELERAAAREAREETARESAE BLHERELT
AAKENBELNT  RESERE -

REHEERBERTEIBZINENT ¢

2023 2022

At 1 January ®181H
Share of losses P&k F E Rl 18
Gain on deemed disposal of an investment accounted for using the equity method
RIELEREREARZREZ KRG
Share of other comprehensive losses fE{L H At 42 & B8
— Currency translation differences &% 7 & = 48
At 31 December 212 A 31 H

The Group’s share of an associate’s commitments Z< 52 B FE {5 B & 1\ T & &

Summarised financial information for an associate

HK$’000 F 3% 7t HK’000 F & 7T
36,238 40,599

(1,821) (1,470)

2,879 -

(457) (2,891)

36,839 36,238

gk % v ) 0 2 5 B 5 R B2

Assets and liabilities as at 31 December 12 A31 BN EERERE
Current assets B &=
Cash and cash equivalents R & R R EZEEY
Other current assets H At &) & &=
Total current assets R ENE &
Non-current assets 3£ 81 & &=
Current liabilities ;i 81 & &
Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) & &t & & (B FE+ BR %)
Other current liabilities E At R 8 & &
Total current liabilities #2572 & {&
Non-current liabilities 3E R B & &
Net assets FEE
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2023 2022
HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 F & 7T
68,058 26,798
66,078 70,035
134,136 96,833
11,666 13,505
6,959 4,025
14,684 13,581
21,643 17,606
1,363 2,137
122,796 90,595
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY
METHOD (Continued)

(d) Interest in an associate (Continued)

Set out below is the associate of the Group as at 31 December 2023 which, in the opinion of the directors, is
material to the Group. (Continued)

Summarised financial information for an associate

b3t
op

11 i ANRZBRE ()

(d) WBEEAFZ R (A)

EERBTXEINWHEE ATN2023F 12431 ARAEEEEMNHEE QT
(48)

Tk O W) W ik 5 B 5 L

2023 2022

Revenue W& A
Loss for the year & E E5i8
Other comprehensive losses E 4R & 18

Total comprehensive losses #r & E7 18 4228

Reconciliation of summarized consolidated financial information

HK$°000 T 3% 7T HK$'000 F 3% 7T
100,625 64,612

(3,665) (3,676)

(1,769) (7,227)

(5,434) (10,903)

for VA B R B ) R

2023 2022

Opening net assets Hi {1 & & FE

Issue of new shares 21T ¥ i% 17

Losses for the year & E &8

Other comprehensive losses for the year FE E 47 & B ig
Closing net assets iR & &= F{E

The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial associates. The aggregate carrying amount of
individually immaterial associate is nil and the Group’s share of associates’ commitments is nil (2022: same).

Notes:

(@) The associates are private companies and there are no quoted market prices available for their shares.

(b) There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in associates.

(c) In 2023 and 2022, the Group has not recognised its share of loss of one of its associates as its share of accumulated

losses has exceeded its investment cost.

12 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (NCI)

The management considers Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Macau) Company Limited is a subsidiary which has non-
controlling interest that is material to the Group, as at 31 December 2023, its accumulated NCI was HK$84,543,000
(2022: HK$67,577,000), the profit allocated to NCI was HK$31,666,000 (2022: HK$27,777,000) and the dividends
payable/paid to NCI was HK$14,700,000 (2022: HK$14,700,000).

As at 31 December 2023, Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Macau) Company Limited has current assets, current liabilities,
non-current assets, non-current liabilities and net assets of HK$170,703,000, HK$47,448,000, HK$60,316,000,
HK$11,034,000 and HK$172,537,000 (2022: HK$135,644,000, HK$46,958,000, HK$60,853,000, HK$11,627,000 and
HK$137,912,000) respectively. It generated revenue, total profit and other comprehensive income of
HK$282,684,000 (2022: HK$264,593,000) and HK$64,625,000 (2022: HK$56,688,000) respectively during the year
ended 31 December 2023. It generated a cash inflow of HK$6,529,000 (2022: HK$9,835,000) during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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HK$000 T8 7T HK$’000 T3 7t
90,595 101,498

37,635 -

(3,665) (3,676)

(1,769) (7,227)

122,796 90,595

AEEEAETEMNEANBEQAANEDS HELAREERAZTURESE
BEEGBE N REAESE (2022F  HE) °

(a) BEQAARBARA HROVALETHSRE -
(b) YBEBEAKEFEHEARNEENRBEEE-

() HEAKEELE-HHEQAANEEBBAEERZBEQRTD ZRERA
R 2023 5 [ 2022 F A MDA EASAIEE -

12 J o o b 4

EHERBLREACE CEM) BRADAFEEFHAREEEANIFEREZVHELT
A2023F 12831 H » EE5 k44 W A 84,543,00078 Tt (2022 F : 67,577,000
) PEWMELHREN U A 31,666,00058 T (20224 1 27,777,00058 7T) & FE
N/ BENFLOHREMNREE14,700,0005% 5T (2022 4 : 14,700,00058 T) °

7A2023F12A31 8 kXEACE CEM) BERATNARBEE RBEE - FRDE
E-RBAaBRBEED B A170,703,000% T * 47,448,000 7T * 60,316,00058
7t ~ 11,034,000 T & 172,537,000 st (20224 : 5 Bl £ 135,644,000 T »
46,958,000 3% jT * 60,853,000 7T ~ 11,627,000 T & 137,912,000/ 7T) - B =
2023 F12ACIALEE HELAWZ A BLERHEMZARES B
282,684,000 jT (2022 4 : 264,593,0008 7t) & 64,625,0008 T (2022 £ :
56,688,00078 7T) - E 202312 831 HILFE - HES B €7 A 6,529,00058 7T
(2022 £ : 9,835,000787T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit
for the year. PRC corporate income tax has been provided at the rate of 25% (2022: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profits for the year of the subsidiaries operating in the Mainland China. Taxation on overseas profits has
been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/
regions in which the Group operates.

o 7 A 5 e A B

A 3
13 Frfadi X
MERMGEERFEAEIR16.5%(20224F : 16.5%) WH R REBANEBH - i E
At EEH BRI ERNEERBRABIR25%(2022F : 25%) W RFHiEPE D
EFMEH  BNF BN EERFAGHERFHABRAEELCEMTER HHE
KRBT RTE -

HK$’000 F & T HK$’000 F 7% 7T

Current income tax & 8 fr 15 %%
— Current year 2" & 119,355 128,447
— Over-provision in prior years ¥ & 2 5T 5 1% (993) (543)
118,362 127,904
Deferred income tax (Note 20) JEFE Fr i8¢ (Ffi5E20) (21,159) 6,765
Income tax expense FT{§ % X tH 97,203 134,669

The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

REBRBRAFBENAERERAEARSHARERF BN MET IR ZFEDN
EmEEEE2MT :

2023 2022

Profit before income tax [ ft 15 %t 31 58
Less: Al :
— Share of losses of investments accounted for using the equity method fE(LIREZE AR ZREFE

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective countries
RAEBIE XA EEBE B A B R E 2 H1E

Tax effects of: LA T #9575 22 2
— Income not subject to tax G Fi Uz
— Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1 8] {15 58 %
— Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised >k #52IE iE Fr 155 & &= BB E 12
— Withholding income tax on royalty fee from overseas entities B 8 /MNE B2 k2 & & R HI 155
— Over-provision in prior years ¥ & % 5t &
— Utilisation of previous unrecognised tax losses 7| F LA Bl & #E 52 (9%t 1B &5 18
— Others EAth
Income tax expense FT{3%i

Note: The Group is within the scope of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) Pillar Two model
rules and will come into effect from 1 January 2024. Since the Pillar Two legislation was not effective at the reporting date, the
Group has no related current tax exposure. The Group applies the exception to recognising and disclosing information about
deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes, as provided in the amendments to IAS 12 issued in May
2023.

Due to the complexities in applying the legislation and calculating Global Anti-Base Erosion income, the quantitative impact of

the enacted or substantively enacted legislation is not yet reasonably estimable. The Group is currently engaged with tax
specialists to assist them with applying the legislation.

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

HK$°000 F & 7T HK$’000 F3& 7T
687,790 825,962
3,259 1,540
691,049 827,502
107,645 138,218
(11,699) (4,934)
1,609 2,218
725 645

4 91
(993) (543)
(297) (465)
172 (561)
97,203 134,669

Mz AEEERKSESFERERAMOECD) MU A ZHRA - W HKMN2024F1 51
AEM - HRXBEZEEREAEREN  AEERAHRBNERRKARBKA -
RI52023 55 BB MO CEBREFERE125) (BEB) - XEBESHINERRER
MBBEE - XEMESHEBNELAEHEEMEBBENER -

HRERYEMFEZRRBERBMBANERYE  SIEREELTELENTE
BYEETRAEMT AREENEAERBERES  HHMBMFEERLE

=/
Y& o

14 ®BEEA

BREABANDEADDEEABRGFBRUFACRTEBEROMETIHTH -

2023 2022

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000) 48 2 Bl A A FE46 X8 (F387T)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) & 2% 17 &8 IR fn#E F 9 & (FIR)
Earnings per share (HK$) &R Z ¥ (58 7t)

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive shares.
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540,393 645,875
837,100 837,100
0.65 0.77

BZE2023F R2022F 12831 ALFE RARABTRENEZRG  SREE
BAERERELRRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

L
15 DIVIDENDS 15 |A
The dividends paid in 2023 and 2022 were HK$276,243,000 (HK$0.33 per share) and HK$443,663,000 (HK$0.53 per 2023 F R 2022FME N E 5 51 £5276,243,000/8 Tt (B RR0.33%8 ) &
share) respectively. Dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK$0.33 per share, amounting to a 443,663,000/ T (B 0.53/E ) - BIE2023F 12 A31HLEFENRESRO0.33
total dividend of HK$276,243,000, is to be proposed at the annual general meeting on 31 May 2024. These financial B (R E#EH276,243,000/8 ) R AAFE2024F5 A31 HETHRRE
statements do not reflect this dividend payable. FRELRE -ZEVHBRRUBRUZEARE -
2023 2022
HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F & 7T
Special interim dividend paid of HK$Nil (2022: HK$0.25) per ordinary share
ENEREBRISFEHREZE T (2022F 1 0258 7T) - 209,275
Proposed final dividend of HK$0.33 (2022: HK$0.33) per ordinary share
BEERERETERAIRE0.3378 T (20224 : 0.33/87T) 276,243 276,243
16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16 I RERE B
Leasehold land Buildings Total
HE L BF ast
HK$'000 T 7T HK$'000 F 57T HK$000 F 3% 7T
At 1 January 2022 7420221 818 92,803 121,452 214,255
Additions & 0 - 27,731 27,731
Modification & & - 6,899 6,899
Depreciation charge (Note 7) 3T & X H (K 7) (2,670) (56,583) (59,253)
Currency translation differences & # 5 i Z 48 - (2,963) (2,963)
At 31 December 2022 74202212 F 31 H 90,133 96,536 186,669
At 1 January 2023 7420231 A1 H 90,133 96,536 186,669
Additions & 0 - 73,763 73,763
Modification % & - 14,604 14,604
Depreciation charge (Note 7) T & x tH (FizE7) (2,670) (61,117) (63,787)
Currency translation differences & ¥ 5 i = 48 - 561 561
At 31 December 2023 74202312 5 31 H 87,463 124,347 211,810
(a) The total cash outflow for leases, including the payments made in relation to lease liabilities and expenses (a) 2023FEMEREWES TS 578,300,000 7T (2022 4 : 72,110,000
relating to short-term and variable lease payments in 2023 was HK$78,300,000 (2022: HK$72,110,000). Br)  BESHEEENRESINUREHNHEENRENTSEETRE -
Depreciation expenses were charged to the consolidated income statement as follows: REMRERPTANERZNT ©
2023 2022
HK$'000 F 3% 7t HK$'000 F 3%t
Cost of sales $8%E KA 2,860 2,834
Distribution and selling expenses 73 #§ & 5 &5 X 44,427 41,895
General and administrative expenses — % & 17 B fi 3% 16,500 14,524
63,787 59,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

212

(b) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various land, offices, warehouses and retail stores. Rental contracts are typically made for
fixed periods range from 2 to 5 years (2022: same) for office, warehouses and retail stores, but may have
extension options as described below. Lease term for leasehold land ranges from 42 years to 99 years (2022:
same).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets must not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Some leases related to retail stores contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales generated from a
store. For individual stores, variable lease payments are calculated based on percentages of revenue
generated by certain retail outlets that exceed their fixed rentals. Variable lease payments that depend on
sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Extension and termination options are included in a small number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor. The impact of the above options are not material to the Group’s financial statements.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties and equipment and all leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a

lease term of 12 months or less.

See note 34.20 for the other accounting policies relevant to leases.
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o 7 S 05 R B

16 fi FIRERE & (4H)

(b)

S5 [ Y LR B L ot )E T

AEEHEAZELH PLAE BEENSEEH - WLAE BEENZTEEH
NWEECRBEEEHRA2FESF (2022F  #HE) 7% BAEEET
N ERREE HE T HNEEHRAE42FE99F (2022F  HE) °

HERREEASREAENER LETER LTRSS TEOERRMEMS -
HEBZFTEESHEABANEEEENERANE ZINEFNRZY - HE
BEETSREERER -

HHEHERRDSREHOHEEHDOTEARERR - HREEH -
TEAENRERRESE R BHEC AL NE LR ST L3t
B o R 95 84 S AR R 00 T TR R 9 SRR R B B K 9 BN A0 R A B R
AR

FEERIERHEHNEESEAHEERNK LHERER  UEAEEL
EANEEERE S ERAREHRESELENBEEN -AKRESANKED
BMERERNRLHERERERARETE NMIFABENBEATE-
FEEEHAEERUEREOFELRELN -

HENRERBEERSARFR - ARENHERS N RBREELEERE
EURBERT  BRAZREANBEENRF R DAEAZEUSERETE

EHEEAEEEEERENEE  EELBBUE SR R G AR ST S
AEAHFIE -

EAREE-RELENCEASTEHENMENENPERNRES TR
e -
HEEMMENRBERERMAREEEERERANTRBERESERRAR
BR AR SEHHEREAENR12EANEIRI2EANEE -

FREECHMERBE  B2HWE4.200
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 W3k ~ B Kok i
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and Motor
Freehold land Buildings improvement machinery equipment vehicles
KAFEELH BF HEWEEE ST HRERRE RE
HK$’000 & T HK$’000 & T HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 & 7T HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 T & 7T
Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ2022F 12 31 HILFE
Opening net book amount & ¥ & [ /& & 48,822 97,161 11,357 14,605 9,993 1,371 183,309
Additions &N 13,093 14,029 7,166 679 3,766 811 39,544
Disposals (Note 28(b)) & & (ff & 28(b)) - - (66) - (33) - (99)
Write-off (Note 7) #flil (FizE7) - - (47) - - - (47)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) T & X i (FizE7) = (3,238) (3,210) (2,119) (4,020) (462) (13,049)
Currency translation differences & ¥ 5 i = 58 (555) (1,568) (526) - (311) 17) (2,977)
Closing net book amount i 7 ik & 61,360 106,384 14,674 13,165 9,395 1,703 206,681
At 31 December 2022 42022512 531 H
Cost B8 61,360 146,713 72,254 62,721 40,826 4,882 388,756
Accumulated depreciation and impairment Z5H 7 & K& - (40,329) (57,580) (49,556) (31,431) (3,179) (182,075)
Net book amount R [ ¥ & 61,360 106,384 14,674 13,165 9,395 1,703 206,681
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and Motor
Freehold land Buildings improvement machinery equipment vehicles
KRR L i BF HEYEREE & 5= e e 2% RERZRE AE
HK$’000 F % T HK$000 T3t HK$000 T# 7T HK$000 T#HIT HK$000 TESL HKS$000 FET HK$000 T# T
Year ended 31 December 2023 E£2023F12A31 HILLFE
Opening net book amount i ¥ 1k & /F & 61,360 106,384 14,674 13,165 9,395 1,703 206,681
Additions 15 N - 392 8,597 2,739 10,444 228 22,400
Disposals (Note 28(b)) & & (Fff=E 28(b)) - = (270) (5) (152) (7) (434)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) T & H (FizE7) - (3,542) (5,393) (2,107) (3,756) (566) (15,364)
Currency translation differences & ¥ 7 # Z 28 117 278 117 - 12 9 533
Closing net book amount i K ik H # & 61,477 103,512 17,725 13,792 15,943 1,367 213,816
At 31 December 2023 12023512 A 31 H
Cost A4 61,477 147,445 80,551 64,792 49,555 4,930 408,750
Accumulated depreciation and impairment Z5H 178 K& - (43,933) (62,826) (51,000) (83,612) (3,563) (194,934)
Net book amount #& /% & 61,477 103,512 17,725 13,792 15,943 1,367 213,816
As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowing of AUD10,000 (equivalent to HK$53,000) was secured against the Group’s RZEBEZZF+ZR=+—-B ROBRULEENEBFREAKAEZ L IREEE

buildings and freehold land with carrying value of AUD1,807,000 (equivalent to HK$9,457,000). The loan was fully

1,807,000}2 7T » 4 E 1 9,457,0008 T BIEH » AR €2 A 10,0002 T - HE R
repaid during 2023 (Note 26).

53,000/ BT - ZEZERBRENR S -_=ZFRAEHEE (zF26)
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. » EX =
17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17 3%~ W5 Rkt (4)
Depreciation expenses were charged to the consolidated income statement as follows: REHWRBRPTAFNERIOT
2023 2022
HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 F & T
Cost of sales $H%E R4S 5,255 5,303
Distribution and selling expenses 7 8 & $H &£ & 5,668 4,200
General and administrative expenses — & & 17 BB X 4,441 3,546
15,364 13,049
No impairment loss on property, plant and equipment was charged to general and administrative expenses in the 2022 R 2023 FEUBMFHEEBANEHRERN —MRITBEAIZFETA -
consolidated income statement for the years ended at 31 December 2022 and 2023.
Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line KAHEELTHUBARTE - VE BERRENINEUSERETNBREGER
method to allocate their cost net of their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: RESTAEREHESETE  FREGTIERFHUOT
— Buildings B F 25 to 50 years 25 £ 50
— Leasehold improvement 1A & #) £ % & Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life ®IErFREI AT E A EHNREE
— Plant and machinery & 5 & # 88 3to12years 3E 12
— Motor vehicles /5 & 5to8years 5 E 8
— Furniture and equipment R & ;2 & 25t012years 25125
See note 34.4 for the other accounting policies relevant to property, plant and equipment. EBEYE BENSZEZHMETHE > F2EHT34.4 0
oy
18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 WEH &
The net book value of the Group’s intangible assets is analysed as follows: AEBNWETFLEENREZES>MAOT :
Other
Computer intangible
Goodwill software assets
EE B R HttEmpEEE
HK$'000 F 38 7T HK$’000 F 38 7T HK$’000 F3& 7T HK$'000 F 38 7T
At 1 January 2022 8 2022%1 81 H 49,419 7,417 4,117 60,953
Additions & 1 - 1,921 - 1,921
Amortisation (Note 7) #8 (K3 7) - (1,868) (1,300) (3,168)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 182022412 31 H &% 20234181 H 49,419 7,470 2,817 59,706
Additions & 10 - 44 - 44
Amortisation (Note 7) #f 4 (FfzE7) = (2,063) (1,300) (3,363)
At 31 December 2023 72023 F 12 31 H 49,419 5,451 1,517 56,387
Note: BT -
Other intangible assets represent customer relationships, a management contract and an exclusive supply contract. HtWEBTEESHNAZFEEZ ESEBAREBERHEESR -
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets. BERRAEENEFEENRBHAUERAFHAAESEZ BFTE -
See note 34.5 for the other accounting policies relevant to intangible assets, and note 34.6 for the Group’s policy regarding ERENEECHM S HEBSEMASMs ERENEERBECREBZZHEME
impairments. 34.6 °
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18

19

20

218

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment test for goodwill

The Group recognised a goodwill of HK$49,419,000 in 2015 as a result of the acquisition of the equity interest in
Honour Essence Trading Limited, which is principally engaged in the distribution of Chinese medicine products in
Hong Kong. The goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing to this Honour Essence Trading Limited cash
generating units (“CGU”) within the Hong Kong segment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill arising on acquisition is allocated to the Group’s CGU within the
Hong Kong segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined by management based on value-in-use calculation. The key
assumptions adopted in the value-in-use calculation are based on management’s best estimates and past
experience.

The value-in-use calculation is based on a five-year financial budget approved by management, with five-year sales
growth rate ranging between -16% to 1% (2022: 1% to 8%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 1% (2022: 3%). A pre-tax discount rate of 16% (2022: 16%) is used
which reflects the specific risks relating to the relevant operating segment.

There was no impairment required from the review on goodwill. A reasonably change in assumptions would not
result in impairment as a such disclosure of sensitivity analysis is not considered necessary.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FVOCI represents a Hong Kong listed equity security which is denominated in Hong Kong dollars. This is a strategic
investment which is not held for trading and the Group considers this classification to be more relevant. Its fair value
is analysed as follow:

18

19

b3t
op

& E ()
T 2 B £ 30

AEER0GFRBARESARLA (AT EZXBAREBUSBIHETEER)
RBEAHBER49,419,00087T - AERIBREETBIBAZEZARAIANRE
EHEMPETRENR -

ATHENZNEN BHECIREAEEZEBLEANCHBNRESELEM -

REELENNTHRESERERERBECAEEMEEEZMEE - ARGEER
BENHERIREREEENREGTIBRENERMEE -

FREEHERERCEEEEBN AV REE - AEYHEEEREAE-16%E1%
(2022 1 1% £8%) - AFHIUB M BMIEETIFEA1%(2022 : 3%) HWHFHERE
WE o FAZHRATBEERA16%(2022 : 16%)  RMMRAEB DSBS TEEME

FELRENRRTTERE HRBRNGEZCLTSEIRE FAATFER
BRI -

D28 AR ELJC 5 MO A L5 4 i
7
UMAARBEFEERSH T ALMGANENEREERUBTEENTB LD
Afs BREBUERERFRSGUEERS FAEERRE-—2HERE - H
AEEIFOT

n
n

At 1 January 1 81H
(Loss)/income recognised in other comprehensive income (E518) IR FH it A E H iz & U3
At 31 December 12 B 31 H

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 T & 5T HK$’000 F & 7T
9,618 5,463

(1,785) 4,155

7,833 9,618

20 B E Py F3 B
FEFEHAERRENHFAT

2023 2022

Deferred income tax assets IEFEFT 5 H & E

— Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions 1% BB 858 E Frif s MR Fr SR & &
Deferred income tax assets, net SFIEL FTSHIEE
Deferred income tax liabilities ¥& iE FT 155t & 1&

— Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions 1% BB 8518 E FriK MR SR B E
Deferred income tax liabilities, net SFIE L FT S Hi B &
Deferred income tax, net JEJiE fT 158 /F 58
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HK$°000 T 3% 7T HK$'000 F 5% 7T
62,594 34,897

(25,472) (20,083)

37,122 14,814

(33,916) (27,261)

25,472 20,083

(8,444) (7,178)

28,678 7,636
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 20 WEEEPT AR (4)
The net movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows: EIEFESHIRE FEBMT -
HK$’000 F7& T HK$’000 F % 7T
At 1 January A1 818 7,636 14,903
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated income statement (Note 13) 5t A~ (31 B) & ffUzE & (M3 13) 21,159 (6,765)
Currency translation differences & & 5 #t: Z 28 (117) (502)
At 31 December 7412 B 31 H 28,678 7,636

The gross movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities, without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

EFEZRE-REAEEEAGRIKHENERT  BEEMEHEEREEREHNT :

Unrealised
profit resulting
from intragroup

Accelerated transactions
accounting EERA Lease
depreciation RBEEW Provisions Tax losses liabilities Total

hZEEEHTE RE TR B BiE BiIR & 18 HEAE A5t

HK$’000 T8 T HK$’000 T8 7T HK$’000 T8 T HK$’000 T8 T HK$’000 T8 7T HK$’000 T T
Deferred income tax assets EEZLFFEHEE

At 1 January 2022 1420221 A 1H 30 17,161 4,843 - 23,897 45,931

Credited/(charged) to the consolidated income statement 5 A /(1 8 ) &4t & 5 (11,485) 1,446 3,251 (2,918) (9,701)
Currency translation differences & & & i = 58 2) - (360) (111) (860) (1,333)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 742022512 531 HUA KX 20231 81H 33 5,676 5,929 3,140 20,119 34,897
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated income statement (F1H )5t A & #f Uz & (33) 13,636 5,931 2,563 5,619 27,716
Currency translation differences & # & i Z 48 - (67) (59) 107 (19)
At 31 December 2023 14202312 F 31 H 19,312 11,793 5,644 25,845 62,594

Accelerated tax Right-of-use

depreciation assets

Deferred income tax liabilities & iE fi 5% & &

At 1 January 2022 A2022F1 81 H

(Charged)/credited to the consolidated income statement (18), st A &t &
Currency translation differences & # 5 #: = %

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 4202212 31 H A& 20231818
Charged to the consolidated income statement 1 B & #f W & &

Currency translation differences & # & & = 48

At 31 December 2023 742023412 531 H

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately HK$10,594,000 (2022: HK$10,369,000) in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately
HK$58,166,000 (2022: HK$57,360,000) at 31 December 2023 that can be carried forward against future taxable
income. These tax losses have no expiry dates except for the tax losses of HK$20,671,000 (2022: HK$16,833,000)
which will expire between 2024 and 2042 (2022: expire between 2023 and 2041).

The Group did not recognise the deferred income tax liabilities of HK$4,755,000 (2022: HK$5,971,000) in respect of
the withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries amounting to
HK$95,011,000 (2022: HK$119,364,000) at 31 December 2023, as the Group can control the dividend policies of
these subsidiaries and these unremitted earnings will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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DoZE B IE I B REEE

HK$'000 T3t  HK$000 F#EL  HK$000 T T

(8,212) (22,816) (31,028)
&) 3,006 2,935

14 818 832
(8,269) (18,992) (27,261)
(1,146) (5,411) (6,557)
(6) (92) (98)
(9,421) (24,495) (33,916)

MU BBRRERFABEEREEARNEEE AR EFBAERRAEEHENE
B o AREBIE A 4 LUK 8 R 2R FERR B Uk &% A9 E518 58,166,000 78 7T (2022 £ :
57,360,000 7t) R IEL FT 8% & & 10,594,000 Jt (2022 % : 10,369,000
JT) o BRFLIE K58 20,671,00078 T (2022 £ : 16,833,00078 T ) MR 2024 2042 F
RIZIER (2022 F : 2023 22041 FREZEIH)  ZEFEEBILE|ERAE -

A2023F12A31H AEBUERE THE QR KREE 2 & 595,011,000 T
(2022 £ : 119,364,000 7t ) TR E 2 R I B 1H 2 B Fr 5 5 & & 4,755,000 8
7t (2022 F : 5,971,00058x) @ WIIHREBEREARGELLHE A TMNRSBER
WHELREENABIEEATERNRRSE -
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21 INVENTORIES 21 #E

HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F3& T
Raw materials J& 1 #} 776,294 320,855
Work in progress £ & m@ 56,576 227
Finished goods and trading merchandise £ f & & 5 & f 178,779 148,702
1,011,649 469,784
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$392,093,000 (2022: HE2023F12A31ALEE BIBAIALFTATHEHERLAINEFERELS
HK$505,359,000) and the impairment loss on inventories and write-off of inventories amounted to HK$363,000 392,093,000 jT (2022 : 505,359,000 t) » FERBEEAREEMBE S 5B
(2022: HK$422,000) and HK$725,000 (2022: HK$211,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively. 363,000 % T (2022 & : 422,000 % jv) K& 725,000 7 jt (2022 & : 211,000/ 7T) °

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 22 B 5 R Wk TE % M il 3 8D

HK$’000 T7& T HK$’000 F7& 7T
Trade receivables & 5 F&E W5k 18
— immediate holding company B =& 2 7] 50,460 67,813
— intermediate holding company H B2 i 2\ 7] - 142
— fellow subsidiaries 5 Z Ff & 2 & 156,682 200,886
— joint ventures & & 3 2,029 1,926
— associate B 1 7 6,552 16,191
— third parties 5=7 220,679 656,556
Trade receivables, gross & 5 fEUN TR 1E - %8 436,402 943,514
Less: loss allowance (note e) i : 18 % & fE (Mizte) (41,158) (20,284)
Trade receivables, net ¥ & 5 fE UL X 1E 395,244 923,230
Prepayments & {3 518 11,623 8,994
Other receivables H fth F& Ut 1 18 26,774 17,797
Deposits &€ 19,369 18,333
Amount due from a joint venture (note c) FEUR & & 1 2 7118 (Kizkc) 970 970
453,980 969,324
Notes: i 2
(a) Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of (a) ES RN EAR R E N B R E L ERN AR TEITREEREFARIE - H
business. Other current assets include prepayment, deposits and other receivables. If collection of trade receivables and other HRBEEEERNTRE R REMEBEWRNE - HEHR - FHURN (HEBER
current assets is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as R BREBHWEZELBHRRN) EREZRUREREMRBEE  IRERE
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. PEARDEE RAUZ2INRIERBEE -
Trade receivables and other current assets, excluding prepayments, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently BESRWREREMRBERE  BARERD ASUQAAEEER  HEREBH
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, see Note 34.7(iv) and 3(a)(ii) BRAEBRFZRETE > CHRBERE > FRMEE34.7(iv) R 3(a)(ii) °
for further details.
(b) The fair values of trade receivables and other currents assets approximate their carrying amounts. (b) ESZRERFEREMRBEEN AN EEHEEREMEES
() The amount is repayable on demand, unsecured in nature and bears no interest. (c) ZHREARERKEERZ SBEHARZEE -
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22 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

224

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) Retail sales at the Group’s stores are usually made in cash or by debit or credit cards. For wholesales to customers (including
related parties), the Group grants credit periods ranging from 30 to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days).

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date (including amounts due from
related parties of trading in nature) is as follows:

oy

SR 2 e e B

22 B 5y W WOk B L A 7 B ()

My

(d)

(&

FAEETEXBBERURS B FREAFET MHABBRTES (BEEBKT)
ME  AEBERENEEHRI0E90 K (2022F : 30E90K) °

R2023F K 2022F12A31H REXZAHNEZRRTE (BEEREESN
BZHE) NIRRT :

Up to 90 days 90 X

91-180 days 91 X £ 180 K
181-365 days 181 X £ 365 X
Over 365 days 365X JA £

(e) The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables. This resulted in loss allowance amounted to HK$41,158,000 (2022:HK$20,284,000) for
trade receivables as at 31 December 2023. Please refer to Note 3(a)(ii) for details about the calculation of the allowance and
the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 T % 7T HK$°000 T8 T
188,302 743,688

326 29,928

3,092 30,172

244,682 139,726
436,402 943,514

AEEBRAEBMBEREENFIRNE LA LA ERBEREL DEAEES
W ERERAZEFERNERELREE - R2023F 12831  EEXENESEW
1B 18 K B 15 5 41,158,00038 7T (2022 F : 20,284,000 5T) © M £E 3(a)(ii) 5% 9 B
BESTENFABR -

R12A31 8 EZRERAZBABRENNES BUHEZBABENARNT

Loss allowance as at 1 January R 1 8 1 B8 & &1E

Net impairment losses for the year (Note 7) 4 E BRI EE & (KizE7)
Exchange difference [ 5% Z= %8

Loss allowance as at 31 December A 12 A 31 B R E X B tE

) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables and other current assets are denominated in the following currencies:

)

2023 2022

HK$°000 F & T HK$’000 F % T
20,284 14,737

21,185 6,479

(311) (932)

41,158 20,284

FEENESRBRWAREREMABDEENREEN T ERFTE

Hong Kong dollar & Jt
Renminbi A R #

United States dollar 37T
Canadian dollar it

Euro B 7T

Australian dollar &7t
South Korea won 87T
Other currencies H fth & #5

()] At 31 December 2023, the Group does not hold any collateral as security (2022: nil).
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2023 2022
HK$’000 T 7T HK$°000 F 87T
202,397 491,590
235,685 454,231
4,215 11,876
2,751 1,686
1,171 1,426
1,020 703
104 561
6,637 7,251
453,980 969,324

R2023F12A31 B AEBLJ|IFEEMIKFRIERER (2022F : &) o
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P
23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 23 B4 KSR AT &5 iR
2023 2022
HK$’000 F7& T HK$’000 F7& 7T
Cash and cash equivalents & R IR EEEY
— Cash at bank and on hand $R1T R EF R & 630,299 930,443
— Short-term bank deposits with original maturities within three months JR HiBR 5 =18 B = LR 2 S2 BB R 1T 1F 3K 369,515 1,060,523
999,814 1,990,966
Short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months R #ifR B =18 B L L 2 52 HRR 1T 1F 3K 1,378,879 252,997
Total &5 2,378,693 2,243,963
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits included balances of R2023F12A1 B AKEHNASRRALSEYARBHRTFZFRERE
S o . S x S 2 5 ain /=
HK$99,238,000 (2022: HK$142,787,000), which were deposits with banks in the Mainland China. The remittance of 99,2?;?,005:%"75 12022 F 1142,787,00080) - BB RORBA  E 0 B R 2 R AT
such balances out of the Mainland China is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control WER HZSERELTERNBAITEARNBEANIEEHRARZRES -
promulgated by the PRC government.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits are denominated in AEENBESRBESESEYUREHRTERNEREAEUTHEBTE
the following currencies:
2023 2022
HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F &t
Hong Kong dollar 7& Jt 2,084,730 1,908,077
Renminbi A R #& 57,204 118,687
Macao pataca J2F9 7t 87,405 76,191
Canadian dollar fl 7t 31,901 34,714
Australian dollar J& 7T 33,747 30,933
Singapore dollar i i3 7t 29,906 29,447
United States dollar 37T 27,760 23,968
Other currencies E fth & ¥ 26,040 26,946
2,378,693 2,243,963
L
24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 JoeA
Number of
shares Share capital
idvip 4| ;S
HK$'000 F 38 7T
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid 22 {TRAEZ L ER
At 31 December 2022 and 2023 142022 % % 2023412 5 31 H 837,100,000 938,789
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25 RESERVES

25 fili i

o 7 A 5 e A B

Merger Statutory
reserve reserve
(note a) Other (note b) Exchange Retained
SOt reserves EERE reserve earnings
(Mizxa) Hithf# & (Mf=EDb) BE 5 &1 L E
HK$°000 F3& T HK$°000 F3& T HK$°000 F& T HK$°000 F& T HK$°000 F& T HK$’000 F7& 7T
At 1 January 2022 742022F1 A1 H (13,124) (13,764) 6,229 (4,508) 2,504,551 2,479,384
Comprehensive income % & Uz
Profit for the year & £ F ;8 - - - - 645,875 645,875
Other comprehensive income/(losses) Hftb 4R & Wz (EiE)
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
UAREBEEFAEEHSEHFAEMGERENEREEAREEED - 4,155 - - - 4,155
Currency translation differences & # i # = 28
— Group A& H - - - (16,694) - (16,694)
— Joint ventures and an associate & & ¥ Kk EtE A 7 - - - (3,360) - (3,360)
Total comprehensive income/(losses) &R & W,/ (E518) #5E - 4,155 - (20,054) 645,875 629,976
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners EEER I & UHFFEEN B RETHR Z WAL
Dividends paid 2 13 i & - - - - (443,663) (443,663)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
HERMEENEMBENSHETHRENER - - - - (443,663) (443,663)
At 31 December 2022 X 2022512 A31 H (13,124) (9,609) 6,229 (24,562) 2,706,763 2,665,697
Merger Statutory
reserve reserve
(note a) Other (note b) Exchange Retained
EOHEE reserves EEMRE reserve earnings Total
(M=xa) H it {15 (MizEDb) B X & E R E-E
HK$’000 Tt HK$’000 T 7% 7T HK$’000 T 7 7T HK$’000 F 7 7t HK$’000 F 7 7t HK$’000 F 7 7t
At 1 January 2023 7420231 81 H (13,124) (9,609) 6,229 (24,562) 2,706,763 2,665,697
Comprehensive income %R & Wz
Profit for the year & £ F ;8 - - - - 540,393 540,393
Other comprehensive (losses)/income Hftt#R4 (&E)
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
LAREBEFEEESHHAEMEEKENEREEAREEED - (1,785) - - - (1,785)
Currency translation differences & #5 i 1 = 28
— Group & E - - - 310 - 310
— Joint ventures and an associate & & % Kk Bt & A 7 = = = (648) = (648)
Total comprehensive (losses)/income %&R& (E18) WK H B 5 - (1,785) - (338) 540,393 538,270
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners BB ERZFIEELEFMEEN SR ETHR S WAL
Dividends paid B 13 % £ - - - - (276,243) (276,243)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
HERMEENEMBEENEHETHRBNERE - - - - (276,243) (276,243)
At 31 December 2023 7420231231 H (13,124) (11,394) 6,229 (24,900) 2,970,913 2,927,724
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25 RESERVES (Continued)

26

230

Notes:

@

Merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the net book value of the entities that had been acquired and
the investment consideration paid by the Company to effect a reorganisation that took place in 2010.

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in the Mainland China to provide for certain statutory reserves,
which are to be appropriated from the net profit (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their
respective statutory financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are created for
specific purposes. The company in the Mainland China is required to appropriate 10% of statutory net profits to statutory
reserves, upon distribution of its post-tax profits of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the
aggregate sum of the statutory reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory reserves shall only be used to
make up losses of the companies, to expand the companies’ production operations, or to increase the capital of the
companies. In addition, a company may make further contribution to the statutory reserve using its post-tax profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

BORROWINGS

Non-current 3E57 8

— Unsecured government loan % 48 B fF {5 3X

Total non-current borrowings 3£ B 15 & 42 48
Current i &)

— Secured bank borrowing B £ R ITE R

— Unsecured government loan £ & $# B fF {5 5X

Total current borrowings 7 &) {5 & 4 %8

Total borrowings & & 428

Notes:

@

At 31 December 2022, the bank borrowing amounted to AUD10,000 (equivalent to HK$53,000) was secured by the freehold
land and building of the Group amounted to AUD1,807,000 (equivalent to HK$9,457,000) (Note 17).

The bank borrowing bore interest at 1.5% plus the bank bill rate in Australia per annum at 31 December 2022 and was wholly
repaid in 2023. The Group has nil (2022: HK$7,885,000) undrawn borrowing facility with floating rate expiring beyond one
year.

The bank borrowing is denominated in Australian dollar and its carrying amount approximates its fair values.

The government loans represent a fund from Macau Economic Bureau under a special assistance scheme for small-medium
corporations affected by typhoon and funds from governments under the schemes related to COVID-19.

For Macau government loan, the interest free loan is unsecured and repayable in 7 years (2022: same). The loan is
denominated in Macao pataca and its carrying amount approximates its fair values.
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25 filfhs (48)

M &E -

(@)

FEENAHERECHBERNREFERARTAN 2010 FETEAMZN
MEERENESE-

TEEERESRE ETEAMEMO QAR EARESEADIRFBA - ARER
EEMBHBRAEBNFANB EEUEFENRTBRR) P 2EWFRUER
ETEERB FEZERBUABERARMRL - FEABLITIRDIKE FEH
BB RFER  AREAERBIRET FFEN10% - BELRAEAERKENANE
BHAMEARNSONE  AFAFLIE ZERBRITAEREHIINESE
BALOAMNEELEREMARNER - I RBEFERER ARAULAH
BRERARNBEEEREFELE-—SHK -

26 A&

Note Fff&E HK$’000 F & 7T HK$’000 F & 7T

C)] 166 333
e 66 333

(@—(c) - 53

(d) 166 166
o 166 219

332 552

M2022%F 12831 H > E{E 10,0002 T - 185 R 53,0008 THRITHERBAER
#1,807,0008 T 10 E 19,457,000 B T K R £/ + #h K2 F MK F (F&F
17) °

RATERN2022F 12 A1 BB AT T WRITEBEFRNMI5%EZFHE LB
BR2023FE 2 E{EE - AE @I (2022 5 : 7,885,00058 Jt) K B A H9F 8 Al =
BEEEIHERBRE—F-

MITHEEURTHE BEERAERERAREERE -

BAERARFKCERIRAZET XS BB THREUAREMEAR
35 Bl 28 B AR A9 BURT 18 5K

o

BRREFABRGER LESERERRLER7TEFRAEE - GRUBRMATAE B
HREMEHEAAEEMEE (2022 1 HE) °
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27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27 B 5 B At FEAF 3k 0

o 7 A 5 e A B

Trade payables & 5 fE{JFIB

— intermediate holding company = &2 i 2 7]

— immediate holding company & #3282\ 7]

— fellow subsidiaries & % [ff & 2 &

— associate B & 2 7]

— third parties £=7
Trade payables (note a) & 5 FE{S 518 (M 5E a)
Accruals and other payables fExt fA & E fth & {4 718
Contract liabilities & E & &

Notes:
(@ Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(b) At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of the trade payables (including amounts due to related parties of trading
in nature) based on invoice date is as follows:

2023

HK$’000 T & T

2022

HK$’000 T & T

20,286 4,736
15,426 9,048
258 310
1,104 4,478
139,903 135,133
176,977 153,705
65,220 77,032
3,211 4,678
245,408 235,415

(@ ENRFEAREARBEEABRIAERIORAXM -

(b) 2023FKR2022F12A31H RERZEAHNEZENRE (BREESHEERN

BERE)NEREDMAOT -

Up to 90 days 90 X

91-180 days 91 X &£ 180 X
181-365 days 181 X £ 365 X
Over 365 days 365X A £

g

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022

HK$’000 T % 7T HK$°000 F & T
157,052 140,238

2,493 6,701

6,666 1,190

10,766 5,576

176,977 163,705

() AKEEZRAEMENFENREEULTIIERE:

Hong Kong dollar & 7t
Renminbi A R #

United States dollar 37T
Canadian dollar 17t
Australian dollar &7t

South African rand R 3R 4%
Singapore dollar 703 7T
Other currencies H fth & #
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2023 2022
HK$°000 F & 7T HK$’000 F & 7T
47,695 61,600

62,056 141,744

105,307 798

5,506 6,598

6,846 7,023

4,142 4,537

2,253 2,133

11,603 10,982

245,408 235,415
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash generated from operations

o 7 A 5 e A B

28 & BF Bl 4 I B B

(a)

REEEZBHE

2023 2022

Profit before income tax [k Fr 15 % A1 7 ;&

Adjustments for: i LA T I8 B % :

— COVID-19-related rent concessions (Note 7) ¥ ! 53 ik i 2 I & 8 B85 € 58 (B EE7)

— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) £ FEE E T E (FizE16)

— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 17) #13 - B E R R EINE (H5E17)

— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) £ JIZ & &= # 85 (FfzE 18)

— Impairment loss on inventories (Note 21) 7 & Z B{EE % (Hf5E21)

— Write-off of inventories (Note 21) 17 & sl (K3t 21)

— Write-off of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) #13 - i = & R #EHUR (F3E7)

— Net impairment losses on financial assets (Note 22) £ B & = 2 R R EIE & (HfzE22)

— Losses/(gains) on disposals of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)
HEWE BERREFEZEE(WKR) (FHE7)

— Dividend income J% F Uk &=

— Finance income, net (Note 10) % Bf # Ut 2 (FftsE 10)

— Share of losses of investments accounted for using the equity method FE{L IR E AR 2 RE BB

— Gain on deemed disposal of an investment accounted for using the equity method
BEHEREZEARZREZ WG

— Unsecured government loan waived £ % £ 1 1 B iF & =

Changes in working capital: & & & < &8 :

— Inventories 7 &

— Trade receivables and other current assets & 5 FE UG IE Kk H R 8 & E
— Trade and other payables & 5 & E fth & {3 X8

Cash generated from operations E& FFEE 2 RE

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment comprise:

HK$’000 F 3 7T HK$’000 F & 7T
687,790 825,962
- (137)
63,787 59,253
15,364 13,049
3,363 3,168
363 422
725 211

- 47
21,185 6,479
378 (28)
(240) (225)
(66,900) (15,927)
3,259 1,540
(2,879) -
= (294)
726,195 893,520
(543,595) (46,998)
492,152 (434,158)
17,120 154,243
691,872 566,607

BOFRERER D - HEWE - Wb RS MR A

2023 2022

Net book amount (Note 17) BRE & (K5 17)
(Losses)/gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)

HEVE  BERSZEZ (B518) Wi (MEE7)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment tHHE&E#) % « B E KRR E TSR
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HK$’000 T T HK$’000 T8 7t
434 99

(378) 28

56 127
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of cash flows from financing activities

(i)

Liabilities from financing activities as at 1 January 2022 420221 81 B @EFHNEE
Principal elements of lease payments # & & &R £ 285

Interest paid & 11 &

Repayment of borrowing &2 & &

Unsecured government loan waived £ % & 3% 1 BUfF B 7K

Acquisition of lease EUiS &

Others® H b0

Foreign exchange adjustments [E 5 782

Liabilities from financing activities as at 31 December 2022 74202212 831 H@ & EH N AE
Liabilities from financing activities as at 1 January 2023 #2023 %1 A1 BE@EFHHNEE
Principal elements of lease payments & & &R & 25

Interest paid 2135 &

Repayment of borrowing & & & &

Acquisition of lease EU5FH &

Others® H 0

Foreign exchange adjustments [E& 5 5%

Liabilities from financing activities as at 31 December 2023 22023512 831 BB EHN AR

Other changes include accrued interest expense, COVID-19-related rent concessions and lease modification.

29 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

236

Contracted but not provided for © 5T £18 5k B 15
— property, plant and equipment and intangible assets #1% - BERRIBEUREFLEE

Lease commitments

The Group has recognised right-of-use assets for leases, except for short-term and low-value leases as set
out below:

2023 2022

No later than 1 year 1 F &

As at 31 December 2023, undiscounted future lease payments amounted to HK$7,400,000 (2022:
HK$806,000) were committed by the Group but the relevant lease periods had not commenced. These lease
commitments were recognised as right-of-use assets upon the lease commencement date in 2024 (2022:
2023).
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A B A B R R B
28 A OF B i R E (4)
(c) I B i i A Y B4 T B B

Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
& HESE &3t

HK$000 F & 7T HK$'000 T 7T HK$’000 F & T
1,279 127,197 128,476
- (56,042) (56,042)
() (4,659) (4,661)
(433) - (433)
(294) - (294)

- 27,731 27,731

(14) 11,423 11,409
16 (3,120) (3,104)

552 102,530 103,082

552 102,530 103,082
- (58,512) (58,512)
(1) (5,977) (5,978)
(220) - (220)

- 73,763 73,763

1 20,841 20,842
- (1,164) (1,164)

332 131,481 131,813

(i) HiSHEERFANE  HEASKESHAEBESHENEESE -

29 H&if

(a)

(b)

BA R

2023 2022

HK$’000 T 7T HK$°000 & 7T

15,961 3,802

MR
ARBERREEACAMEE  UTHRZEHREBERERN

HK$’000 & 7T HK$'000 & T
4,944 1,698

MR2028F 12831 AEBFEAREEABMBN AT RARBEENSRES
7,400,000 7T (2022 5 : 806,000 7T) ° FLEAERKFEE 2024 & (2022 & -
2023 ) HEHHKIBEEREEAREE -
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30 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

238

At 31 December 2023, two subsidiaries of Tong Ren Tang Holdings, namely Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong
Ren Tang Ltd. directly owned 38.05% and 33.62% of shareholding in the Company respectively. Tong Ren Tang
Ltd. is also the controlling shareholder of Tong Ren Tang Technologies. Tong Ren Tang Ltd. effectively owns 71.67%
equity interest in the Company. The remaining 28.33% of the shares are widely held.

The Board of Directors of the Company regards Tong Ren Tang Technologies as the immediate holding company,
Tong Ren Tang Ltd. as the intermediate holding company and Tong Ren Tang Holdings as the ultimate holding

company, all of which are companies incorporated in the PRC.

In addition to those disclosed in other sections of these consolidated financial statements, the following transactions
were carried out with related parties:

(a) Sales and purchases of products

o 7 A 5 e A B

30 EAKBE RS

A2023F12A31H  RACESEEARNMEMBLARRCENERRACERDE
RATD B EEEEARRNTSE8.05% K33.62% EHE -BEI-ERMERATINBEIZ
ERENERRR - EACERDERAAERIFERLNTTI67%RE KT
28.33% MR IEZIFE

AARESERACERNEAEEERAR RCEZROBRLADATEHERLA
RECEEEQRARGAERLT  ZE2TAIRTEEMHL -

BREZEGREUMBBRRAMEHAREEIN  THRSTIEBELET

(a) B B B

Sales of products to $HE&EE R F
Joint ventures & & 3%
Fellow subsidiaries [& % [ /& 2 =]
An associate & A 7]
Immediate holding company B £ % 2 7

Intermediate holding company H & 12 i 2 7]

Purchases of products from BT A RIBEER
Immediate holding company B #{% % 2 &
Intermediate holding company = &2 i§ 2t 7]
Fellow subsidiaries [z % [} /& 2 =)

Joint ventures & & %

An associate & 1 7]

(b) Royalty fee income

2023 2022
Note Fft5F HK$’000 F & 7T HK$’000 T8 7t
@i 1,552 1,237

0] 14,331 221,517

[0) = 1,438

[0) 244 63,942

i) 653 135
16,780 288,269

2023 2022

Note Fff&E HK$’000 F & 7T HK$’000 F & 7T
0] 37,061 34,860

[0) 61,668 27,055

(0] 1,791 38,313

[0) 17 53

[0) 28 4,239
100,565 104,520

(b) i R D 2 Wi ik

Royalty fee income from joint ventures RE & & ¥ 2 mIEFEHE K&
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2023 2022
Note Fff £ HK$'000 3% 7T HK$'000 F 3% 7T
(i) 439 818
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30 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 30 HOKBABE 25 (4)

240

(c)

Rental expenses (c) &%
2023 2022
Note Fff = HK$°000 F & T HK$’000 F % 7T
Rental expense to: B T AR X 2 HEHX
Ultimate holding company & &% g 2 7] (i) 939 972
Immediate holding company B #1212 7] (i) 1,008 -
Fellow subsidiaries [3 % Kf & 2 7] (i) 4,587 4,929
6,534 5,901
At 31 December 2023, the Group recognised lease liabilities payable to immediate holding company of R20283F 12831 B  AEERERNEAERAEFEELZRATANEE
HK$2,776,000 (2022: Nil) and fellow subsidiaries of HK$14,384,000 (2022: HK$2,557,000) over the relevant 8E /2,776,000 T (2022F M) MENERAMNBLAANEEEREA
property leases. 14,384,000 T (2022 % : 2,557,00058 7T) °
Advertising agency services expense (d) & ACE R B 2
Note Pt &+ HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F & 7T
Advertising agency services expense to a fellow subsidiary BIE R B A A 2EEREREE R @ 1,566 1,318
Key management compensation (e) REEHABHM
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and senior management. The emoluments FTEEEBABEBRITRIAVTESNSRAEEAE HEERBAZEE
paid or payable to key management for employee services is as follows: BAEXHAEAFHMESOT @
2023 2022
HK$'000 F 3% 7t HK$000 F 3% 7T
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits & 1 H 2 H{E 22 F| 6,500 7,148
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk & 4~ — EZE T2 634 343
7,134 7,491

Notes: FfEE

(i) These transactions were conducted in the normal course of business at prices and terms mutually agreed between the (i)
parties involved.

anr

ZERGR—REBBRIRESHENERRRTET -

(ii) In accordance with the royalty agreements, the royalty fee is charged annually by the Company at either 1% on (i) REERABDAARARERBERAERERRZEEECEEERAN 1%
revenue and 1.5% on profit before income tax of the joint ventures, whichever is higher. Pursuant to these agreements, BMATFIBEMN1I5%NBRSERN - REZSHR ZSEELERBEUIE
these joint ventures are permitted to operate under “Tong Ren Tang” brand name. CEIRERBEE-
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31 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND AN 31 FEWBEAFE » GEAEEREE A
ASSOCIATE

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate at 31 December 2023 and 2022: TXHIN2023FE K% 2022512831 ANTEMBLAT  SELERKELNT !

Particulars of Effective equity interest held

Place of incorporation and kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation issued share capital GiEs2 Lt

AR EHEREARBER IRERRELHY DRIRARHE 2023 2022

(@  Subsidiaries #B 2
(i) Directly held by the Company A2 A E## A

Beijing Tong Ren Tang International Natural-Pharm Co., Ltd." ¢ PRC, limited liability company Sale and distribution of Chinese medicine products and HK$10,000,000 100% 100%
TRRCEEREERRAROY FE > BRAR healthcare products 10,000,000 7

HERAHPEERARER

Beijing, PRC

HE - 1R
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia, limited liability company Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine products and AUD1,000,000 75% 75%
FRELCE (RAFIE) BRAR BANG BRAT healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical 1,000,000 87

consultation and treatments
BERBEVEERERERURREDEDRRS
Sydney, Australia
BARE &R
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Science Arts (Singapore) Co Pte. Ltd. Singapore, limited liability company Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine products and SGD857,000 51% 51%
FRRCEFME RE)RAFTRAR g BRAR healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical 857,000 5 N4 7T
consultation and treatments

HERBEPEERERRRIURRMETEDRRHE

Singapore

Fipbd
Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Toronto) Inc. Canada, limited liability company Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products CAD497,300 51% 51%
TRECE (/%) ERAE nex BRAR and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments 497,300 /12 K 7t

TENEERERRAARRMETEDREY

Toronto, Canada

nex. k%
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Gulf FZ-LLC United Arab Emirates, limited liability company Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products AED1,920,000 51% 51%
FTRRCESERRA R MARKAERE BRAF and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments 1,920,000
ZENEEREREARRADEDRER (GF Jiy: bt s

Dubai, United Arab Emirates
MRaABAnRE BF
Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Macau) Company Limited Macao, PRC, limited liability company Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine products and MOP1,000,000 51% 51%
FHEECE (RME) BRAA FE R BRAF healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical 1,000,000 2F5 ¢
consultation and treatments

HBEREEVEERERRARRMATEDRER

Macao, PRC

R
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Poland sp.zo.0. Poland, limited liability company Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products Zloty130,000 100% 100%
FRRLCE (RE) BRAH BE BRAT and provision of Chinese healthcare treatments 130,000 ZE R

ZEREERERRRRRATEDERY
Warsaw, Poland

pUIE)

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Seoul) Company Limited South Korea, limited liability company Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare WON1,052,000,000 51% 51%
TRRCE (BH KA EH %6 BRAF products 1,052,000,0008 7T

HEPEERERER

Seoul, Korea

EE &R
Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Auckland) Company Limited New Zealand, limited liability company Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products NZD2,000,000 100% 100%
FRALCE (RREE)ERAT HEE BRAR and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments 2,000,000 & &7

ZEREERERRRRRAVEBDERYE
Auckland, New Zealand

HEW Brl
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31 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND AN

244

ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued) ft B2 = (&)
Directly held by the Company (Continued) &2 7 E #1475 (&)

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Tong Xin Tong Le Company Limited
TRBCERLELERAT

Honour Essence Trading Limited
AEEFERAT

Sichuan Sihui Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd."®
mIEmEEEFRAF OO

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Hainan) Holding Co,. Ltd"
TRECE (8 2RERATO

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Vancouver Healthcare Center Co., Ltd
TRECERFEREPOERAA

Indirectly held by the Company &2 R i 5

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Melbourne Pty Limited
ERECE (BEAR)ERAR

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Pudu Health Centre B.V.
TR EEERETOERAT

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Czech Republic SE
HRELE (ER)ERAA

Place of incorporation and kind of legal entity

EMRLGEHEREARRER

Hong Kong, PRC, limited liability company
HE - BE BRAR

Hong Kong, PRC, limited liability company
tE B BRAR

PRC, limited liability company
HE - BERAH

PRC, limited liability company
HE BRAR

Canada, limited liability company

nex ERAE

Australia, limited liability company
BARE  BRAR

The Netherlands, limited liability company
Wl BRAA

The Czech Republic, limited liability company
R BERRA

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023

31 ERWE AW > A8 RBE AT ()

Principal activities and place of operation

IRRBRELEHY

Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments

ZENEEREREARREDEDRER

Hong Kong, PRC

HE - &B

Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare
products

HBPEERERER

Hong Kong, PRC

HE BE

Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare
products

HBTEERERRER

Sichuan, PRC

HE [l

Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare
products

BBPEERERER

Hainan, PRC

HE  BE

Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments

ZENEEREREARRAPED BEK

Vancouver, Ganada

nex BEE

Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments

ZENEEREREARRADEDRER

Melbourne, Australia

BARE  EFK

Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments

TENEEREREARRAPELERE

Den Haag, the Netherlands

Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments

ZENEEREREARRADEDRER

Prague, Czech Republic

BR - Ak

EtRECERERRAA

Particulars of

issued share capital

BRORAFE

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T

HK$2,000
2,000 T

RMB1,000,000
1,000,000 A K ¥

RMB5,000,000
5,000,000 A %

CAD1,000,000
1,000,000ME X 7T

AUD100,000
100,0008 7

Euro650,000
650,000 70

CZK3,296,400
3,296,4005 % % 8

o 7 A 5 e A B

Effective equity interest held

iged G b

2023

100%

51%

60%

100%

51%

38%

45%

45%

—E-=EER

2022

100%

51%

60%

100%

51%

38%

45%

45%

245
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31 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND AN 31 REMEAE - AEAEREE A ()
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Particulars of Effective equity interest held

Place of incorporation and kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation issued share capital it L8 i

EMRLGEHEREARRER IRRBRELEHY BRORAFE 2023 2022

(@  Subsidiaries (Continued) & 2 7 (&)
(i) Indirectly held by the Company (Continued) A& 2 R34 ()

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Canada Co. Ltd. Canada, limited liability company Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products CAD1,000,000 51% 51%

TRELCE (MEX)ERAT NEX > BRAH and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments 1,000,000 1€ AT
ZENEEREREARREDEDRER
Vancouver, Canada
mex BEE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Sweden AB Sweden, limited liability company Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products SEK 50,000 45% 45%

FREECE (HR)BRAR W BRAH and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatment 50,0003 2 52
TEPEERERRRRRHENEDRES
Stockholm ,Sweden
HE HEIEE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Swiss SA Switzerland, limited liability company Provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments CHF500,000 45% 45%
ERECERTRABRAT Gt BRAH RETEDREY 500,003 1 £ 8

Geneva, Switzerland

Gt BAR
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Ming Qi Group, LLC United States, limited liability company Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine products and US$200,000 60% 60%
TERCEREERAF 28 BRAH healthcare products 200,000 % T

HEREETEERERRS

New York, United States

8 45
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Concord New York LLC United States, limited liability company Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine products and US$800,000 51% 51%
TRRCEHRNANERA = X8 BRAH healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical 800,000%

consultation and treatments
HERTENEERERERURRATEDRES
New York, United States

26 #45
Beijing Tong Ren Tang Los Angeles Healthcare Center LLC United States, limited liability company Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products US$600,000 51% 51%
FTRRCEEVRERTOERDF 28 BRAH and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments 600,000% 7T

FEPEERERRRRREDEDRES

Los Angeles , United States

B AVR
Beijing Tong Ren Tang (San Gabriel CA) LLC United States, limited liability company Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine products and US$600,000 51% 51%
FRECE (EBEBNHN) BRAF X8 BERAH healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical 600,000% 7

consultation and treatments

HEREENEERERRRURRATEDRES

Los Angeles , United States

ESGRNLT
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31 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Place of incorporation and kind of legal entity

EMRLGEHEREARRER

o 7 A 5 e A B

31 ERWE AW > A8 RBE AT ()

Principal activities and place of operation

Particulars of Effective equity interest held
issued share capital i RRRLE

TEERREEH ERTRAFE 2023 2022

M

@

©

Joint ventures 4 & &+ ¥
Directly held by the Company &2 A E #1575
Peking Tongrentang (M) SDN. BHD® Malaysia, limited liability company
ERELCE (F)BRAFE EREL ARAR
Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Thailand) Co., Ltd.? Thailand, limited liability company
ERELCE (RE)BRAT ZE - ARAR
Union Health International Limited Hong Kong, PRC, limited liability company
REERERAH HE & ARAR
Associate B &1\ 7]
Directly held by the Company &4 R H##5
Beijing Tong Ren Tang WM Dianorm Biotech Co., Limited PRC, limited liability company
(WM Dianorm”)"® HE - BRAR

IRECEEBSENRNARLT (FHE) 0O

The English names of the Group companies incorporated in the Mainland China represent the best effort by the management
of the Group in translating from their Chinese names as they do not have official English names.

Although the Company owns more or less than 50% of the equity interests in these entities, the directors of the Company
consider that these entities are joint ventures of the Company because their strategic operating, investing and financing
activities are jointly controlled by the Company and the joint venture partners in accordance with the joint venture agreements
rather than under the unilateral control or significant influence of the Company.

The non-controlling interests of all non-wholly owned subsidiaries are individually not material to the Group.
Registered as a Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise under the PRC Law.

On 30 September 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of 40% of the equity interests in WM Dianorm from an
independent third party at a total consideration of RMB33,109,300 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,832,000). On 16
February 2023, WM Dianorm entered into a capital injection agreement with an independent investor which agreed to
contribute a total of RMB33,345,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$37,635,000) into WM Dianorm. Upon the completion of
the transaction on 21 February 2023, the Group’s equity interest in WM Dianorm decreased from 40% to 30%.

On 28 February 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of 60% of the equity interests in Sichuan Sihui Pharmaceutical Co.

Ltd. from an independent third party at a total consideration of RMB254,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$287,000).
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Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products MYR1,900,000 60% 60%
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments 1,900,000 5%

FEEERERBRIRRETED RS

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

BRAESZ  ERR
Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine products and THB38,000,000 49% 49%
healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical 38,000,000% 8%

consultation and treatments
HERBETEERERRRARRBFBDRRE
Bangkok, Thailand

ZH B8R

Retail of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products HK$10,000 50% 50%
and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments 10,000/ T

SEPEERRRRRURREHTBYRRY

Hong Kong, PRC

HE . BE

Technological development and sales of biological products, US$4,000,000 30% 40%
Chinese and western medicines, cosmetics and healthcare 4,000,000 T
products
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

32 BALANCE SHEET OF THE COMPANY 32 AvlEEARE
Note ff & HK$’000 F7& T HK$’000 F7& 7T
Assets B E
Non-current assets I 7 &1 & &
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % + B E K% H 95,841 90,565
Right-of-use assets ff A& = 144,173 123,224
Intangible assets L& E 5,452 7,470
Investments in subsidiaries K B 2 7 2 7 E&E 274,155 334,782
Investments in joint ventures RE & £ ZRE 26,448 26,448
Investments in associates A B & A 7 2 & 43,762 43,762
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
UAREBEFEEESHHARMGERENERERE 7,833 9,618
Prepayments for purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
BEWE BMERIRBUREBEEENTEMNR 7,094 11,724
604,758 647,593
Currentassets REVEE
Inventories 7 & 898,225 341,136
Trade receivables and other current assets B 5 FEW /1B & R B EE 527,228 925,166
Short-term bank deposits %2 #i#R {717 7 1,327,720 212,100
Cash and cash equivalents & R E S EEY 721,318 1,671,630
... 3474491 3150032
Total assets & E# 5 4,079,249 3,797,625
Equity and liabilities & & & &
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7 2 T # & A (L%
Share capital [ 938,789 938,789
Reserves fi# &
— Other reserves H i f## (5,673) (4,170)
— Retained earnings 1% & W& 33 2,887,274 2,630,058
Total equity # % # & . 382038% 3,564,677
Liabilities & &
Non-current liabilities IR B & &
Lease liabilities fA & & & 25,150 13,792
Deferred income tax liabilities, net S IEE PR B H & 1& 8,367 7,035
R /ST 20827
Current liabilities F 81 & &
Trade and other payables B 5 & H fth F& {4 7K 18 173,599 61,869
Lease liabilities fHE & & 32,939 20,153
Current income tax liabilities & Hi TS & & 18,804 130,099
o 225342 @ 212,121
Total liabilites &E#&E 258859 232,948
Total equity and liabilities # % &k & E4 5 4,079,249 3,797,625
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2024 and was signed on NAMNEEABRN2024E3 4P EESSME  THUTRREE -
its behalf.
Gu Hai Ou Chen Fei S B B e
Director Director EE EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A B A B R R B

33 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 33wl

Retained Other

earnings reserves

b€ Hito ik

HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 F & 7T

At 1 January 2022 74202261 A1H 2,477,755 (8,325)

Profit for the year £ £ FlI ;8 595,966 -
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

LARBEFEEESBHAHMGEERENEREEAREEEY - 4,155

Dividends paid (Note 15) 2 11§ 2 (Kft&£ 15) (443,663) -

At 31 December 2022 4202251231 H 2,630,058 (4,170)

At 1 January 2023 7420231 A1H 2,630,058 (4,170)

Profit for the year & £ /58 533,459 -

Currency translation difference & % 5 & = 48 - 282
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

UAREBEFEEEZBHAHEMGEENENEREEAAEEED - (1,785)

Dividends paid (Note 15) 213 I8 & (Ff5E 15) (276,243) -

At 31 December 2023 42023512531 H 2,887,274 (5,673)

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 34 s 18 AE K & 5 BURBEE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these AMFHINERUEGREUNBERGEACEMECEENSTEE - RISBIGZEH
consolidated financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless o ZEBRCERERRZINFAEFE - ABBRREANLZRBCERER
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the group consisting of Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine MHERADAREFAARARNER -

Company Limited and its subsidiaries.

34.1 Principles of consolidation 34.1 & P JE A

(a) Subsidiaries
(i)  Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Business combinations

For acquisitions of businesses under common control, merger accounting method stipulated
under Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations” is used. The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations not under common control. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023

(a) KB
(i) @
MEBARAXREEHHEEZEHENER (BEEEER) - EX
SEEEAERZESHEHEBEEMB 2 UE2ERNWERKRIER -
WHEBBHEZERENEIFEZEEH  AAEEHZEREA
BEREHE -MBLAIERHEEZEAEEERLEGHE LB
DEGEAILIERRTBEMTE -

EBEOf

HRARES THEBREDRESBETIESIBsRIHEE
FEHNEHETREINGHENEZAR  WBEREREE
FHEEFZEBESHNARE E - SBUBHE L R AEREOR
BEAFMEREE BRUBHIAEREELANEERASEMET
RENIAEE MEZNREEEIEREZFELNEMNE
EREENAIAEE EBSHTAEBIRNEERMRES
ERIEEE AL UARSERUBEBNAIAEEFEURRKF
RAFEARBERENDAEE-

AEBRBFHEEBEERDWRED NWEMFERES - BRE
FEREZAETRHAARIRNEERZLAZEERERF
ENRKBRFERESRAOABERRBIERERZLH
BEREBLAIRNEEFENERASHTE - RITBUHER
SREABRKAAEMFEEE  TRIAEMAEFEZRESINGT
ZHBABNLREETE -

WBEBE R AEEERHE -

tRECEREERAIT —T-=FFH 253



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

34.1 Principles of consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(1)

Consolidation (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or
loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Where necessary, accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their
capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in the profit
or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint ventures or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes directly attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
34.1 Principles of consolidation (Continued)
(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s
investments in associates include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the cost of the associate and the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in the statement of other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to “share of losses/profits of investments accounted for using the
equity method”, in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are recognised in the income statement.

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual
rights and obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements
and determined them to be joint ventures. Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. The Group’s investments in joint ventures include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint venture, any difference
between the cost of the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in joint
ventures equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint
ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

34.2 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Company’s executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

34.3 Foreign currency translation

(1)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

- all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

34.4 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly a factory, offices and retail shops. All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2(j)).

34.5 Intangible assets
(1) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Gains and losses on disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups of CGUSs, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

(i) Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The customer relationships have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected
life of the customer relationships of ten years.

(iii) Other intangible assets

Within the Group there are three types of other intangible assets: management contract, exclusive
supply contract and computer software. These intangible assets acquired have a finite useful life and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over their expected useful lives.

34.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

34.7 Financial assets

(1)

(1)

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (“OCI”),
and
° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which

the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset.

(a) Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OClI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

(b) Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classified its debt
instruments into financial assets at amortised cost:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

264

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

34,7 Financial assets (Continued)
(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 3(a)(ii) for
further details.

34.8 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on
future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

34,9 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour,
other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

3410 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held
at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less,
and bank overdrafts (if any).

34.11 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

3412 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3413 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

3414 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their

intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

34.15 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(1) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Fok B BV 5 e B

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 34 M AdYEAE E K& S BORBEE (4)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

34.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 34.15 B3 % 0B % P 45 B (4)

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

3416 Employee benefits

The Group operates various post-employment schemes which are defined contribution plans and are generally
funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds. The Group has adopted a
provident fund scheme for its employees in Hong Kong as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, and has also participated in employee pension schemes organised and governed by the
relevant local authorities for its employees in the Mainland China and overseas countries/regions.

(i) Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

(i) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

(i1i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the group before the normal
retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of terminations benefits. In
the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

34,17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited Annual Report 2023

(iii) K8
HEEZEANHTROSNAH EEEHEE EHEIKEMELHBRER
PRE-GEEE AEEHEEERABEVTFHERSE HARE
BELZEUHTRSITESEREERFEEELE AEEREER
AERGHEE ANMRHAEERTBLETHEESN -

M REERSHNESZER HAERAMEERESREERER
BAGBEBRMN - EUERT  HETSIAEME2EARSREER
SR

34.16 1@ B & A

AEEAREBERSARKETE ZEAARTREARE  —REBAR
BARHAZAAEEESNAAMESES - ARECREBFME I ESTE
HOABEREETYRESTE  RIAATEAARABREIER HENES
SHEEMABBMASRAENESRKSFE -

(i) BIREHE

ERHARAARAEAOBYUERXVEAERRNEBREFT S - ME
SUESERAEEURAHBRBEHENEEREO2BEEX
FEF  AAEENEFELE-PEANEZEREESRE -

(i) BELFHS
AEERASNATRRBEEAEERTETHHEDEE -

(iii) W AR R
AEESEIEREABS AR L EREEREEEETAERE UL
BEBLEEAE SABBEN - AEEETHANPREERRE
BEA QEAEETEEHDNELEANNESE MO EATRD
BB SN LS EEEAL S RN BHENOREE - IR
EHSBEESENSEY REEHNEREASBESEANE T AR
REBH - BEMERERIBI12/E L BB ZBEFE -

34.17 Al

MASEEBESHMAREREEERHEESE  ERBULRHUET
EHEMR MEBSHEETEMT  WERIABE ARPWLEFRIUTE
HERRBE -

HHRSEEANUSEME  CEZREREMAENECRTAIHESURBKEE -
BEREEENEM-—EEEXHESNTRAKR  DEEITERE -

BRERRANACENEHEECNRIUBATRANZRENRETE &7
ERRERTESHERSHEENEBEETHERBRNOTMG - BEBREM
BB BEREIABFEME -

tRECEREERQIT —T-=FFH®K 269
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34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 34 M AdYEAE E K& S BORBEE (4)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

34,18 Interest income 34.18 A & W 22

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income statement as part of finance income, net.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 10 above. Any other interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of
the loss allowance).

3419 Dividend income

Dividends are received from a financial asset measured at FVOCI. Dividends are recognised as other net gains
in the consolidated income statement when the right to receive payment is established.

3420 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

The Group leases various properties to operate its offices and retail stores. These leases are typically made for
fixed periods of two to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain various
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may

not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

(i) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(i) variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date; and

(i)  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

(if) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
(i) any initial direct costs, and

(iv)  restoration costs.

3421 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

3422 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Note 6 provides further information on how the group accounts for government grants.
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

INVESTOR CALENDAR

10 August 2023 2028 interim results announcement
14 March 2024 20283 annual results announcement
31 May 2024 Annual General Meeting

28 May to 31 May 2024
(Both days inclusive)

6 June to 11 June 2024
(Both days inclusive)

11 June 2024
On or before 17 June 2024

Closure of Register of Members (for determination of shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at annual general meeting)

Closure of Register of Members (for determination of shareholders who qualify for
the final dividend)

Record Date (for determination of shareholders who qualify for the final dividend)

Payment of final dividend

SHARE INFORMATION

Company Name
Listing

Stock Code

GEM Listing Date

Transferred from GEM to
Main Board Date

Lot Size

Issued Share Capital
as at 31 December 2023

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited
The Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
3613

7 May 2013

29 May 2018

1,000 Shares
837,100,000 Shares

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

BEEHIE

BEHER

2023%8H10H 2023 FHHAEE NS
2024F3814H 2023FFEXE NS
2024%5H31H BRBFERE

2024555280 E5A31H

TERERDBFECTE (REAREERIBFAE

Room 1405-1409, Office Tower, Convention Plaza
1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2881 7989

Fax: (852) 2881 0839

Email: ir@tongrentangcm.com

Website: cm.tongrentang.com

SHAREHOLDERS SERVICE AND ENQUIRIES

For enquiries about your shareholding including change of name or address, transfer of shares, loss of share certificates or
dividend cheques, registrations and requests for annual/interim report copies, please contact the Company’s share

registrar and transfer office:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862 8555

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

Website: www.computershare.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Gu Hai Ou (Chairman) @
Chen Fei

Non-executive Director
Feng Li @

Independent Non-executive Directors ©
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper

Xu Hong Xi ©

Chan Ngai Chi

AUDIT COMMITTEE ©

Chan Ngai Chi (Chairman)
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper
Xu Hong Xi ©

NOMINATION COMMITTEE ©

Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper (Chairman)
Xu Hong Xi ©
Chan Ngai Chi

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ©

Xu Hong Xi (Chairman) ©
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper
Chan Ngai Chi

COMPANY SECRETARY

Tsang Fung Yi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES @

Gu Hai Qu ™
Chen Fei ®
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3613

Notes:
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Suite 3203-3207
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Certified Public Accountants and
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(1) Ms. Ding Yong Ling retired as an Executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the authorised representative of the Company on
31 August 2023; Mr. Chen Fei was appointed as the authorised representative of the Company on 31 August 2023; Ms. Lin Man
resigned as an Executive Director and the authorised representative of the Company on 12 September 2023; Mr. Yu Jin was
appointed as an Executive Director on 20 October 2023, and then resigned as an Executive Director on 28 March 2024; and Mr. Gu
Hai Ou was appointed as an Executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the authorised representative of the Company on 13
December 2023.

) On 13 March 2023, Ms. Feng Li was re-designated as a Non-executive Director.

3) On 13 March 2023, Mr. Zhao Zhong Zhen resigned and Mr. Xu Hong Xi was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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GLOSSARY

AGM
Articles of Association
Audit Committee

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group

Board or Board of Directors
CG Code
Code Provision(s)

Company

Company Secretary

Competition Executive Committee
Competition Supervisory Committee
Controlling Shareholder(s)

Director(s)

EGM(s)
ESG
Executive Director(s)

GLSPC

Group, we or us
HK$

Hong Kong or HKSAR

Independent Non-executive Director(s)

Listing Rules

Macao

Mainland China

Model Code

Annual general meeting of the Company

The new articles of association of the Company

An audit committee of the Company

Tong Ren Tang Holdings, its subsidiaries, its jointly controlled entities and its
associates (including the Group)

The board of directors of the Company

Corporate Governance Code, Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

Code Provisions in the CG Code

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited, a limited company
incorporated in Hong Kong, the Shares of which were listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 7 May 2013 and were transferred to Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 29 May 2018

The company secretary of the Company

A competition executive committee of the Company

A competition supervisory committee of the Company

Tong Ren Tang Ltd., Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Holdings

Director(s) of the Company, including all Executive Directors, Non-executive
Director and Independent Non-executive Directors

Extraordinary general meeting(s) of the Company

Environmental, Social and Governance

The executive director(s) of the Company

Sporoderm-broken Ganoderma Lucidum Spores Powder Capsules manufactured
by the Company

The Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

The independent non-executive director(s) of the Company

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Exchange

The Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC

PRC but excluding Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan China for the purpose of this
annual report

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
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GLOSSARY

Nomination Committee
Non-executive Director
Non-Mainland China Market(s)

Overseas

Owned Product(s)

Parent Group

PRC

Production and R&D Base

Prospectus

Remuneration Committee
SFO

Share(s)

Shareholder(s)

Stock Exchange or Exchange
TCM or Chinese Medicine
Tong Ren Tang

Tong Ren Tang Holdings

Tong Ren Tang Ltd. or TRT Ltd.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies or
TRT Technologies

TRT International Natural-Pharm

U.S. or United States

Year

A nomination committee of the Company

The non-executive director of the Company

Markets outside of the Mainland China

Countries/regions other than Hong Kong and Mainland China, for the purpose of
this annual report, including Macao

The product(s) manufactured by the Group

Tong Ren Tang Holdings, its subsidiaries, its jointly controlled entities and its
associates (other than the Group)

The People’s Republic of China

The research and development and production base of the Company located at
Tai Po Industrial Estate in Hong Kong

Prospectus of the Company dated 25 April 2013

A remuneration committee of the Company

Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571

Share(s) of the Company

Shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Traditional Chinese medicine

Beijing Tong Ren Tang

China Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group Co., Ltd., a state-owned enterprise
established in the PRC on 17 August 1992 and is the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Company Limited, a joint stock limited company
established in the PRC on 18 June 1997, the shares of which have been listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 1997, and is the intermediate holding
company of the Company

Tong Ren Tang Technologies Co. Ltd., a joint stock limited company established
in the PRC on 22 March 2000, the H shares of which have been listed on GEM
since 2000 and have been transferred to the Main Board since July 2010, and is
the immediate holding company of the Company

Beijing Tong Ren Tang International Natural-Pharm Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

The United States of America

Fiscal year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
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Where the English and the Chinese texts conflict, the English text prevails.
MERANBNEIRE - BEAZESRAAEEE -

This Annual Report is printed on environmentally friendly paper
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